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Chairman’s Statement

EFERNE

Dear Shareholders,

In 2023, with the lifting of COVID-19 restrictions, China’s overall
economic and business activities continued to recover steadily, with
patient flow and surgical volume gradually rebounded, which led to an
increase in the end market demand for our products, and a significant
increase in both the domestic and international businesses. Kangji
Medical achieved operating revenue of RMB926.0 million in 2023,
representing a year-on-year growth of approximately 17.8%. The non-
HKFRS adjusted net profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
Reporting Period was RMB504.0 million, representing a year-on-year
growth of approximately 5.3%.

Kangji Medical, as a leading enterprise in the field of minimally invasive
surgery device products in China, always adheres to and practices the
clinical-oriented thinking of “originating from clinical practice, used for
clinical practice” and the product R&D concept of “co-creation and co-
construction with industry, academia, and research”. We focus on the
minimally invasive surgery field and insist on providing comprehensive,
high-quality, reliable, and accessible overall minimally invasive surgical
solutions for doctors and patients in China and around the world, where
we strive to make meaningful contributions to the advancement of
minimally invasive surgical technology.
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In 2023, we successfully organised and carried out many thematic
academic promotion conferences and training sessions. These activities
covered different highlights ranging from product-specific events,
surgery-specific trainings to thematic conferences in clinical fields. For
example, we have established single-port procedures training centres
through cooperation with local reputable hospitals. These training centres
have provided single-port surgery training to doctors from hospitals
located in many regions across China. Apart from this, we have also
participated in different academic conferences and held video surgery
competitions to promote medical knowledge and advocate standardised
clinical operations.

We will continue to expand our R&D team and focus on key development
areas including biodegradable implantable consumables, which is one
of the most important segments in the medical field due to its potential
to help improving patient’s treatment. Weijing Medical, a subsidiary of
the Group, also made progress in its R&D development, and one of the
remarkable achievements was the launch of clinical trial for four-arm
surgical robots in the fourth quarter of 2023.

Looking ahead, it is expected that China’s healthcare industry and market
will continue to expand as the proportion of the elderly population in
China continues to surge. We are persevering in implementing long-term
strategic planning, focusing on the growth trend in industry development,
striving to seize the opportunities of import substitution and VBPs,
expanding into the international market with enormous potential, and
exploring innovative ideas for China’s medical device industry to leap
forward. The medical industry is closely linked to people’s healthy living.
We expect that the industry will gradually resume its normal operating
levels in the second half of 2024, which will be conducive to the launch
of new products and strengthen face-to-face academic exchanges. We
are actively increasing the market share of our existing core products.
At the same time, we are also continuously expanding the geographical
presence of new products, including ultrasonic scalpels, 4K endoscopic
camera systems and disposable products. We are confident that we will
be able to achieve relatively high growth rates of new products in 2024.

On behalf of the Board of Directors, | would like to extend my sincere
gratitude to our Shareholders and sincerely thank our management team
and employees for their hard work. The Company will actively execute
the development strategies, to create greater value for Shareholders
through sustainable business development and continuous improvement
of corporate management, and to reward the trust of our Shareholders.
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Financial Highlights
MHHRE

AEERNBERLEMBFEFENEEUARE
ERGRZME RBHRECERYBENK
MHBRER/REZSENRBERAESL)

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for
the last five* financial years, as extracted from/calculated based on the
audited financial information and financial statements is set out below:

AW
For the year ended December 31,
HE12B31HLLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 20214 20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
INCLS S AR Tor ARBETT ARETT AER®BTRT
Revenue A 926,023 786,367 690,263 511,490 503,467
Gross profit EH 741,199 635,247 562,926 431,470 423,175
Profit for the year FERFH 452,295 461,174 456,789 259,150 326,735
Non-HKFRS adjusted net (BB BERS
profit for the year** ZER ) KHEEE
RALFI 486,457 476,101 412,058 329,137 320,239
Profit attributable to owners & AT #EH AFE(L
of the parent AIpE| 504,021 478,735 456,789 250,296 206,444
Non-HKFRS adjusted net ISYNCIEZT= DN
profit for the year (BB ER
attributable to owners HHER]) K
of the parent** F AR 538,183 498,711 412,058 320,911 202,287
Earnings per share SREAN
- Basic (RMB) -EAR (AR 43.08 cents  39.63 cents  37.31 cents  26.27 cents  20.11 cents
43.08% 39.637> 37.31% 26.279 20.11%
- Diluted (RMB) -E5E (AR ) 42.99 cents 39.63 cents 37.08 cents  25.97 cents  20.11 cents
42.999 39.637> 37.089 25.979 20.11%9
As at December 31,
12831H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
20234 20224 202145 202045 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
INCLS A AR Tr AREBETT ARETT AER®BTRT
Non-current assets ERTEE 883,129 861,151 221,954 90,234 75,517
Current assets MENEE 3,380,689 3,123,760 3,168,390 2,930,027 717,265
Non-current liabilities EREFTEE 129,148 112,434 13,371 8,204 9,950
Current liabilities mENBE 190,824 153,669 116,572 75,446 267,372
Non-controlling interests JEERR = 294,084 345,810 = = 188,232
Total equity AR ER 3,943,846 3,718,808 3,260,401 2,936,611 515,460

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange on June 29, 2020.

*k

For details, please see section headed “Management Discussion
and Analysis — Non-HKFRS Measures”.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company realized revenue
of RMB926.0 million, representing an increase of 17.8% as compared
to 2022. The increase in sales was mainly attributable to a moderate
growth in sales for the domestic market along with the gradual recovery
of elective surgery volume after the COVID-19 restrictions were relaxed.
The Group’s export sales also increased rapidly, which thanks to more
distributors developed in new areas.

The Group’s net profit attributable to owners of the parent for the
Reporting Period increased by 5.3% from RMB478.7 million in 2022
to RMB504.0 million in 2023. The increase was mainly attributable to
the Group’s sales growth, and partly offset by the increase of expenses
primarily due to R&D expenses contributed by the Group and its
subsidiary Weijing Medical and the increase in income tax expenses for
withholding tax on dividends.

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend
of RMB41 cents per Share for the year ended December 31, 2023
(the “2023 Final Dividend”), and a special dividend of RMB99 cents
per Share (the “2023 Special Dividend”) in celebration of the 20th
anniversary of the Group’s establishment and in recognition of the long-
term support from the Shareholders. The proposed 2023 Final Dividend
is intended to be paid out of the Group’s distributable profits for the year
ended December 31, 2023, and the proposed 2023 Special Dividend is
intended to be paid partly out of the Group’s accumulated distributable
profits and partly out of the Company’s share premium account.

Financial Highlights
MTEEE

* K2 B R 17 BFf20204F6/529 A 7E i 35
FREde

“ HEESRERENRED (B
BB 2R 3t B — -

HE2023F12HA31HALEE - AATE
B AARI26.08 & T HHE20224F
BRE17.8% HEEERDFIEHNREE
COVID-19Rh B RBI N ERERFMEZR S
e EANHISNEEREBESIEIMAR K
EENHOFEETARERE  E8aRHK
MEMHNERAT ELHKHEE -

AEBRBSHANB AT EE AEWL
MFH2022F W ARME478.7TE B T M
53%F2023F MW ARBES04.088 T B
RN EFEERNAEENHEELE EFA
BB AEBRRENB AR HBE
B ERZIEMEREBBINRNMER
B Sz 1 NPT E2H o

EEEEERAEREIRNEE2023F128
S1IHEFENRBERESR AR K41
(T2023FEFREBRE ) REFHNRESKRE
MARMI9 (M 2023FE4FRIRE ) » LUE
MAEBERII20BFE RO REKRENERS
o R EN2023FE KRR ERBERAER
B E2023F12A31HIEFEEMN B 2 IRF)E
FURAT > MR IR 2 RI2023FE 45 7 I8 B B i
BHBEREBRNRt o DIRANE RIS B
KATHIRD BEBERP IR o

BREETERARASR 2023FERE

7



Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEmED

OUR MISSION

Our mission is to is to enable physicians and improve health and wellness
of patients through providing high performing and accessible products
and services.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading medical device manufacturer in China offering
a diversified product portfolio of medical equipment, instruments and
accessories devoted to minimally invasive surgery. Through Weijing
Medical, which the Group holds 35% equity interest, we also have a
platform with surgical robotic system and consumable products which
will be commercialized by leveraging the Group’s extensive distribution
network as well as our strong manufacturing capability and clinical trial
and regulatory approval experience.

As China went to a post-pandemic full reopening in December 2022,
economic and business activities across the board in China have been
recovering steadily in 2023, with gradual rebound in patient traffic and
surgery volume. The Group’s domestic sales growth for the Reporting
Period was driven mainly by growth in sales of disposable products
(among the top three core product categories), as well as the significant
increase in sales of some new products, such as ultrasonic scalpels and
4K endoscopic camera systems. On VBP, during the Reporting Period,
the Group had won new bids for its core products. The most notable
one was in Anhui province for polymer ligation clips, for which the Group
won first place with the highest weighted score based on factors such
as price cut, hospital coverage, and share in hospitals’ procurement
volume. As a result, the Group was also allocated the highest hospital
procurement volume and we do not expect any change to the distributor
model. The implementation of this bid has been in effect since September
2023. We also won bids in Yunnan and Shandong provinces respectively
for ultrasonic scalpels with bidding results similar to the Guangdong-led
alliance VBP. In Yunnan province, the Group also won bid for absorbable
clips, which is expected to accelerate this product’s penetration in the
end market. The distributor model will remain the same for ultrasonic
scalpels and absorbable clips. The VBPs for ultrasonic scalpels in
Shandong and Yunnan provinces have been implemented since April
and September 2023, respectively. The implementation of the VBP for
absorbable clips in Yunnan province began in December 2023.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The VBP implementation for disposable trocars in Guangdong province
commenced during the first half of 2023. We have switched from a
distributor model to a “logistics partner + academic promotion partner”
model, which has proven to be an effective model for disposable trocars
in VBP area. While announcements for new VBPs have been ongoing,
we do anticipate increasing visibility and rationality regarding the overall
of VBP policies. These policies have weighed various factors that favor
domestic industry leaders with a relatively more established track record,
greater market share, as well as reliable and stable supply. We foresee
our focus on VBP would bring the potential for market share gains and
import substitution benefits in the long run.

Outside of China, we continued the growth momentum for exports. The
number of customers as well as the number of countries/regions with
customers continued to increase in 2023 while the concentration of
customers determined based on sales amount has decreased. For the
year ended December 31, 2023, the Group achieved export sales of
RMB86.0 million, representing a 20.6% growth from the previous year.

The growth was primarily attributable to the increasing penetration in
existing European and South American markets such as France, Spain
and Peru. We continued to engage with authorized distributors to
increase the sales of Kangji-branded products in these markets. We have
also actively participated in and have been preparing for more industry
conferences and international academic promotion events. During the
Reporting Period, the Group added 22 overseas product registrations,
mainly in Central and South America and Southeast Asia through
overseas OEM customers or distributors

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group achieved a total
revenue of RMB926.0 million, representing a 17.8% increase from
the previous year. The growth in revenue was mainly attributable to
the growth of core disposable products, ultrasonic scalpels and 4K
endoscopic camera systems. The Group’s net profit attributable to
owners of the parent for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased
by 5.3% from RMB478.7 million in 2022 to RMB504.0 million in 2023.
The increase was mainly attributable to the Group’s sales growth, and
partly offset by the increase of expenses primarily due to R&D expenses
contributed by the Group and Weijing Medical and the increase in income
tax expenses for withholding tax on dividends. The Group’s adjusted net
profit attributable to owners of the parent for the Reporting Period, which
excludes fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, share-based payment expense, foreign exchange difference,
investment income/loss from short-term financial products and PRC
withholding tax associated with special dividend, has increased by 7.9%
from RMB498.7 million in 2022 to RMB538.2 million in 2023.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEmED

R&D

In the Reporting Period, the Group added 14 new product registrations
in China excluding renewal of product registrations. As of December
31, 2023, the Group had an aggregate of 92 domestic NMPA product
registrations including 12 for Class Ill medical devices, 46 for Class I
medical devices and 34 for Class | medical devices. In the Reporting
Period, the Group also obtained 111 new patents in China which include
56 new patents from Weijing Medical.

We continued the strategy to further diversify the Group’s product mix,
and within each product category, we strived to provide a comprehensive
offering addressing differentiated clinical needs. As part of this effort,
we have obtained approval for new surgical access devices, including
a disposable balloon trocar and a disposable rotatable multi-channel
single-port trocar, which have also received recognition as the Zhejiang
Innovative Medical Devices. Additionally, the Group has obtained new
approval for disposable trocars with cleaning rings and disposable trocars
with filters that upgrade and complement its existing portfolio. In the
area of closure devices, the Group has received regulatory approval for
absorbable clip during the Reporting Period. This addition, along with the
existing titanium clips, polymer ligation clips and the absorbable knotless
suture currently in development, enhances the comprehensiveness of the
Group’s spectrum of minimally invasive closure products. Furthermore,
the Group has obtained new registration approvals for advanced medical
imaging products. These include the 3D endovision camera system,
3D electronic laparoscope and 4K fluorescence laparoscope. These
additions align with our strategic vision and commitment to providing
a comprehensive surgical solution to surgeons in the field of minimally
invasive surgery.

In 2023, we made efforts to strengthen project progress management
by establishing a dedicated team within the R&D department. This
organizational enhancement was implemented with the aim of
monitoring projects more effectively, addressing critical aspects such
as documentation, time and cost management, internal reporting and
problem-solving capabilities. The primary objective was to ensure optimal
project outcomes and streamline the development process. Furthermore,
this strategic move was also intended to enhance the accountability of
R&D staff and provide them with additional incentives for their exceptional
contributions. In line with the commitment to continuous growth and
advancement, we continued to expand the R&D team, focusing on key
areas of development. This included absorbable implantable consumable
product, an area of high importance in the medical field due to its
potential for improved patient outcomes. We also dedicated resources
to develop our energy platform, recognizing the significance of energy-
based technologies in advancing medical treatments and procedures.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group invested in Weijing Medical in February 2022, establishing it as
a platform focused on the development of surgical robotic systems and
related instruments and accessories for laparoscopic surgery. During the
Reporting Period, Weijing Medical made progress in its R&D efforts. One
notable accomplishment was the initiation of clinical trials for its 4-arm
surgical robot in the fourth quarter of 2023. We anticipate obtaining
registration approval for the 4-arm surgical robot around the end of 2024.
Additionally, Weijing Medical is currently finalizing the product design of its
single-port surgical robotic system and plans to commence the product
type inspection and animal trials in the second half of 2024.

Sales and Distribution

Following the establishment of the sales offices in Shanghai and
Guangzhou in 2022, the Group further strengthened the local distribution
network by hiring additional district sales managers in the Reporting
Period. These managers strengthened the management and support
provided to the local distributors. We also maintained continuous
communication with distributors, optimizing academic support
mechanisms and fostering stronger interactions. Through a tailored
approach that considered the unique characteristics of each region,
we aligned product managers to better meet the academic needs of
distributors.

With the full reopening of China after the pandemic, some of the
Group’s academic promotion activities transitioned back to in-person
events. In 2023, we successfully carried out well-planned thematic
academic promotion conferences and training sessions. These events
encompassed a range of focuses, including product-specific sessions,
specialized surgical training and conferences centered around specific
clinical areas. For instance, we established single-port procedure training
centers in collaboration with regional reputable hospitals. These centers
provided single-port surgery trainings to physicians from hospitals in
various regions in China. Additionally, we participated in academic
conferences and conducted surgery video competition campaigns to
promote medical knowledge and advocate for standardized clinical
practices.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEmED

Forward Outlook

Looking ahead, with the growth of China’s aging population, it is
expected that the medical and health industry market in China will
maintain a sustainable growth momentum in the future. The Company is
committed to develop strategic plans in the long run. Taking advantage
of the promising growth trend in this industry, we will strive to seize the
opportunities of import substitution and VBP, capture the expansion
in the vast overseas markets and explore the path of takeoff for the
development of China’s medical device industry. The medical industry
is closely connected to people’s livelihood. We expect that the industry
will return to normal levels in the second half of 2024. This will be
beneficial to the promotion of new products and in-person academic
exchanges. The Group is boosting the market share of existing core
products, such as trocars, polymer ligation clips, disposable and reusable
electrocoagulation forceps. Meanwhile, the Group is also expanding sales
of new products, such as ultrasonic scalpels, 4K endoscopic camera
systems and disposable staplers. We are confident to see a relatively
higher growth rate for new products in 2024.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussions are based on the financial information and
notes set out in other sections of this report and should be read in
conjunction with them.

RERE

RERK BEPHEEADOLAFEL
FHoRENBERRETED SRS RESR
EREREB - ARFERMAREM#EE
REERES BETELERTNERE
ZORNIBEEODEARETHTEREN
WE IMEREANBERDS BSPEBER
EMITENRBERKR BRTEXEARRH
BELELEEMB HMABRBAZTERRN
2024F THFBRHMELEEEBKRF &
ik B ) 5 ¥ LT 2 m R O 58 T B T R RS
MOF R -AEBERBIRSE TRE X
DER (MEEFRNR SR FEER—
REREEMEEBRME) IHIHEE R KL
B ZEBTERNHERENEROEE
MRE > BIEBEYEILEMI] - AKREFRER
Rt —RMEMEE RFABRELR2024
FEIENRSHMERERRK

B %5 [ol B8

UTFSmhBEER A BRSHMEMATEHY
BER RN RER Y —HBIE -

Revenue A
For the year ended December 31,
HZE12H318LLEE
2023 2022 Changes
20234 20224 EE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 %
ARETT AR®BTT %
Disposable products —REER
Disposable trocars —RAEEEFRR 394,441 364,946 8.1
Polymer ligation clips BN TR 227,322 192,511 18.1
Disposable electrocoagulation forceps — R 14 & % £ 122,552 94,198 30.1
Ultrasonic scalpels BEYEIEmT] 38,000 18,153 109.3
Other disposable products!” Hh—x 4 ER 22,632 19,324 17.1
Sub-total Nt 804,947 689,132 16.8
Reusable products EEMER
4K endoscopic camera systems AIKNERBERR 32,366 20,557 57.4
Other reusable products® HihE 8% EmR? 88,710 76,678 15.7
Sub-total INET 121,076 97,235 24.5
Total #aEt 926,023 786,367 17.8
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Notes:

(1) Other disposable products primarily include, among others,
disposable suction and irrigation sets and retrieval bags.

2) Other reusable products primarily include reusable trocars and

reusable forceps.

The Group’s revenue amounted to RMB926.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, representing an increase of 17.8% as compared to
RMB786.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in
revenue was primarily attributable to (i) the increase in sales of disposable
electrocoagulation forceps, ultrasonic scalpels and other disposable
products; and (i) the continuing growth in export sales due to demand
in overseas market continued to grow as well as the ongoing export to
expand overseas channels, increased product registrations and overseas
marketing activities.

Disposable Products

The Group’s disposable products include disposable trocars, polymer
ligation clips, disposable electrocoagulation forceps, ultrasonic scalpels,
and other disposable products. Disposable products recorded revenue of
RMB804.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023, representing
an increase of 16.8% as compared to RMB689.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022. Such increase was mainly attributable to the
year-on-year growth in revenue in disposable trocars, polymer ligation
clips and disposable electrocoagulation forceps. Due to the release of
restrictions and lockdowns from COVID outbreaks in China since early
2023, demand for disposable products had been increased by the
gradual recovery in elective surgery in 2023. During the Reporting Period,
sales of disposable products accounted for 86.9% of the Group’s total
revenue as compared to 87.6% in 2022.

Disposable trocars recorded revenue of RMB394.4 million for the
Reporting Period, representing an increase of 8.1% as compared
with RMB364.9 million in 2022. Disposable trocars accounted for
approximately 42.6% of the Group’s total revenue during the Reporting
Period as compared to approximately 46.4% in 2022. Both export sales
of disposable trocars and overall sales of single-site trocars exhibited
better growth in the year of 2023. During the Reporting Period, VBP
for disposable trocars was effective in Guangdong province and we
enhanced the cooperation with logistics and external promotion partners
under the non-distributor model to achieve sales growth in VBP regions.

BEEEREAD

MIEE -

@ Hit—RMERTEEE EHPEH —RX
MR S| 88 AR T

@) HthWEEMTERTEZOEERLEEERA
BREERMEHF

HE2023F12831HILEEE  AEBMIK
ABANRII26.0E BT REE20226F12
B31HILEFEFENARKE786.48 B Tig N
17.8%  WMABEDFEHR () — X HEE
A BEUE D) REM— M E S
IS E N0 ; KR BN H TR T ENE
EURBEHOERBHNRE - IGNESR
AR EHEHERH O EFEIE
§o

—RMEEM

AEFBN—AMEEREBE—"XIHEEER
B BOFEERER - —RAMBRME BB
kMmO REM—REER — R EER
REZE2023F12H31HIEEEHEBIWRAA
EI&804.9B Bt RE E2022F12831H
HFFEEMARKESO1TEETIEMI16.8%-
BN EZEHR—TIUEEEFH S
BN FEERRKE—REERENB AR
I ERR - ER EH2023F T RER
COVIDIREZEME MR HI R E MR —
M E AV EE SR 220234 (K #2 HE F 1l & =]
BIEEMEMe RIBWEHRR > — M5 E R
B AEBMLEIABIS6.9% * 20224
B &87.6% °

RIBEHR —AEEEFRHR(HEEHRA
ANRM394. 45 E T M2022F W AR HE
364.9BETIEM8. 1% e NI EHAN » —=R
MEEFREFEREBLUALL2.6% T
2022F B B 4746.4% © jR2023F » — R MEE
EFERENHOHEERELEEFRNED
BERHEHNERREFIER NIREHAAN - E
REN— U EEFRRNERESKE
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BT HBY AR EESEBENS (FRE
FOoNMEETFEXRBHEERIHE S 1E
«EO
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEmED

Polymer ligation clips recorded revenue of RMB227.3 million for the
Reporting Period, representing an increase of 18.1% as compared
with RMB192.5 million in 2022. Polymer ligation clips accounted for
approximately 24.5% of the Group’s total revenue during the Reporting
Period. Sales of polymer ligation clips exhibited strong year-on-year
growth which were benefited from the increase in market share together
with the stimulus by VBP. Sales of polymer ligation clips in Shandong,
Henan, Hebei and Shanxi provinces, currently under the four-province
alliance VBP, recorded a strong growth in the Reporting Period.
Disposable electrocoagulation forceps recorded revenue of RMB122.6
million in 2023, which accounted for approximately 13.2% of the Group’s
total revenue in 2023 as compared to 12.0% in 2022.

Disposable electrocoagulation forceps continued to experience growth
in demand and recorded high sales growth of 30.1% for the Reporting
Period. This can be mainly attributed to a lower market penetration and
the Group’s focused effort to drive sales. We consider that disposable
electrocoagulation forceps are still exposed to better sales growth
potential.

Sales of the Group’s newer disposable products such as ultrasonic
scalpels were boosted by the effort in increasing market penetration
and seizing the demand from import substitution. During the Reporting
Period, sales of ultrasonic scalpels amounted to RMB38.0 million,
representing an increase of 109.3% as compared to RMB18.2 million in
2022.

Reusable Products

Reusable products recorded revenue of RMB121.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, representing an increase of 24.5% as
compared with RMB97.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
Such increase was mainly due to the increase in sales of 4K endoscopic
camera systems and reusable forceps. Sales of 4K endoscopic camera
systems amounted to RMB32.4 million in 2023, representing an increase
of 57.4% as compared to RMB20.6 million in 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sales Channel

Revenue from domestic market increased by 17.5% as compared
to that of 2022. The Group’s business models in domestic market
include distributor model and non-distributor model (logistics partners
+ academic promotion), which is mainly used in the VBP provinces of
trocars.

For overseas markets, the Group’s customers mainly include overseas
ODM customers and overseas distributors. Revenue from overseas
markets was approximately RMB86.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, representing an increase of 20.6% from the previous
year. Growth of export sales was strong during the Reporting Period
due to the ongoing effort to expand overseas channels from 47 to 58
countries/regions in 2023 and increase product category registrations in
overseas markets. Revenue from overseas markets accounted for 9.3%
of the Group’s total revenue for the year of 2023 as compared to 9.1% in
the previous year.

The following table sets forth the Group’s revenue by geographic market
and sales channel for the periods indicated:

BEEEREAD

B12022F fHLEL > B A ™ % A9 UL A B 0
17.5% AEBEEBATEHNEF RN LT
RHPREARIFCHEBEER WRBH+ 2
MERE BREFBZEETHERBEER
R BBHIE (D B

B THEME  AEENERIECRE
BINODME R R B IMESH S - BIE20234F
12B31BALFE  BITHRAN/SAR
#86.08 BT MAFIEM20.6% KRS
AR HOHERRRY RAATEER
SERBHIRBRATERR MERTE
2023F BI581E U IR 8 5h T 35 18 0 2 f A
$BEE o 1020235 » BN HIHZ WAL A EE
MBI ABI9.3%  MEFER#R9.1%o

TEREIINFAREE A E B E TSR
HEREZDHWA :

For the year ended December 31,

HZE128310LLEE
2023 2022 Changes
20234 20224 k)
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 %
ARETT AR®TFT %
Domestic Eilg
— Distributors — R 752,480 651,074 15.6
— Hospitals and other customers —BirREMmERN 87,586 64,023 36.8
Sub-total /NEF 840,066 715,097 17.5
Overseas B
— ODM customers —ODME £ 68,739 60,978 12.7
— Distributors — R 17,218 10,292 67.3
Sub-total JhEE 85,957 71,270 20.6
Total 4mst 926,023 786,367 17.8
Notes: MisE
(1) Other customers mainly include sales of disposable trocars under (1) HMELATEGAEEETESSRHEZDH

non-distributor (logistics partner + academic promotion partner)
model in the VBP provinces.

FEATIE D (MBS H+ 2T ER ) B
BTN —REEERRIBHE-
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BEEmED R

Cost of Sales

HEMZ

Cost of sales during the Reporting Period mainly consisted of raw RIREHIRN HER AT EQERME B

materials, direct labor cost and manufacturing costs.

BATHRAREEMRS -

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s cost of sales was & ZE2023F 12831 HIEEE » A &E B /Y
RMB184.8 million, representing an increase of 22.3% as compared with E A A AR 184 8/ B 0’ &, £2022
RMB151.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The increase in ~ F12831HIEFEH AR K151 .1 E%’ﬁ:i
cost of sales was primarily due to the change of product mix and in line  J122.3% c $HE M AL IMNEE RPN E R4

with the increase in revenue.

SEFE - S A LA o

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s cost of sales &R & %1% Fﬁ—r HEAEREEEE DB

by nature for the periods indicated:

59 & A A BR AR

For the year ended December 31,
HE128318LLFE

2023 2022
2023 20224
Amount % of Total Amount % of Total

&8 (HBEEESL T HBEADL
RMB’ 000 (except percentages)

AR¥TF T (BN LRI
Raw materials RAH 94,396 51.1% 77,901 51.5%
Direct labor costs Bz AIAE 45,208 24.5% 39,414 26.1%
Manufacturing costs EEREN 45,220 24.4% 33,805 22.4%
Total Hast 184,824 100.0% 151,120 100.0%
Note: MIEE -
(1) Manufacturing costs primarily include utilities costs, overhead (1) YERATEGRL2BAREREA - SEE

expenses and depreciation of manufacturing equipment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by 16.7% to RMB741.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 from RMB635.2 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, due to an increase in sales.

The Group’s gross profit margin was 80.0% for the year ended December
31, 2023, which remained stable as compared to that of 80.8% for the
year ended December 31, 2022. Specifically, the contribution from newer
products such as ultrasonic scalpels and 4K endoscopic camera systems
increased during the Reporting Period, whereby these products have a
relatively lower gross profit margin than that of disposable products due
to their product type characteristics.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of gross profit and gross
profit margin by product type for the periods indicated:

BEEEREAD

EFMREFE

HRIEHEREEM AEEBNENBHEE
2022F12A31THIEEEMN AR KG635.28
BoigM16.7%E#E2023F12831H 1k
FEMNARKIT41 288 T

HE2023F12831HILEEE  XEBMNE
A EAH80.0%  HEE2022F12H31H Lk
FEER80.8%MALLMIFET - ABME M
ER (BB M RIKRNERRERZ
@) RSN EMAME N BHEMIE
TERBESME HEMNERBER—XHE
EREBKe

TR TRHBRERBESONE
M R B ZBAA -

For the year ended December 31,

HE12831HLLEE
2023 2022
20235 20224
Gross Gross
Gross Profit Gross Profit
Profit Margin Profit Margin
EH EFI=E EF EFIES
RMB’ 000 (except percentages)
AR®F T (BA RSN

Disposable products —RMEM 671,710 83.4% 580,187 84.2%
Reusable products EEMER 69.489 57.4% 55,060 56.6%
Total st 741,199 80.0% 635,247 80.8%

Other Income and Gains H g A B2 U

Other income and gains for the year ended December 31, 2023 was
RMB155.4 million, while for the year ended December 31, 2022, it was
RMB146.7 million. The increase was primarily due to an increase in the
amount of RMB21.8 million in interest income arising from bank deposits
and partly offset by a decrease in fair value gains on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss.

HE2023F12A31HILEFEE  HHIWA K
WA ARTE155. 48 80> MEE20224F
12H31HEFEAARKI46.7TEE T B
R MEZERHENIBITERF B U A LN
AREE21.88E T B ULIABEST
EEHEFHTAZHEZNEHREENL
AEBEWTRDFTIEE -
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BEEmED R

Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were RMB69.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, representing an increase of 30.9% as
compared with RMB53.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2022.
The increase was primarily due to (i) the increase in staff costs for sales
personnel along with the expansion of sales and marketing team; and (ii)
the increase in marketing-related expenses as compared to last year, as
advertising and academic promotion activities resumed to normal due to
the COVID-19 travel restrictions were lifted during the Reporting Period.

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses amounted to RMB100.3 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023, representing an increase of 40.7% as
compared with RMB71.3 million for the year ended December 31,
2022. The increase was mainly due to (i) the increase in staff personnel
costs, (i) travelling and business development activities had resumed to
normal level following the relaxation of COVID-19 restrictions; and (iii)
enhancement of the Group’s environmental landscape at its headquarters
ahead of the forthcoming 20th anniversary of the Group’s establishment.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the year ended December
31, 2023 was RMB127.6 million, representing an increase of 93.2% as
compared with RMB66.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022,
which was mainly due to (i) the increased R&D expense in the amount
of RMB46.8 million by Weijing Medical on a year-on-year basis from
RMB24.7 million in 2022 to RMB71.5 million for the Reporting Period,
and (i) the increased R&D projects and activities with respect to other
innovative products and the upgrading of existing products.

Other Expenses

Other expenses primarily consist of donation, foreign exchange loss and
investment loss from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s other expenses was RMB6.8
million, which was primarily attributable to foreign exchange loss and
donations made during the period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expenses were RMB136.5 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, representing an increase of 33.8% as compared
with RMB102.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
increase in income tax expenses was primarily due to (i) the increase
in taxable profit of the Group’s operating entities in China during the
Reporting Period; and (ii) the increase in withholding taxes associated
with the distributed profits of the subsidiaries in China, where such profits
will be repatriated for the proposed 2023 Final Dividend and 2023 Special
Dividend as disclosed in the section headed “Final Dividend and Special
Dividend” under the “Report of the Directors”.

Non-HKFRS Measures

To supplement the Group’s audited consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income which is presented in accordance
with HKFRS, we also use adjusted net profit and adjusted earnings per
share as non-HKFRS measures, which are not required by, or presented
in accordance with, HKFRS. We believe that the presentation of non-
HKFRS measures when shown in conjunction with the corresponding
HKFRS measures provides useful information to investors and
management in facilitating a comparison of the Group’s ongoing
operating performance from period to period by eliminating potential
impacts of certain non-operational or one-off expenses, including fair
value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, foreign
exchange difference, share-based payment expenses, investment
income/loss from short-term financial products and PRC withholding
tax associated with special dividend. Such non-HKFRS measures allow
investors to consider metrics used by management in evaluating the
Group’s performance.

BEEEREAD

FRISH A
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The following table shows the Group’s adjusted net profit for the
Reporting Period and its reconciliation to profit for the years indicated:

TR
R H

FIAEBRNREHARBEREMT
PRRERFEREER

For the year ended December 31,

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of parent

Add/(Less):

Fair value gains on financial assets at fair
assets through profit or loss

Foreign exchange difference

Investment (income)/loss from
short-term financial products

Share-based payment expenses

PRC withholding tax associated with
special dividend

Non-HKFRS adjusted net profit for the year

attributable to owners of parent

Non-HKFRS adjusted earnings per share

BAREEARSEATE

m/ GR) -
URnBE=2BEHEEEHTA
EfREaNERMEEN
NABEWSRE
b 0 = 2B
RHEMERNKE
(W#) K548
UMD AERNARREX
BRI EARRE M R RETEN R

BABEE ARILIE(T BB
HEERNERBEFERMAF]

IF(ERMBREEN)ERE

sRERN
- Basic (RMB) - N UNE )
- Diluted (RMB) —#E (AR
Notes: MI5E -
(1) Fair value gains on financial assets at fair value through profit or (1)

loss is non-operational in nature which mainly arises from the

change in fair value of the Group’s investment in Shenzhen Edge
Medical Co., Ltd.” CRIITHIEEEERERBRMNARAT) for the
periods, the amount of which may not directly correlate with the

underlying performance of the Group’s business operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign exchange difference is non-operational in nature which
mainly arises from the currency fluctuation of USD against RMB for
the periods, the amount of which may not directly correlate with the
underlying performance of the Group’s business operations. The
Group’s net exchange loss of RMB3,095,000 (2022: exchange loss
of RMB3,197,000) in the Reporting Period comprises the exchange
loss of RMB3,095,000 (2022: exchange loss of RMB8,246,000)
attributable to owners of the parent and the exchange loss of
nil (2022: exchange gain of RMB5,049,000) attributable to non-
controlling interests.

Investment income/loss from short-term financial products
purchased mainly for hedging foreign currency fluctuations is non-
operational in nature which is affected by the currency fluctuation
of USD against RMB for the periods, the amount of which may not
directly correlate with the underlying performance of the Group’s
business operations.

Share-based payment expenses are non-operational expenses
arising from granting RSUs and pre-IPO share options to selected
management members, the amount of which may not directly
correlate with the underlying performance of the Group’s business
operations, and is also affected by non-operating performance
related factors that are not closely or directly related to the Group’s
business activities.

PRC withholding tax associated with special dividend is an one-
off expense in relation to the 2023 Special Dividend to be paid in
celebration of the 20th anniversary of the Group’s establishment
and in recognition of the Shareholders’ long-term support.

The use of the non-HKFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool,
and it should not be considered in isolation from, or as a substitute for
or superior to analysis of, the Group’s results of operations or financial
condition as reported under HKFRS. In addition, the non-HKFRS financial
measures may be defined differently from similar terms used by other
companies and therefore may not be comparable to similar measures
presented by other companies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEmED

Turnover Period

The Group’s inventory turnover days remained stable at 217 days in the
Reporting Period as compared to that of 216 days for the year of 2022.

The Group’s trade receivable turnover days increased to 80 days in the
Reporting Period as compared to that of 58 days for the year of 2022
due to the increase in short-term trade receivables at the year end of
2023 arising from a higher proportion of sales contributed in the second
half of 2023.

The Group’s trade payable turnover days increased to 54 days in the
Reporting Period as compared to 47 days for the year of 2022 due to
the increase in trade payables at the year end of 2023 arising from the
procurement of more raw materials for increased production and sales.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

During the Reporting Period, the Group financed its operations and other
capital expenditure requirements primarily through cash generated from
operations and proceeds from the Company'’s initial public offering on the
Stock Exchange on June 29, 2020.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of RMB2,973.5 million (including RMB296.9 million recorded in assets
classified as held for sale in the consolidated statement of financial
position), as compared with RMB2,818.4 million as of December 31,
2022. During the Reporting Period, the increase in cash and cash
equivalents of RMB155.1 million was primarily due to the net cash
generated from operations, the effect of which was partly offset by the
net cash used in financing activities mainly attributable to dividends paid
to Shareholders and Share repurchases.

As at December 31, 2023, most of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents were denominated in RMB, USD and HKD.

Net Current Assets

The Group had net current assets of RMB3,189.9 million as of December
31, 2023, representing an increase of RMB219.8 million as compared
with RMB2,970.1 million as of December 31, 2022. The increase in net
current assets was primarily due to the increase in cash generated from
operations.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s operations were primarily
based in China. Assets, liabilities and transactions in the PRC are mainly
denominated in RMB, while overseas assets and transactions are mainly
denominated in USD. The Group is exposed to foreign currency risks,
primarily including account receivables, account payables and cash
balances that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e., a currency
other than the functional currency of respective subsidiaries. For the year
ended December 31, 2023, the Group recorded an exchange loss of
RMBS3.1 million, as compared to an exchange loss of RMB3.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily attributable to the currency
fluctuation of USD against RMB during the Reporting Period.

Capital Expenditure

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group’s total capital
expenditure amounted to approximately RMB82.5 million, which was
primarily used in purchasing machinery and equipment and construction
of buildings. The Group’s capital expenditure for the year ended
December 31, 2022 was approximately RMB134.5 million.

The following table sets forth the Group’s net capital expenditures for the
periods indicated:
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2023 2022
20234 20224

RMB’ 000

AREF T
Plant and machinery IS K% 8,250 31,532
Construction in progress TEIR 50,505 44,731
Furniture and fixtures RAFEE 3,348 7,307
Motor vehicles HEE 1,312 5,024
Buildings B¥F 15,825 63
Leasehold improvements HEYEEE 2,141 6,426
Intangible assets mLBEE 241 1,534
Land use rights o it B A 854 37,890
Total HEET 82,476 134,507
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEEmED

Charge of Assets/Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any charge of assets
or pledge of assets.

Borrowings

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any outstanding bank
loans and other borrowings. We monitor capital using a gearing ratio,
which is debt divided by total assets. Debt includes trade payables, other
payables and accruals, and lease liabilities. As of December 31, 2023,
the gearing ratio of the Group was 3.8% (as of December 31, 2022:
3.8%).

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not have any outstanding
contingent liabilities.

Major Investments, Acquisition and Disposal

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Events after the Reporting
Period” under the “Report of the Directors”, the Group did not hold any
major investments in the form of equity interest of any other companies,
or have any other major acquisition or disposal.

Future Plans for Material Investments and Capital Assets

The Group intends to utilize the net proceeds raised from the Global
Offering to pursue strategic investment and to fund acquisition of capital
assets for the Group’s expansion in the manner set out in the Prospectus
and further explained in section headed “Use of Proceeds from the Global
Offering” under the “Report of the Directors”. Save as disclosed in this
annual report, the Group did not have any plan for material investments
and capital assets.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Employee and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2023, the Group had 1,003 employees (December
31, 2022: 885 employees). Total staff remuneration expenses including
remuneration of the Directors and share-based payment expenses for the
year ended December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB163.1 million (for the
year ended December 31, 2022: RMB127.8 million).

The Remuneration Committee of the Company is responsible for
reviewing the Company’s emolument policy and structure for all
remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the Company.
The remuneration of Directors and senior management is determined with
reference to the salaries of comparable companies and their experience,
duties and performance. The remuneration of other employees is
determined with reference to performance, skills, qualifications and
experience of the staff concerned and in accordance with the prevailing
industry practice.

In recognition of the contributions of the Directors, senior management
and employees and to incentivize them to further promote the Group’s
development, the Company adopted the pre-IPO share option plan and
the RSU plan on May 6, 2020. During the Reporting Period, no RSU
under the RSU plan were granted to senior management and employees.
As of December 31, 2023, a total of 26,810,000 RSUs had been granted
under the RSU plan.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFENEREERE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHONG Ming (£218), aged 48, is one of the founders of the Group.
He was appointed as a Director on February 12, 2020 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on March 7, 2020. Mr. Zhong has
also served as the Chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer
of the Company. Mr. Zhong is mainly responsible for overall management
of the business, strategy and corporate development of the Group.

Mr. Zhong has been working in the Group for almost 20 years. Since he
founded the Group together with Ms. Shentu in August 2004, he has
held the positions of the general manager and the chairman of the board
at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr. Zhong also serves as an executive director of
Hangzhou Kangyin Investment Ltd.* (‘Kangyin Investment”, #1iNEE SR
KRESEAEMRAT) since June 2015. Mr. Zhong has served as a vice
president at Surgery Medical Equipment Branch of China Association of
Medical Equipment (FFEIE 2 EER I EBEE D E) since July
2016 a limited partner at Hangzhou Huiding Enterprise Management
Consulting Partnership (Limited Partnership) (Fi M 2 1> ¥ & RH S8
% (BREE)) since May 2021; and a director at Hangzhou Gongjian
Intellectual Property Service Center Co., Ltd. (FT M 2 %08 2 # AR 75
A BR/A E)) since November 2021; and a director at Weijing Medical
since March 2024.

Prior to establishing Hangzhou Kangji with Ms. Shentu, Mr. Zhong was
primarily engaged in selling and distribution of MISIA produced by other
manufacturers. In December 2001, Mr. Zhong established a company
called Tonglu Kangpu Medical Device Co., Ltd. (“Tonglu Kangpu”, #d
[ERELEESMARAT) in the PRC, the principal business of which
was to sell and distribute MISIA. Tonglu Kangpu was held by Mr. Zhong
and Mr. Shentu Shaojian (FREB4E#, father of Ms. Shentu) as to 60%
and 40%, respectively, and was voluntarily dissolved in November 2004
shortly after establishment of Hangzhou Kangji.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Zhong received his bachelor’s degree in business administration (part-
time) from China University of Geosciences (FREl#1E A £2)in the PRC in
January 2006 and executive master’'s degree in business administration
from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (7L &£ B5%) in October
2022. Mr. Zhong was awarded Outstanding T-Merchants (£ 448 7) by
Conference of T-Merchants (i & A &) held by The People’s Government
of Tonglu County (1f[E 5 A R EUF) in 2016, the Outstanding Hangzhou
Entrepreneur (&4 471 %) by World Hangzhou Entrepreneur Convention (t
S AE) held by The People’s Government of Hangzhou City (1771
Hm AR in 2018, and Model Worker of Hangzhou City (17 /5 85 &h
1R #5) jointly by Hangzhou Municipal Committee of the Communist Party
of China (TEIEEZEMMHZEZEE)and The People’s Government of
Hangzhou City (i ™ AR EUA) in April 2022.

Mr. Zhong is the spouse of Ms. Shentu, the executive Director.

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang (FRE$R¥), aged 44, is one of the founders
of the Group. She was appointed as an executive Director on March 7,
2020. Ms. Shentu has also served as the vice general manager of the
Company. Ms. Shentu is mainly responsible for overall management of
the business, strategy and corporate development of the Group.

Ms. Shentu has been working in the Group for almost 20 years. Since
the inception of the Group in August 2004, Ms. Shentu has held the
positions of the vice general manager and the vice chairman of the board
at Hangzhou Kangji. Ms. Shentu also serves as a supervisor of Kangyin
Investment since June 2015.Ms. Shentu received her college degree in
accounting (part-time) from China University of Geosciences (7 Eith &
A#) in the PRC in August 2005. Ms. Shentu was awarded the Top Ten
Innovation Women in Zhejiang GiiI + KB ZZ#E) by Zhejiang High-
tech Enterprise Association (17T & &M T R 2% ®) , Zhejiang Women
Entrepreneur Association (AT & X 2K E), Zhejiang Scientific and
Technological Innovation Entrepreneur Promotion Association (712
RS E#ES), Zhejiang Technological and Innovative Enterprise
Association (/L& B8 ¥ %1% &) and Sci-tech and Finance Times
(Bl £REE#R) in 2019, the Tonglu Entrepreneur of the Year (FEEE#f
[E{E2%) by The People’s Government of Tonglu County (185 8 A R
BUF) in December 2019, and the Outstanding Hangzhou Entrepreneur
Award (AIE# ) by Hangzhou Internationalization Innovation Forum
(M EFRMEBIFsm18) jointly held by Hang Zhou Culture Radio
Television Group (FUMNXEEE), Hangzhou Federation of industry
and Commerce (FNT TR & &), Hangzhou Municipal Bureau of
Commerce (M1 E) and several other governmental entities in
January 2020. Ms. Shentu has also been a member of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference of Tonglu County (/&S 1%) since
January 2007.

Ms. Shentu is the spouse of Mr. Zhong, the executive Director, Chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFENEREERE

Mr. YIN Zixin (FHE£), aged 38, was appointed as an executive Director
on April 28, 2022. Mr. Yin has also served as a vice general manager
at Hangzhou Kangji. He was one of the Company’s joint company
secretaries for the period from March 7, 2020 to May 3, 2022. Mr. Yin
joined the Group in September 2016 as a general manager assistant
and has acted as the secretary to the board at Hangzhou Kangji since
November 2016. Mr. Yin has been a director at Hangzhou Kangiji since
August 2020. He was a director at Weijing Medical from February 2022
to March 2024. Mr. Yin is mainly responsible for investor relationships,
investment and corporate governance matters of the Group.

Before joining the Group, from July 2008 to October 2010, Mr. Yin served
as a department manager at Hangzhou Yingce Enterprise Management
and Consultation Co., Ltd. (MIMEREEEIREHNERAE), where
he was primarily responsible for product and business development.
From November 2010 to August 2016, Mr. Yin worked as an investment
manager and assistant to the chairman of the board at Wanma United
Holding Group Co., Ltd. (BEHMSIERERBRAF), where he was
primarily responsible for investment and M&A.

Mr. Yin received his bachelor’s degree in economics and management
from Zhejiang University of Finance & Economics G I #&& K2 in the
PRC in June 2008.

Non-Executive Director

Ms. CAI Li (2f1), aged 40, was appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company on March 13, 2020. Ms. Cai is primarily responsible for
participating in decision making of important matters of the Group.

From 2007 through 2008, Ms. Cai worked as a research analyst at Credit
Suisse AG (New York), where she was responsible for equity research
for large cap of medical supplies and devices companies. From March
2009 to July 2011, Ms. Cai worked as an investment associate at HAO
Capital (Haotian Jinsheng Investment Management (Beijing) Limited),
focusing on growth stage healthcare investments. Ms. Cai joined TPG
Capital, a leading global alternative asset firm, in August 2011 and with
her latest position being a managing director where she was responsible
for healthcare investments of TPG Capital in greater China region.
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Directors and Senior Management

From December 2015 to November 2021, Ms. Cai served as a director
at Zhejiang Choisun Tea Development Co., Ltd. GH;T A BHZE R 5 R 1D
BPRAF]), whose shares were once traded on the NEEQ (stock code:
837518). From September 2020 to November 2022, Ms. Cai served as
a non-executive director at Shanghai Bio-heart Biological Technology
Co., Ltd. (EBBELZEYFEMRHDERRAT), whose shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 02185). From October 2020 to
November 2023, Ms. Cai served as a non-executive director at Zhaoke
Ophthalmology Limited whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 06622).

Ms. Cai also concurrently holds the following positions outside the Group:

o a supervisor at Shanghai Deyu Deqi Enterprise Management
Consulting Co., Ltd. (LBBESECEXEEAEHAEIRATE)
since November 2016;

o a non-executive director at Novotech Health Holdings Pte. Ltd.
GEREERIZREEAT) since May 2021 and a director
of member companies of Novotech Health Holdings Pte. Ltd.
invested by TPG Capital, including a director at PPC Holding
Company since August 2017, PPC Intermediate Holding
Company since August 2017, PPC K.K. (Japan) since September
2017, Apluscro Pte. Ltd (Singapore) since August 2017, PPC
Korea since August 2017, PPC China Corporation Limited (Lt
BEAMEEBEREBRAB) since November 2017, PPC
China Clinical Research Corporation Limited (@i Bl{E4E
=R ARAT) since February 2018, Jiasheng (Shanghai)
Pharmaceutical Consulting Co., Ltd. (FE4 (L&) B#AHASTR
‘AE]) since September 2017, APLUS Pharmaceutical Consulting
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (f£:xB&&:55 (L8) BRA ) since
August 2017, Bailixing (Xiamen) Equity Investment Co., Ltd. (B
7 E (B RIEKREERAT)since August 2017, Acrostar
Pharmaservices Corporation (R ML JEEZBERNFEHRA
7)) since August 2017, Acrostar Site Management Co., Ltd. (fg
RINEEZERERM T BRAT)since January 2019, Biosuntek
Laboratory Co., Ltd. since December 2019, respectively; and

o a non-executive director at Dingdang Health Technology Group
Ltd. (NI 2 BRI £ @A FRA B)) since May 2021 whose shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 09886).

Ms. Cai received her bachelor’'s degree in biomedical engineering and
economics from Yale University in the U.S. in May 2007.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Feng (Z1%&), aged 61, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on March 7, 2020 with effect from June 4,
2020. Mr. Jiang is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Jiang has almost 40 years of experience in medical and medical
device industry. From 1985 to 2010, Mr. Jiang successively worked as
a clinician and served managerial positions at several Hospitals and
pharmaceutical companies. From December 2010 to August 2016, Mr.
Jiang served as an independent director at Dirui Industrial Co., Ltd. (&
HEBEBERERMAERAT > formerly known as EH#BIFEHEMNF KN
BBR/AE]), a medical technology company whose shares are listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 300396). From May 2014
to September 2017, Mr. Jiang served as an independent director at
Guanhao Biotech Co., Lid. (BREWHLRMBERALE), a biotech
company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 300238). From July 2005 to March 2017, Mr. Jiang also
served as the head of China Medical Device Information Magazine { (|
ER B8 s 5 B ) #554) . From June 2015 to February 2017, Mr. Jiang
worked as a non-executive director at Kaisa Health Group Holdings
Limited (EJEMRBEBRIZTERABRAE formerly known as EMES
B HBRAT), a company specialized in dental medical products with
its shares being listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0876). From
March 2016 to April 2019, Mr. Jiang served as an independent director
at Zhongzhu Healthcare Holding Co., Ltd. (PHEEZERRHBRAT),
whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
600568). Mr. Jiang also served as an independent director at a medical
consumables company, Guangdong Baihe Medical Technology Co., Ltd.
(BEREEBEMKRKRHBERAE) until March 2016.

Mr. Jiang is concurrently serving positions in the following entities outside
the Group:

o an independent director since January 2022 at Eyebright Medical
Technology (Beijing) Inc. (B18#HE (R BEREKRNHERA
B]), an ophthalmic medical device company whose shares are
listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 688050);

. a non-executive director since April 2014 at Lifetech Scientific
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. (Ge@RE CRII) BRAE), a medical
device company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 01302);
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. an executive director since November 2010 at Yixu Investment
Management (Beijing) Co., Ltd. (B/BRREE®E (txR) AR
‘A&]), a company primarily engaged in investment and asset
management;

o an executive director since January 2012 at Beijing Yimingxin
Venture Capital Management Co., Ltd. (It REEEEFAIILE EHE
ABR/ATE), a company primarily engaged in investment and asset

management;

o an executive director since July 2020 at Frontier (Suzhou) Medical
Technology Innovation Service Co., Ltd. (BT (BRM) BEE KAl
MRBBRRAE);

o an executive director since December 2017 at Suzhou Innomd

Medical Technology Service Co., Ltd. (FR/NZEFHEBEBRE
R#BRAT), a company primarily engaged in provision of
integrated solutions in respect of medical devices;

o a director since October 2017 at Xian Glodmag Nano
Biotechnology Co., Ltd. (BAZEHAKENZMBRAE), a
company primarily engaged in development of nanomedicine; and

o a director since December 2017 at Diabesen (Beijing) Technology
Co., Ltd. @EHER R BZBRAR).

Mr. Jiang also served as the president from March 2003 to January 2010
and later an executive vice president at China Association for Medical
Devices Industry (FFEIEEZ AT B E), the president since June
2009 at China Strategic Alliance of Medical Device Industry (F7 52 5% 23
i EE ZE R TR FT B BEBE B3) | a deputy director of Biomedical Engineering
Education Steering Committee of the Ministry of Education (& &84
MBBTREEHBISELET) since March 2018, and a director of
Chinese Society of Biomedical Engineering (MEI4 ¥R &2 T2& )
since December 2012.

Mr. Jiang received his master’s degree in respiratory medicine in July

1992 and doctor’s degree in cardiothoracic surgery in July 1995 from Air

Force Medical University (Z2EE B B& K22 > formerly known as 557U 5 B K

£) in the PRC. Mr. Jiang also obtained his second master’s degree in
Soes

business administration in Tsinghua University GEZE X&) in the PRC in
July 2006.
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Mr. GUO Jian (38#), aged 68, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on March 7, 2020 with effect from June 4, 2020. Mr.
Guo is primarily responsible for supervising and providing independent
judgement to the Board.

From 1985 to 2021, Mr. Guo had been employed as a teaching faculty
by Law School of Fudan University (f§ B X2), and was a professor of
Law School of Fudan University before Mr. Guo retired in 2021. From
September 2017 to September 2020, Mr. Guo worked as an independent
director at Zhejiang Changsheng Sliding Bearing Co. Ltd. Gif ;ST &%
BEEARIMNARRAT), a sliding bearings manufacturing company
whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
300718). Since April 2016, Mr. Guo has been working as an independent
director at Ailex Technology Group Co., Ltd EEaRFEBKRMDERA
&J, formerly known as Shanghai Ailex Technology Co., Ltd.), a medical
technology company whose shares were listed on the NEEQ (stock code:
834099).

Mr. Guo received his bachelor’s degree in history from East China Normal
University (25 & A28) in the PRC in January 1982 and master’s
degree in history of law from Fudan University (1§ B A£2) in the PRC in
September 1985.

Mr. CHEN Weibo (B %), aged 50, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on March 7, 2020 with effect from June 4,
2020. Mr. Chen is primarily responsible for supervising and providing
independent judgement to the Board.

Mr. Chen has almost 30 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. From September 1995 to May 2006, Mr. Chen served
as an accountant at overseas department of Zhejiang Construction
Investment Group Company Limited GH IR ERBEERARAT).
Mr. Chen was employed by Sanchuan Holding Group Limited (=]I[3%
IREEARAT, formerly known as =)I[HZEBRERAT or #HIF A=
JIkEBEERBARAT) and served as a manager of audit department
from July 2006 to June 2007 and the chief financial officer from July
2007 to August 2009. From September 2009 to June 2016, Mr. Chen
served as a teacher at Hangzhou Wanxiang Polyteaching College (7)1
EBEBEERMERT) and later re-joined the overseas division of Zhejiang
Construction Investment Group Company Limited G I 2 2R B EEE
BBR/AE]) as a deputy manager of overseas finance department. From
April 2019 to November 2021, Mr. Chen served as a joint secretary to
the board at Sunlight Technology Holdings Limited CREE R R B R A
B]), a material technology company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1950). Mr. Chen has been serving a secretary to
the board at Zhejiang Sunlight Material Technology Co., Ltd. Gif ;T %85 ¥
MRIBEBERAR) since July 2016.
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Mr. Chen received his bachelor’s degree in accounting from Zhejiang
University of Finance & Economics (T8 4&& K&, formerly known as
AL AEEBR) in the PRC in July 1995. Mr. Chen was conferred the
qualification of senior accountant by the Zhejiang Province Human
Resources and Social Security Department GIiiI & A D& RM L S 1R[E
BE) in April 2009. Mr. Chen has also been a non-practicing member of
the Zhejiang Institute of Certified Public Accountants GHiiI & st & 5t
Bfit%®) since December 2009. Mr. Chen obtained his ACCA Advanced
Diploma in Accounting and Business from the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants in June 2017.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. ZHONG Ming (§M18), aged 48, was appointed as the chief
executive officer on August 24, 2004. Mr. Zhong is responsible for overall
management of the business of the Group. See above for his biography.

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang (R $Rt), aged 44, was appointed as a vice
general manager on November 8, 2016. Ms. Shentu is responsible for
human resources and administration of the Group. See above for her
biography.

Mr. YIN Zixin (FHE#), aged 38, was appointed as a vice general
manager on March 7, 2020. Mr. Yin is mainly responsible for investor
relationships, investment and corporate governance matters of the
Group. See above for his biography.

Ms. HU Yanyu (88885), aged 47, was appointed as the chief financial
officer on September 15, 2023. Ms. Hu is primarily responsible for the
management of financial affairs and investor relations of the Group.

Ms. Hu has more than 15 years of ample experience in enterprise value
management, financial management and investment management.
She worked at Sunny Optical Technology (Group) Company Limited
(stock code: 2382), a company listed on the Stock Exchange, as the
director of investors’ relation from January 2008 to November 2013,
and as the secretary to the board of directors and a joint company
secretary from November 2010 to November 2013. Ms. Hu has
been a managing director of Shenzhen Eastern Marathon Investment
Management Company Limited* CRIITER A BHUMKREEBEEFRA
7)) from March 2017 to May 2019, and she subsequently worked in
the field of private investment fund management. Ms. Hu obtained her
master’s degree in business administration from Shanghai University of
Finance and Economics in April 2008 and a bachelor’s degree in business
administration from Zhejiang University in July 2003. She has also
obtained the qualification of economist issued by Personnel Bureau of
Hangzhou in 2008.
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Mr. CHENG Da (f2i&), aged 46, was appointed as a vice general
manager on March 1, 2011. Mr. Cheng joined the Group in March 2011
and has worked as a vice general manager at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr.
Cheng is primarily responsible for product registration and international
business of the Group.

Before joining the Group, Mr. Cheng served as a department head at
Terumo Medical Products (Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. GRESEREE R (T
M) BRAT) from July 2001 to February 2006, where he was mainly
responsible for technology management and product development.
From March 2006 to February 2011, Mr. Cheng served as a vice general
manager at Hangzhou Fushan Medical Appliances Co., Ltd. (fifll'E =
BERMARAT), where he was primarily responsible for establishing
and maintaining company quality control system and managing
technology and quality department.

Mr. Cheng received his bachelor’s degree in chemistry from Nankai
University (588X 2) in the PRC in June 2001.

Mr. YUE Jigiang (&&t38), aged 44, was appointed as a vice general
manager on May 16, 2009. Mr. Yue joined the Group in May 2009 and
has worked as a vice general manager at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr. Yue is
mainly responsible for research and development of the Group.

From September 2002 to February 2004, Mr. Yue served as a manager
at Hangzhou Kangyou Medical Equipment Co., Ltd. (fMME k&5
BB AT), where he was primarily responsible for research and
development. From December 2004 to April 2009, Mr. Yue served as a
manager at Hangzhou Optcla Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (M Y8258
EARM AR AT, where he was primarily responsible for research and
development.

Mr. Yue received his college degree in machine manufacturing from

Huabei Mechanical and Electrical Secondary School (ZEILH#EEFR) in
the PRC in June 2001.
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Mr. TANG Wenpeng (B XB) , aged 49, was appointed as a vice general
manager on March 5, 2018. Mr. Tang joined the Group in March 2017
and has worked as a vice general manager and manager of quality
control department at Hangzhou Kangji. Mr. Tang is mainly responsible for
production and quality control of the Group.

Mr. Tang served as a department head at Terumo Medical Product
(Hangzhou) Co., Ltd. (FEXEHEER (IIN) BRAF), where he was
primarily responsible for quality control, from April 2000 to September
2009. From October 2009 to March 2017, Mr. Tang served as a vice
general manager at Jiangxi Fenglin Medical Device Co., Ltd. L7526
E2FHESMAFR/AT]) , where he was mainly responsible for production and
quality control.

Mr. Tang received his bachelor’s degree in polymer materials from
Shanghai Jiao Tong University (783338 £) in the PRC in July 1996.

Mr. JU Jianyong (B3 8), aged 48, joined the Group on January 1,
2021 as head of domestic sales and marketing. Mr. Ju began his career
as a clinician in pediatrics, and then moved to work in sales in the
medical industry. Mr. Ju has extensive expertise in academic promotions
across multiple specialties such as obstetrics and gynaecology, Urology,
Oncology, and Pediatrics. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ju worked
in Nanjing Dongyuan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (FAREITHEFRA
7)), Beecham Group, Hainan Zambon Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd (E/ &
FEEHFR/AFE), Beijing Biote Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd GtR1BRE4
BEEHR/AB) and served a series of sales positions, including sales
representative, district sales manager, regional manager, sales director
and head of sales and marketing, mainly responsible for leading sales
team and product promotion and marketing work.

Mr. Ju graduated from Anhui Medical University (Z#Z 7R AZ) with a
bachelor’s degree in clinical medicine in 1998.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WAN Siu Keung GBJK38), aged 40, was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company on May 3, 2022. He joined the Group
in September 2020 as a senior finance manager and he has been
subsequently appointed as a director and the company secretary of
Kangji Medical (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, in January 2022 and December 2020 respectively.

Mr. Wan has over 16 years of experience in the fields of auditing, financial
management and corporate secretary. Mr. Wan worked in Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu from 2006 to 2014 and his last position was an audit manager.
From April 2014 to October 2016, Mr. Wan worked in the finance
department of Jiayuan International Group Limited (stock code: 2768)
and its predecessor, in which he had also acted as its company secretary
from July 2015 to October 2016. From October 2016 to May 2020,
Mr. Wan served as the financial controller of Synertone Communication
Corporation (stock code: 1613).

Mr. Wan obtained his bachelor’s degree in accounting and finance from
the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in May 2006. He is
a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
a chartered financial analyst (“CFA”) of the CFA Institute.
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The Board is pleased to present this Directors’ Report together with
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2023.

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on February 12,
2020, as an exempted company with limited liability under the Cayman
Companies Act. With the approval from the Registrar of Companies in
Hong Kong on April 3, 2020, the Company started to operate business
under the name of “Kangji Medical Holdings Limited BEEE 7 =R AR A
7" in Hong Kong.

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
June 29, 2020 with stock code 9997.

A list of principal subsidiaries of the Company, together with the details of
their places of incorporation and business, principal activities and issued
shares or registered share capital, is set out in note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are to design, develop,
manufacture and sell a comprehensive suite of MISIA that are focused
on the surgical specialties of OBGYN, urology, general surgery and
thoracic surgery. There were no significant changes in the nature of the
Company’s principal activities during the Reporting Period.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND RESULTS

A review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period is
provided in the section headed “Business Review” under “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the Reporting Period is provided in the section
headed “Financial Review” under “Management Discussion and Analysis”
of this annual report.

The results of the Group for the Reporting Period are set out in the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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E5gHRE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES FACING
THE GROUP

Market Risks

In recent years, the healthcare regulatory framework in China has
undergone significant changes, including, with respect to quality
control, supply, pricing and tender process for medical devices. The
medical device’s centralized procurement or volume based process and
execution of other regulatory policies at national or regional level may put
pressure on the end market prices of our products and adversely affect
our business, financial condition and results of operations. There have
been and may continue to be proposals or legislative or administrative
reforms in order to control healthcare costs by limiting the scope of
reimbursement schemes and/or the amount of reimbursement for
medical devices. If such policies affect our products, we will analyze each
situation based on key factors such as potential decline in retail price,
ex-factory price, market share, distributor network and coverage of the
local markets, in order to decide on the best sales course of action for
the Company to take advantage of opportunities and mitigate potential
impact on our business.

Any potential outbreak of pandemic in China or elsewhere in the world
may adversely affect our business as patients may delay their elective
surgical appointments or plans; and there may be disruption or delay to
the supply chain of the Group including the procurement of raw materials
and shipment of finished products.

Financial Risks

The Group’s principal business operations are exposed to a variety of
financial risks including but not limited to credit risk, currency risk, interest
rate risk, and liquidity risks. The Group’s financial risk management
objectives and policies are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Reporting Period,

(i) the Group’s largest supplier accounted for 10.1% (2022: 12.9%)
of its total purchases, and the five largest suppliers accounted for
25.9% of its total purchases (2022: 31.0%); and

(i) the Group’s largest customer accounted for 13.3% (2022: 11.8%)
of its total sales, and the five largest customers accounted for
22.2% of its total sales (2022: 28.2%).

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial
statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to the Shareholders of
the Company as at December 31, 2023 amounted to RMB3,220.4 million
(2022: RMB2,947.7 million)

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

As of December 31, 2023, the Group did not record any bank and other
interest-bearing borrowings.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
and RSU Plan” below, no equity-linked agreements that will or may
result in the Company issuing shares or that require the Company to
enter into any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period or
subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
Directors’ Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman of the Board)
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang

Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC (resigned on September 15, 2023)
Mr. YIN Zixin

Non-executive Director

Ms. CAI Li

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. JIANG Feng

Mr. GUO Jian

Mr. CHEN Weibo

DIRECTORS’ BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS

Details of Directors are set out in “Directors and Senior Management” of
this annual report. Save as disclosed in that section, up to the date of this
annual report, there were no changes to information which are required to
be disclosed by Directors pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule
18.51(2) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Except for Mr. YIN Zixin, each of the executive Directors has entered into
a three-year service contract with the Company and effective from their
respective appointment dates and subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meetings of the Company. The appointment
of Mr. YIN Zixin was effective from his appointment date to the date of
the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment, and
thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company. Each of the non-executive Directors
and independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company which commenced from their respective
appointment dates for an initial term of three years.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM
has a service contract with the Company or any member of the Group
which is not determinable by the employer within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

COMPETING INTEREST AND OTHER INTEREST

Save for their respective interests in the Group, none of the Directors,
and the Controlling Shareholders were interested in any business which
competes or is likely to compete with the businesses of the Group during
the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, no Directors had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries was a party.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has not entered into any other
contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholders or any of their
respective subsidiaries (other than the service contracts of Directors and
senior management).
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of related party transactions for the year ended December 31,
2023 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
None of such related party transactions constitute connected transaction
nor continuing connected transaction of the Group which has to be
disclosed in accordance with the Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and
the Company has complied with the requirements in the Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals are set out in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial
statements.

None of the Directors waived or agreed to waive any remuneration and
there were no emoluments paid by the Group to any of the Directors or
other individuals as an inducement to join, or upon joining the Group, or
as compensation for loss of office.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
A review of the employees and remuneration policies of the Group during

the year ended December 31, 2023 are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on page 25 of this annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

It is the Group’s corporate and social responsibility in promoting a
sustainable and environmental-friendly environment. The Group strive
to minimize its environmental impact and to build the corporation in a
sustainable way.

The Group is subject to environmental protection and occupational health
and safety laws and regulations in China. In 2023, the Group complied
with the relevant environmental and occupational health and safety laws
and regulations in China and the Group did not have any incidents or
complaints, which had a material and adverse effect on the Group’s
business, financial condition or results of operations.

The ESG report of the Company prepared in accordance with Appendix
C2 of the Listing Rules is set out on pages 84 to 163 of this annual
report.

THE GROUP’S FACILITIES

The corporate headquarters of the Group are located in Tonglu, Zhejiang
province. All of the Group’s manufacturing facilities during the Reporting
Period are located in Zhejiang province in the PRC.

The Group has solid manufacturing capabilities supported by an
experienced production team, automated manufacturing processes and
a cost-effective supply chain. As of December 31, 2023, the total gross
floor area of the Group’s manufacturing facilities amounted to 43,189.04
square meters (“sq.m.”).

As of December 31, 2023, the Group owned the land use right of five
parcels of land with a total site area of approximately 90,166 sg.m. and
nine buildings with a total gross floor area of approximately 63,559.56
sq.m. The Group’s buildings are primarily used as office buildings, R&D
and manufacturing facilities.

As of December 31, 2023, the Group leased properties at various
locations including Beijing, Shanghai, Hangzhou and Hong Kong with a
total gross floor area of approximately 17,401.05 sq.m., which have been
used as office premises.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As of date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
interests and short positions of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO), which were required (a) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code, were as follows:

Interest in the Company

Name of Director/Chief Executive

mEE

BEx

REITHASNS 15

Mr. ZHONG Ming
IR

Beneficiary of a trust Mte2
(SEL 25 A (aE2)

Interest of spouse MNete4
AR B 1 3 (i)

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang Beneficiary of a trust Nete

BRERZ L [EEL SRS \ (i)
Interest of spouse MNote 4
A B f o (90

Mr. YIN Zixin Beneficial owner Nete 5

FEELE B A @8
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Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
in the total

Number of issued share
ordinary shares capital (%)
REETKRE

HEARET R

BERHEE HMOBDL (%)
408,500,000 (L) 33.63 (L)
231,500,000 (L) 19.06 (L)
231,500,000 (L) 19.06 (L)
408,500,000 (L) 33.63 (L)
4,125,000 (L) 0.34 (L)



Notes:

(1) The letter “L” denotes the directors’ long position in the Shares.

2) Fortune Spring ZM B Limited is owned by Fortune Spring ZM AA
Limited and Fortune Spring ZM A Limited as to 99.9% and 0.1%,
respectively. Fortune Spring ZM AA Limited is wholly owned by the
Fortune Spring ZM Trust, for which Butterfield Trust (Asia) Limited
serves as the trustee and Mr. Zhong Ming acts as the settlor and
protector.

3) Fortune Spring YG B Limited is owned by YG AA Limited and
Fortune Spring YG A Limited as to 99.8% and 0.2%, respectively.
YG AA Limited is wholly owned by The YG Trust, for which BOS
Trustee Limited serves as the trustee, and Ms. Shentu Yinguang
acts as the settlor and Mr. Zhong acts as the protector.

(4) Mr. Zhong Ming and Ms. Shentu Yinguang are spouses, and
therefore are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each
other under the SFO.

5) Mr. Yin is interested in the RSUs in respect of 4,125,000 underlying
Shares granted to him in accordance with the RSU Plan.

Save as disclosed above, as of date of this report, none of the Directors
or chief executive of the Company has or is deemed to have any interests
or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which will be required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO); or which will
be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant
to the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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SEEHRS
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS TERERBHORERBGH BN
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND FESE K

UNDERLYING SHARES

As of date of this report, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the B EANRESHER EEEFFMA > Ty A+
followings are the persons, other than the Directors or chief executive  (RATEFZ I ESITHABERRIN) RIEHD
of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the Shares and BRI PHEBIRIE (B S5 LEEERF)
underlying Shares which would be required to be notified to the Company %XV“E 2&3%*‘5 HEBHEARRNE) R

and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XA FZ XA ; KEB R HZN AL T
XV of the SFO; or as recorded in the register of interests required to be  TRIF(E H K HI S IEH]) EXVEL EI361F BT
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO: FENEGECMIERIORE !

Approximate
percentage of

Total number shareholding
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest of Shares (%)
FRESE S
RR%TB 513 HmtE &1 48 % (%)
Credit Suisse Trust Limited Trustee of a trust Motes2) 408,500,000 (L) 33.63 (L)
Credit Suisse Trust Limited EFEZEEA (=2)
BOS Trustee Limited Trustee of a trust MNotes 3 231,500,000 (L) 19.06 (L)
BOS Trustee Limited EEERFEA W)
Fortune Spring ZM B Limited Beneficial owner (Notes 2) 408,500,000 (L) 33.63 (L)
Fortune Spring ZM B Limited BiEA A W2
Fortune Spring YG B Limited Beneficial owner Notes 3) 231,500,000 (L) 19.06 (L)
Fortune Spring YG B Limited BmER A WE
Keyhole Holding Limited Beneficial owner (Notes 4) 216,190,500 (L) 17.80 (L)
Keyhole Holding Limited BmEA A WE
Notes: M5
(1) The letter “L” denotes long position in the Shares. (1) FEIMLIERRDTNEE-

2) Fortune Spring ZM B Limited is owned by Fortune Spring ZM AA (2 Fortune Spring ZM B LimitedHFortune

Limited and Fortune Spring ZM A Limited as to 99.9% and 0.1%, Spring ZM AA Limited &zFortune Spring ZM

respectively. Fortune Spring ZM AA Limited is wholly owned by the A Limited% B # 5 99.9% 0.1 %8I 1 7 ©

Fortune Spring ZM Trust, for which Butterfield Trust (Asia) Limited Fortune Spring ZM AA LimitedeFortune

serves as the trustee and Mr. Zhong Ming acts as the settlor and Spring ZM Trust2 E# 5 > & it > Butterfield

protector. Trust (Asia) Limiteda=5EA > BB AE
BETLTANRIRENC

3) Fortune Spring YG B Limited is owned by YG AA Limited and  (3) Fortune Spring YG B LimitedEYG AA

Fortune Spring YG A Limited as to 99.8% and 0.2%, respectively. Limited5&zFortune Spring YG A Limited3 5!l
YG AA Limited is wholly owned by The YG Trust, for which BOS HEH99.8%5%0.2%M % o YG AA Limited
Trustee Limited serves as the trustee, and Ms. Shentu Yinguang HThe YG Trust2&# 5 > %1t > BOS
acts as the settlor and Mr. Zhong acts as the protector. Trustee Limited#&= 5t A REIRIEZ T1F

REFARBREFERREAN-
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(4) Each of TPG Keyhole, L.P. (as sole shareholder of Keyhole Holding
Limited), TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P. (as a general partner of TPG
Keyhole, L.P.), TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors, Inc. (as a general
partner of TPG Asia GenPar VII, L.P), TPG Holdings Illl, L.P. (as
the sole shareholder of TPG Asia GenPar VII Advisors, Inc.), TPG
Holdings llI-A, L.P. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings Ill, L.P.),
TPG Holdings llI-A, Inc. (as a general partner of TPG Holdings IlI-A,
L.P), TPG Group Holdings (SBS), L.P. (as the sole shareholder of
TPG Holdings llI-A, Inc.), TPG Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC

L.P) and TPG

Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, Inc. (as the sole member of TPG

Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, LLC) is deemed to be interested in

the Shares held by Keyhole Holding Limited under the SFO. TPG

Group Holdings (SBS) Advisors, Inc.

(as a general partner of TPG Group Holdings (SBS),

is controlled by Mr. David
Bonderman and Mr. James G. Coulter, who disclaim beneficial
ownership of the Shares held by Keyhole Holding Limited except to
the extent of their pecuniary interest therein.

Save as disclosed above, as of date of this report, the Directors and
the chief executive of the Company are not aware of any other person
(other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had an
interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares which would
be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which will
be required to be recorded in the register to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive’s
Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” above, at no time during the year ended December 31, 2023
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of the Shares in, or debentures of the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe for the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body corporate or
had exercised any such right.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company repurchased a total of 2,261,000 Shares on the Stock
Exchange at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$18.8
million (excluding brokerage fees and taxes) during the year ended
December 31, 2023 (2022: approximately HK$188.2 million) at price
ranging from HK$6.34 to HK$9.25. 1,780,500 Shares were cancelled
during the year ended December 31, 2023 and the remaining 480,500
Shares were subsequently cancelled in January 2024. The Directors
believe that the share repurchases were in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders and would lead to an enhancement of the
net assets value per share and/or earnings per share of the Company.
The particulars of the share repurchase are as follows:

Number
of shares
repurchased

EEm
A 4=

g:ﬁ HEHBRAATF LHE

HE2023F12A31HIEFE » KRB R #
RFrBE[ & #£2,261,0008 8510 8RB A
H18.8EBAT (FEEKLERKRTIER)
(20224 : 9188.2@ BB ) »BENTF
6.348B T E9.258 7T 1,780,500 & 15 1R
HZE2023F12H31HILEE D8 > MER
T480,5008 IR1A BB & R20245F1 B FEtH o
EERAS ROBLRIFTEAABDKRERSE
NEENGABEARATINEREEFE
B/ ERBANIRES RMOBEEBOT

Highest Lowest Aggregate
purchase purchase amount of
price per price per purchase

share share price

Easkkm ZESRE®H

BEE BEE BEEASE
(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)
(#7T) (#7t) (#7T)
8.49 8.18 1,516,896.00
8.72 8.59 1,333,501.40
8.69 8.41 2,216,542.40
8.76 8.56 1,695,473.75
8.94 8.66 1,878,351.25
9.14 8.85 3,217,528.00
9.19 8.75 2,615,973.75
9.25 8.98 1,185,973.95
6.47 6.35 584,119.90
6.49 6.34 496,334.30
6.67 6.58 1,987,710.00
6.83 6.79 85,190.00

January 3, 2023 2023%1H3H 180,000
January 5, 2023 2023%F1H85H 154,000
January 6, 2023 2023%1H6H 260,500
January 9, 2023 2023%F1H9H 195,500
January 10, 2023 2023%1810H 212,500
January 11, 2023 2023%1811H 356,000
January 12, 2023 2023F 18128 292,500
January 13, 2023 2023%1813H 129,500
December 22, 2023 2023F12H22H 91,000
December 27, 2023 2023F12H27H 77,000
December 28, 2023 2023%12H828H 300,000
December 29, 2023 2023%12829H 12,500
Total i 2,261,000

18,813,694.70

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed interest in any of the Company’s listed
Shares during the year ended December 31, 2023.
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PRE-IPO SHARE OPTION PLAN AND RSU PLAN

On May 6, 2020, the Company adopted the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
and the RSU Plan, pursuant to which the Company may grant options to
subscribe for the Shares and issue certain units of Shares with restrictive
rights to eligible participants subject to the terms and conditions
stipulated therein.

The terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, whereas the RSU Plan
constitutes a share scheme involving existing Shares under Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules with effect from January 1, 2023. The Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan and the RSU Plan were adopted to attract and retain the best
available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide
additional incentives to selected employees, Directors and consultants
and to promote the success of the Company’s business by offering
these individuals an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the
Company.

(a) Pre-IPO Share Option Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Pre-IPO
Share Option Plan approved and adopted pursuant to the written
resolutions of Shareholders of the Company dated May 6, 2020.
The terms of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan are not subject to the
provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

(i) Purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan

The purpose of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan is
to attract and retain the best available personnel
for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide
additional incentives to selected employees, Directors
and consultants and to promote the success of the
Company’s business by offering these individuals an
opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest in the
Company or to increase this interest, by granting them
options to purchase Shares (the “Options”, and each of
them, an “Option”).

(i) Who May Join

The participants of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
(the “Participants”) are the employees, Directors and
consultants of the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries
as selected by the administrator (the “Administrator”) at
its discretion.
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(iii)

(iv)

v)

Maximum Number of Shares

The maximum number of underlying Shares that may be
granted and sold under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
is 4,120,000 with a par value of US$0.00001 each. The
number of Shares that are subject to Options outstanding
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan at any time shall not
exceed the aggregate number of Shares that then remain
available for issuance under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Plan.

Term of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan and the
Options

The Pre-IPO Share Option Plan will expire on, and no
Option may be granted pursuant to the Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan thereafter, the sixth anniversary of the date
that the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan is adopted and
approved by the Shareholders of the Company and the
remaining life of the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan is around
two years. In addition, the term of any Option granted
under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan shall not exceed six
years. All the granted but unexercised Options shall expire
on the sixth anniversary of the grant date.

Exercise Price and Payment

The exercise price per Option shall be determined by the
Administrator and set forth in the Option Agreement and
subject to the rules or requirements of any applicable
securities exchange (if any) which may be a fixed or
variable price related to the fair market value of the
Shares.

The Administrator shall determine the methods of
payments by any Participant with respect to the exercise
price of any Option granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan, including without limitation: (i) cash, check or
cash equivalent; (ii) at the discretion of the Administrator
and to the extent permitted by applicable laws,
consideration received by the Company under a formal
cashless exercise program adopted by the Company
in connection with the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan; (iii)
wire transfer; or (iv) other form of legal consideration
acceptable to the Administrator.
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(vi) Exercise of Options

Options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
shall only be exercisable at such time and upon such
terms and conditions as may be determined by the Option
Agreement. An exercisable Option may be exercised
in whole or in part. However, an Option shall not be
exercisable with respect to fractional shares and the
Administrator may require that, by the terms of the Option
Agreement, a partial exercise must be with respect to a
minimum number of Shares.

All or a portion of exercisable Options shall be
deemed exercised upon delivery of all of the notice,
representations, foreign exchange registration files (if
applicable) and certificate of payments, etc. as set out
in the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan, to the secretary of the
Company, or such other person or entity designated by
the Board, or his, her or its office, as applicable.

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company had
cancelled the share options in respect of 4,120,000 underlying
Shares granted and vested to Ms. Frances Fang Chovanec in
accordance with the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan as part of the
employment termination agreement effective on September 15,
2023. As of December 31, 2023, the number of Shares in respect
of which options had been granted under the Pre-IPO Share
Option Plan was nil.

Details of the options granted under the Pre-IPO Share Option
Plan during the Reporting Period are set out below:

Number of
underlying Exercise
Shares price of
subject to the Options
Name of grantee Position Date of grant the Options  Vesting schedule granted
R
izt gt L i
ZEAfR Bl RitAH HERAEE BEERZ i@
Ms. Frances Fang Former Executive Director May 6, 2020 4,120,000 580,000 Shares upon Listing; RVBG6.787
Chovanec and chief financial 1,180,000 Shares on the first per Share
officer (resigned on year anniversary of the vesting
September 15, 2023) commencement date; 1,180,000

Shares on second year anniversary
of the vesting commencement
date; 1,180,000 Shares on the
third year anniversary of the vesting

commencement date
Frances Fang Chovanec BIHITESRERMKE 20205568 4,120,000 L%580,0008%(7 ; FEEHAN sk
(5 2t (1202595158 S—EREAL1800008%0; E RHARE
#f) BRAANE_EBER1180,000 67877

Bkt BEELANE=ERE
H1,180,000% (3
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Frances Fang Chovanec (%) &+
B94,120,0008% 18 B8 AR 1 09 FE AR # o
HE2023F12831H  REEXA
HEEREREFIEREFTHERE
HRNBEAS -

BEHARBEERLFAESABKR
B HBRENF BN
T

Cancelled
Outstanding Granted  Exercised  orlapsed Outstanding
asat duringthe  duringthe  during the as at
January1,  Reporting  Reporting  Reporting December 31,
2023 Period Period Period 2023
1420235 142023
1R RESMA  REEEA  RESHA 128018
WA b i HEHAXR  HAOE
4,120,000 Nil NI 4,120,000 Nil
4,120,000 B E 4120000 !
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(b)

RSU Plan

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the RSU
Plan approved and adopted pursuant to the written resolutions
of Shareholders of the Company dated May 6, 2020. The RSU
Plan constitutes a share scheme involving existing Shares under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules with effect from January 1, 2023.

(i)

(iii)

Purpose of the RSU Plan

The purpose of the RSU Plan is to attract and retain
the best available personnel for positions of substantial
responsibility, to provide additional incentives to selected
employees, Directors and consultants and to promote
the success of the Company’s business by offering these
individuals an opportunity to acquire a proprietary interest
in the Company or to increase this interest, by issuing
them certain units of Shares with restrictive rights (the
“RSUs”, and each of them, an “RSU”).

Who May Join

The participants of the RSU Scheme (the “Participants”)
are the employees, directors and consultants of the
Company and/or any of its subsidiaries as selected by the
administrator (the “Administrator”) at its discretion.

Maximum Number of Underlying Shares pursuant to
the RSU Plan

The underlying Shares of the RSU Plan are ordinary
Shares held by ESOP BVI. The maximum number of RSUs
that may be granted under the RSU Plan in aggregate
shall be such number of Shares held or to be held by the
ESOP BVI from time to time.

The maximum entitlement of each Participant under the
RSU Plan shall not exceed any limits that may be imposed
under the Listing Rules or other applicable laws and
regulations from time to time as amended and in force.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

(b)

2 PR %1 Bz {7 B {51 &I

TXAREBEA2020E586H W
KN BB E TR E B E IR
MR R EMTE N EZER
BME-RE(EHRAANE+ELE =
FRHI B (D E 5t 8 B2023F181H
EER—EBYRIRBROKRGS

£
() ZRFRGEM B LY

RREIRMEMUSE SER
SIRFEBEEEERAUNR
BAT BEERE -EFK
BREIRHERINER  UREB
MZFEARHEESEILR
HEERTNEERMRER
THEBERGBIBIONETRMN
B (T2 R&IAR (7 BE (1) 1240
bR LR EAR R B EIS
EBRI

(i) BHEEF

ZIRFIRMEMUSENSEE
(T2@f) nEEsE ((EE
BN)HNBEEMARAD R,/
FEHEAMNBLRRERE -ER
T B e

(i) ZREIBRHEMAZIET
BRSIEMAR 72

= PR & IR 15 B8 11 51 2 A9 48 RE
1A AESOP BVIEEMNZ &
f% o ZRRGIRMEMEIIET
SEHUBENSRE KM E
UES#HEBEAESOP BVIF
REFEISEFTENRMDE
E o

RGN EMLE TEMN
ZHENRBERIATEY
RAFCE B RRD A FAEERT
R &M B E A B E R R E
AR R AE B 0 BY (E fRT PR BR o



(iv)

v)

Term of the RSU Plan and the RSUs

The RSU Plan will expire on, and no RSU may be granted
pursuant to the RSU Plan thereafter, the sixth anniversary
of the date that the RSU Plan is adopted and approved by
the Shareholders of the Company and the remaining life of
the RSU Plan is around two years. In addition, the term of
any RSU granted under the RSU Plan shall not exceed six
years. All the granted but unvested RSUs shall expire on
the sixth anniversary of the grant date.

Vesting and Payment

RSUs granted under the RSU Plan shall only be vested
at such time and upon such terms and conditions as
determined by the RSU Plan and the RSU Agreement
and/or subject to the approval of the Administrator. No
Shares or cash corresponding to the granted RSUs will
be issued to any Participant prior to the Global Offering,
regardless of whether the purchase consideration has
been paid or not.

The consideration for vesting the RSUs shall be
determined by the Administrator and set forth in the RSU
Agreement and subject to the rules or requirements of any
applicable securities exchange on which the Shares are
listed (if any) which may be a fixed or variable price related
to the fair market value of the underlying Shares.

All or a portion of granted RSUs shall be deemed vested
upon delivery of all of the notice, representations, foreign
exchange registration files (if applicable) and certificate
of payments, etc. as set out in the RSU Plan, to the
Secretary of the Company, or such other person or entity
designated by the Administrator, or his, her or its office,
as applicable.

Report of the Directors

(iv)

v)

EFGHRS

FIRFR 17 E (U 51 8| R F
IR %8 17 & {2 59 45 PR

= PRl B 17 BE (U 51 &) A% 10 &%
5t 818 & QB R R A At
EZHNBERBEAER It
BARREZEHKRMDEM
STEIRERBHIRMEN A
It 52 PR 1 A 17 BE (1L 5t 8 B9 Y
BREARRE AWM E - L 5h > 1R
BXRHIRMDEMLSERD
BYE 71 X IR ) Bz 10 B (i HA FR
TREBBRNF-FREEBKREE
AEBHNIRERMDEMER
REHBHNEANBEFAE
ﬁo

BBRZ

RIE X R IR B A5t 83R
A2 R HI AR D BALE AR
BERAIRMEMUAB RE
PR il B 17 BE (i 1% 3B R E ’&e
8 & 1B & HE U B9 B R L K MR
RBAREITRE - N 2K
ER - ERBERNEXNTH
ToBERREMSREET
HERHRREIRMEME
HENRMIIRE-

BEXRGRMDEBEMLUNKE
HEEERE > HINZ R
RMOBMAHBZERD TRRHM L
TR ENERBRESFRK S
(InAE) RAXREMRRR
ZHEBUEREBEREARN A
FHEMEBNEEN ] EE
*%O

MAEARBDWENEEERTE
WHEMALISNEENERBER
= (WBEA) XNRRGIRNG
BASEFMENEIBEN B
A SNEFREXH (MER) K
N ERRER 2BUMLIH
B E RS R M5 E A ®K®
RIFETRE -

BREETERARASR 2023FERE

53



54

Report of the Directors
E5gHRE

The initial overall limit on the number of underlying Shares
to be granted under the RSU Plan is 26,810,000 Shares.
On May 6, 2020, 6 management team members and
employees were approved by the Board to be grantees
under the RSU Plan with a total of 21,190,000 underlying
Shares under the RSU Plan. On March 26, 2021, 57
management team members and employees were
approved by the Board to be grantees under the RSU
Plan with a total of 5,620,000 underlying Shares under the
RSU Plan.

On May 25, 2022, the Shareholders had approved the
increase of overall limit in respect of the number of
underlying Shares to be granted under the RSU Plan
from 26,810,000 Shares to 46,810,000 Shares and
subsequently, ESOP BVI had purchased an aggregate
of 20,000,000 Shares for the purpose of the RSU Plan
during the year ended December 31, 2022. During the
Reporting Period, no RSU under the RSU Plan were
granted to senior management and employees. As of
December 31, 2023, a total of 26,810,000 underlying
Shares have been granted under the RSU Plan.
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Details of RSUs granted and outstanding under the RSU Plan are RESESBMEMNIEH &
as follows: KITENZRGRMDEMLBIEIE
FENT

During the Reporting Period
REEHA

Closing No. of No. of

price of RSUs RSUs

Shares outstanding outstanding

immediately as of No. of No. of No. of No. of as of

Purchase before  January 1, RSUs RSUs RSUs RSUs December 31,

Grantees Date of grant Vesting date/period Price  grant date 2023 granted  exercised cancelled lapsed 2023

#ZF2023%F #Z2023%

1818 12A318

ZRET  HEAGEN  BEEN  BOEN  ERBEN BREE  HRGER
BEEIRG  ZRER  ZRERG  SRIRG  ERIRG  ERIRG  ERIRG
HETHE HEMYAE Bfige  EBi%A B  E{M¥E  E{%A

Director
iz
Mr. YIN Zixin May 6, 2020 May 6, 2020 RMB6.448 N/A 4,125,000 S S S S 4,125,000
FRERL 2020E5A68 20205568 AE#6.4487 TER
Five highest paid individuals
LEREEMAL
In aggregate May 6, 2020 May 6, 2020 RMB6.448 N/A~ 10,720,000 - - - - 10,720,000
At 20205860 2020%5H6H AE®6.4487 TBA
March 26, 2021 Between March 26, 2022 HK$9.036 HK$10.1 3,000,000 - - - - 3,000,000
to March 26, 2026
2021535268 202035 26H £2026 537268 9.086% 7 10187
Other grantees
HZEA
In aggregate May 6, 2020 May 6, 2020 RMB6.448 N/A~ 6,345,000 = = = = 6,345,000
At 2020F5A68 20205568 AR 6.4487T TER
March 26, 2021 Bstween March 26, 2022 HK$9.036 HK$10.1 2,620,000 - - - - 2,620,000
to March 26, 2026
2021535268 202035260 £2026 537268 9036787 10.187
Total st 26,810,000 - - - - 26,810,000
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES

Saved as disclosed in the section headed “Events after the Reporting
Period” below, during the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group did
not have any material acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL
OFFERING

In connection with the Company’s Global Offering, 225,397,500 Shares
of US$0.00001 each were issued at a price of HK$13.88 per Share for a
total cash consideration of approximately HK$2,952.5 million (equivalent
to RMB2,697.1 million), after deducting underwriting commissions and
related fees and expenses.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering during the
Reporting Period

The net proceeds from the global offering of the Company (adjusted on
a pro rata basis based on the actual net proceeds) have been and will
be utilized in that same manner, proportion and the expected timeframe
as set out in the Prospectus under the section headed “Future Plans and
Use of Proceeds”, save for the proposed change in use of proceeds as
disclosed below.

As at December 31, 2023, the Company has a unutilized net proceeds
of approximately RMB1,802.4 million (the “Unutilized Net Proceeds”).
Having considered the reasons set out in the section headed “Reasons
for the Change in Use of Proceeds” below, the Board has resolved to
change the use of the Unutilized Net Proceeds. The table below sets
out the planned applications of the net proceeds, the actual accrued
usage up to, and the Unutilized Net Proceeds as at, December 31, 2023
and the revised planned applications of the Unutilized Net Proceeds, in
amounts and as percentages of the total net proceeds:
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Use of proceeds

For expanding production capacity
and strengthen manufacturing
capabilities, including:
to expand production capacity of

current products and further
automate existing production lines

to build up production capabilties for
pipeline products

For funding R&D activities, including:

to establish R&D centers

for development and expansion of
product pipeline

For investing in sales and marketing
activities, including:
to be used in domestic sales and
marketing activities?

to increase overseas sales

For funding potential strategic

investment and acquisitions

For working capital and general
corporate purposes

Total

Notes:
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Expected

Utilization Unutilized timeframe for

Revised during the Actual Net Proceeds Unutilized

application  yearended  usage up to as at Revised planned Net Proceeds

Planned  of total net December 31, December 31, December 31, applications of the (from the

applications  proceeds!" 2023 2023 2023  Unutilized Net Proceeds Listing Date)

HE2023% 1420235 FEA

FAfERE 128310 HE202E 128318 FiRRIaRE

asEn LLEER 128318 HWAEA BHRER

FiisRERE HEpE  EETREY BRER WERRE FERERE (BLHRBE)
(RMB million)  (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million) (RMB million)
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AR BAEERMARELS
12

BARBEGNERLESE 249.9 264.3 15.8 34.4 230.2 2163 120 within three
BELERRHL to five years
RZZRER
BREGERNER 260.1 275.1 474 126.4 1487 1442 8.0 within six years
RAER
BRrA&REEDRAEES BF
BURERL 4335 4585 26.1 800 3785 90.1 5.0 within four years
RIER
BERBRERER 2040 2158 485 131.1 84.7 180.3 10.0 within five
to six years
RAERER
BREEHEREHEH 0F
BREANBEREHEEDY 3825 4045 320 58.1 346.4 180.3 100 within four
to five years
REERER
EMEIMEE 1275 1349 2.2 34 1315 90.1 50 within three
to five years
REERER
BRABTEREER 637.5 6743 50.0 275 4168 3605 20,0  within five years
WERMES REER
BREEESR-RARMR 255.0 2697 788 204.1 65.6 5406 300 within four
to six years
RRERER
st 2,550.0 2,697.1 3008 8947 1.802.4 1,802.4 100.0
BEE -

(1) By excluding the underwriting commissions and related fees (1) KNBEBEASURERERRBEXE

and expenses, the actual net proceeds planned for applications SHEERMERMEREFEAARE
amounted to RMB2,697.1 million. Net proceeds were received in 2,697 1B 8T ° P15 IR P 86 LU TT AR
HK$ and translated to RMB for application planning. WERARERNSEIBRT-
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2) On March 25, 2021, the Board resolved to change the location of
the sales and marketing center to be established from the Group’s
headquarters to Beijing, which is in line with the Group’s latest
business strategy and does not deviate from the originally planned
application of the net proceeds as described in the Prospectus.
Other than this minor change and the change in use of proceeds
disclosed above, no amendment has been made to the disclosure
in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus.

()] The expected timeframe to use the Unutilized Net Proceeds is
prepared based on the best estimate made by the Group, which is
subject to change according to the current and future development
of the market condition. The Company does not expect the revised
planned applications of the Unutilized Net Proceeds would lead to
any change of the expected timeframe for full utilization.

Reasons for the Change in Use of Proceeds

The reasons for the revised planned applications of the Unutilized Net
Proceeds are as follows:

(a) in light of China’s economic environment in recent years and the
practice post COVID-19, the Group spent considerably less in
sales and marketing activities such as on-site exhibition, travelling
and entertainment during the past few years. In addition, the
Group has gradually switched towards online platforms for its
academic promotion activities which became popular during
the pandemic and are more efficient and cost-effective than the
traditional promotion and communication channels. Therefore, the
original allocation of the Unutilized Net Proceeds for investing in
sales and marketing activities has been adjusted downwards to
reflect the Group’s latest sales and marketing approach;

(b) since the industry has showed mixed sentiments towards
investment in general, the Board has adopted a more prudent
approach in identifying suitable acquisition targets and
conducting feasibility studies and/or due diligence on potential
acquisition targets. The Board considers that this approach would
allow the Group to preserve its funding for future investment
opportunities with higher strategic values when the market fully
recovers in the medium to long run on another hand. Therefore,
the original allocation of the Unutilized Net Proceeds for funding
potential strategic investment and acquisitions has been adjusted
downwards, to free up some short-term financial resources;
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the Group has been expanding its R&D facility at the
headquarters in Tonglu, Hangzhou, and accordingly, there are
no immediate needs to set up further R&D centers in other cities
in China in the foreseeable future. Having said that, the Board
considers it crucial to continue investing in the development and
expansion of product pipeline. Therefore, the original allocation of
the Unutilized Net Proceeds for the establishment of R&D centers
has been adjusted downwards, while the original allocation of
the Unutilized Net Proceeds for development and expansion
of product pipeline has been adjusted upwards but in a lesser
extent, to reflect the Group’s current strategic focus for its R&D
activities;

the Group has recently finished the construction of new factory
buildings at the headquarters which could satisfy the need
for expansion of production capacity in the next few years.
Therefore, the original allocation of the Unutilized Net Proceeds
for expanding production capacity and strengthen manufacturing
capabilities has been adjusted marginally downwards;

the reallocation from sales and marketing activities, potential
strategic investments and acquisitions, R&D activities and
expansion of production capacity (as referred to in sub-
paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) above) to working capital and
general corporate purposes would allow the Group to deploy
more financial resources to, among other things, staff costs
for retaining and attracting new talents, costs to promote ESG
development, distributing dividends to reward the Shareholders
and other administrative expenses; and

the revised planned applications of the Unutilized Net Proceeds
are in line with the Group’s business strategy, and will not result
in any material adverse impact on the business and financial
performance of the Group. The Board considers that the revised
planned applications of the Unutilized Net Proceeds would be
fair and reasonable, and therefore are in the best interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole.
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LITIGATION AND COMPLIANCE

The Company is a holding company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
with major operations in Mainland China and Hong Kong. To the best
knowledge of the Board, during the Reporting Period, the Group has
complied with all relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China, the
Cayman Islands and Hong Kong in all material aspects. No litigation
or claim of material importance is pending or threatened against any
member of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM will be held on May 27, 2024. The notice of the AGM will be
sent to the Shareholders at least 21 days before the AGM.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

(@) For the purpose of determining the Shareholders who are
entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of members
of the Company will be closed from May 22, 2024 to May 27,
2024 both days inclusive. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the AGM, all transfer documents should be lodged for
registration with Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May 21, 2024.
Shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on May 27, 2024 will be entitled to attend and vote
at the AGM.

(b) For determining the entitlement to the proposed 2023 Final
Dividend and 2023 Special Dividend subject to the approval by
the Shareholders at the AGM, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from May 31, 2024 to June 6, 2024,
both days inclusive. In order to qualify for the proposed 2023
Final Dividend and 2023 Special Dividend, all transfer documents
should be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Computershare at Shops 1712-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong
Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on May 30, 2024.
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FINAL DIVIDEND AND SPECIAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of the 2023 Final
Dividend of RMB41 cents per Share amounting to approximately
RMB498,077,000, and the 2023 Special Dividend of RMB99 cents per
Share amounting to approximately RMB1,202,673,000 in celebration
of the 20th anniversary of the Group’s establishment and recognition
of the Shareholders’ long-term support. The proposed 2023 Final
Dividend is intended to be paid out of the Group’s distributable profits
for the year ended December 31, 2023, and the proposed 2023 Special
Dividend is intended to be paid partly out of the Company’s accumulated
distributable profits amounting to approximately RMB534,521,000
and partly out of the Company’s share premium account amounting to
approximately RMB668,152,000 pursuant to the articles of association
of the Company and in accordance with the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands. After taking into account a number of factors including
the cash flow, financial condition and funding needs of the Group, the
Board considers that it is appropriate and proposes that the 2023 Special
Dividend be partly paid out of the Company’s share premium account.

The proposed 2023 Final Dividend and 2023 Special Dividend will be
payable on or about July 18, 2024 to the Shareholders whose names
appear on the register of members of the Company on June 6, 2024,
subject to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM.

The 2023 Final Dividend and 2023 Special Dividend will be payable in
cash to each Shareholder in RMB or HKD (to be converted from RMB at
the exchange rate to be announced by the People’s Bank of China on or
about May 27, 2024). Shareholders will be given the option of electing to
receive all (but not part, save in the case of HKSCC Nominees Limited,
which may elect to receive part of its entitlement in RMB) of the 2023
Final Dividend and 2023 Special Dividend in RMB. The relevant dividend
currency election form will be despatched to the Shareholders as soon
as practicable after the record date of June 6, 2024. Further details with
respect to dividend currency election will be announced in due course.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Memorandum
and Articles of Association or the Cayman Companies Act which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the
existing Shareholders.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s listed
securities. If any of the Shareholders is unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares, he or she is advised to
consult an expert.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has maintained appropriate liability insurance policies for
its Directors and senior management during the Reporting Period.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as of the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained the prescribed percentage of public float
under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 have
been audited by Ernst & Young. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Ernst & Young as the auditor of the Company for the 2024 financial
statements will be proposed at the AGM.

DONATION

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Group made charitable
and other donations amounting to RMB3,678,000.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On December 28, 2023, Hangzhou Kangji, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into the equity transfer agreement
to dispose of its entire equity interest in Hangzhou Kangji Qipu Medical
Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Qipu”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hangzhou
Kangji, to an independent third party for an aggregate consideration of
approximately RMB366 million. Qipu is principally engaged in distribution,
research and development of medical instruments. As at December
31, 20283, the assets and liabilities of Qipu were classified as held for
sale in the Company’s consolidated statement of financial position. The
disposal of Qipu is expected to complete in April 2024. Please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated December 28, 2023 for further
information.
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On March 20, 2024, the shareholders of Weijing Medical have approved
certain amendments to the articles of association and the change in
board composition of Weijing Medical. Pursuant to the amended articles
of association of Weijing Medical, the number of directors that Kangji
Hong Kong is entitled to nominate has decreased from four to three out
of seven directors on the board of directors of Weijing Medical (“Weijing
Medical Board”). As a result, Kangji Hong Kong will cease to be able
to appoint a majority of members on the Weijing Medical Board and
lose control over Weijing Medical. Upon the aforementioned change in
board composition becoming effective, Weijing Medical will cease to be
a subsidiary of the Company and the financial results of Weijing Medical
will no longer be consolidated into the consolidated financial statements
of the Company, and the Company’s retained interests in Weijing
Medical will be accounted for as an investment in an associate in the
consolidated financial statements of the Company. This deconsolidation
of Weijing Medical does not involve any change of equity interest held
by the shareholders of Weijing Medical and Kangji Hong Kong remains
to hold 35% equity interests in Weijing Medical. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated March 20, 2024 for further
information

Save for those specified above and therein, no significant event occurred
since the end of the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report.

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to the Shareholders,
management team, employees, business partners and customers of the
Group for their support and contribution to the Group.

By order of the Board

ZHONG Ming
Chairman of the Board

Hangzhou, PRC
March 20, 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report
contained in the Company’s annual report for the year ended December
31, 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of Shareholders of the Company
and to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the CG Code as its own code of corporate governance.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer” below, the Company has complied with all the applicable code
provisions of the CG Code during the Reporting Period. The Board will
review the corporate governance structure and practices from time to
time and shall make necessary arrangements when the Board considers
appropriate.

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business and
performance. The Board has delegated the authority and responsibility
for day-to-day management and operation of the Group to the senior
management of the Group. To oversee particular aspects of the
Company'’s affairs, the Board has established four Board committees
including the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee”), the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the “Remuneration Committee”) and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Committee (the “ESG Committee”) (together, the “Board
Committees”). The Board has delegated to these Board Committees
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out their duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of
the Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage in respect

of liability arising from legal action against the Directors, and will conduct
annual review on such insurance coverage.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

During the year ended December 31, 2023 and at the date of this annual
report, the Board comprised the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman)
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang
Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC (resigned on September 15, 2023)

Mr. YIN Zixin

Non-executive Director

Ms. CAI Li

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. JIANG Feng
Mr. GUO Jian
Mr. CHEN Weibo

Ms. Frances Fang Chovanec (“Ms. Chovanec”) had resigned as an
executive Director, the chief financial officer of the Company and a
member of the Company’s environmental, social and governance
committee, as she would like to attend to personal matters and pursue
other opportunities while devoting time to her role as consultant of
the Company. Ms. Chovanec had been engaged as a consultant to
the Company from September 15, 2023 to December 31, 2023. Ms.
Chovanec has confirmed that she has no disagreement with the Board
and there are no matters in relation to her resignation or termination of
appointment that need to be brought to the attention of the Shareholders
and the Stock Exchange.

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed
“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has met the requirements of
Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment
of at least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one
possessing appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.

The Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
which relates to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board. Each of the independent non-
executive Directors has confirmed his/her independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers each of them to be
independent.
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We have adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance the
quality of its performance. The Board Diversity Policy provides that the
Company should endeavour to ensure that the Board members have the
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
that are required to support the execution of its business strategy.
Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, we seek to achieve Board diversity
through the consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited
to professional experience, skills, knowledge, gender, age, cultural and
education background, ethnicity and length of service. The Nomination
Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy from time to time to
ensure its continued effectiveness and monitor and report annually in
the corporate governance report about the implementation of the Board
Diversity Policy.

Save as disclosed in the biographies of the Directors as set out in the
section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report,
none of the Directors has any personal relationship (including financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationship) with any other
Directors or any chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge
and expertise to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning.
Independent non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee.

The Board recognises the importance of gender diversity in both the
Board and workforce level. The Group employs staff by talents and
respect its staff's personal choices, regardless of gender, age, religion,
nationality etc. As at December 31, 2023, the gender ratio in the Board
is male 71.4% to female 28.6%, whereas the overall gender ratio in the
workforce (including senior management) is male 38.8% to female 61.2%.

As regards the code provision under the CG Code requiring directors to
disclose the number and nature of offices held in public companies or
organizations and other significant commitments as well as their identity
and the time involved to the issuer, the Directors have agreed to disclose
their commitments to the Company in a timely manner.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All newly appointed Directors would be provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and businesses as well as their responsibilities
under relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also
arranges regular seminars to provide the Directors with updates on latest
development and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal
and regulatory requirements from time to time. The Directors are also
provided with regular updates on the Company’s performance, position
and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director to
discharge their duties.

The Company encourages continuous professional development training
for all the Directors to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
company secretary of the Company update and provide the Directors
with written training materials in relation to their roles, functions and
duties from time to time.

According to the information provided by the Directors, the training
received by the Directors during the year ended December 31, 2023 is
summarized as follows:
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Nature of continuous
professional development courses

Name of Directors EEHA FESXRRRAENLE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. ZHONG Ming (Chairman) BRLEE (EFLR) C
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang REIRLZ T ©
Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC Frances Fang CHOVANEC
(resigned on September 15, 2023) (&%) &+t

(722023495 154 ##1E) A B, C
Mr. YIN Zixin FEHELE ©
Non-executive Director EHRITES
Ms. CAI Li Ediilpogun C
Independent Non-executive Directors BIERITES
Mr. JIANG Feng Zlg s ©
Mr. GUO Jian MWERLEE C
Mr. CHEN Weibo FRTER S C
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Notes:

A: attending seminars or conferences

B: attending training provided by lawyers or training related to the
Company’s business

C: reading materials on various topics, including corporate

governance, responsibilities of directors, the Listing Rules and

other related regulations
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual.

The chairman and chief executive officer of the Company are held by
Mr. ZHONG Ming who is one of the founders of the Group and has been
operating and managing the Group since its establishment.

The Board considers that vesting the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer in the same person is more efficient in the direction and
management of the Company and does not impair the balance of power
and authority of the Board and the management of the business of the
Company. The Board will review the corporate governance structure and
practices from time to time and shall make necessary arrangements when
the Board considers appropriate.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors, except for Mr. YIN Zixin, has entered into
a three year service contract with the Company and effective from their
respective appointment dates and subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meetings of the Company. Mr. YIN Zixin has
entered into a service contract with the Company for his appointment
as an executive Director for an initial term from his date of appointment
until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment,
and thereafter subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at annual
general meetings of the Company. Each of the service contracts will
continue until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either party on the other.

Each of the non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company
which commenced from their respective appointment dates for an initial
term of three years and thereafter (subject to re-election as and when
required under the Articles of Association), and are subject to termination
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the appointment letters.

The Directors shall have power at any time and from time to time to
appoint any person to be a Director, either to fill a casual vacancy or
as an addition to the existing Directors. Any Director so appointed shall
hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election at that meeting, but shall not be taken into
account in determining the number of Directors and which Directors are
to retire by rotation at such meeting.

At every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the
Directors for the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than, one-third, shall
retire from office by rotation, provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall retain office until
the close of the meeting at which he retires and shall be eligible for re-
election thereat. The Company at any annual general meeting at which
any Directors retire may fill the vacated office by electing a like number of
persons to be Directors.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board’s composition, and for
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-election
and succession planning of Directors.
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BOARD MEETINGS

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings regularly, at
least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
of no less than fourteen days are given for all regular Board meetings to
provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters in
the agenda for a regular meeting.

For other Board meetings and Board Committee meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given by the Company. The agenda and accompanying
Board papers are dispatched at least three days before the Board
meetings or Board Committee meetings to ensure that the Directors
have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately prepared
for the meetings. When Directors or committee members are unable to
attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be discussed and
given an opportunity to make their views known to the Chairman prior
to the meeting. Minutes of meetings shall be kept by the joint company
secretary with copies circulated to all Directors for information and
records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings are
recorded in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board
and the Board Committees and the decisions reached, including any
concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting
and Board Committee meeting are/will be sent to the Directors for
comments within a reasonable time after the date on which the meeting
is held. The minutes of the Board meetings are open for inspection by all
Directors.
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During the Reporting Period, one general meeting was held and 4 Board
meetings were held and the attendance of individual Director at the Board
meetings and the general meeting are set out in the table below:
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Number of

Actual Attendance
at Board Meetings/
Number of Required
Attendance at
Board Meetings

Number of

Actual Attendance
at General Meeting/
Number of Required
Attendance at
General Meeting

BHEESRSE BHERR

EERY ELHRE RKERYELE

Directors == EEGERERY BERAKERH

Mr. ZHONG Ming ER et 4/4 1/1

Ms. SHENTU Yinguang BRERNZ L 4/4 1/1
Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC Frances Fang CHOVANEC

(resigned on September 15, 2023) (&5 z+

(7£20234F9/5 16 H FF1F) 2/2 1/1

Mr. YIN Zixin FEHBELE 4/4 1/1

Ms. CAI Li g7 kognn 4/4 1/1

Mr. JIANG Feng Zlg ks 4/4 1/1

Mr. GUO Jian Elfepais 4/4 1/1

Mr. CHEN Weibo RER et 4/4 11

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C8 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, all of them have confirmed that they have complied with the
Model Code and the Written Guidelines during the year ended December
31, 2023. No incident of non-compliance of the Written Guidelines by the
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of the
Company was noted by the Company.
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DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors could have recourse to
seek independent professional advice in performing their duties at the
Company’s expense. Directors are encouraged to access and to consult
with the Company’s senior management independently and separately
from the Board, but will not rely purely on information provided voluntarily
by the Company’s senior management and will make further enquiries
when necessary.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group are
delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions and
responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board. Approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions entered into
by the management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board confirmed that corporate governance should be the collective
responsibility of the Directors, which includes:

(a) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the codes of conduct and
compliance manuals applicable to employees and the Directors;

(d) to develop and review the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, make recommendations and report on

related issues to the Board; and

(e) to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established four committees under the Board
pursuant to the corporate governance practice requirements under the
Listing Rules, including the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee,
Nomination Committee and ESG Committee.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors Mr. CHEN Weibo and Mr. JIANG Feng and one non-executive
Director Ms. CAIl Li. Mr. CHEN Weibo, being the chairman of the Audit
Committee, is appropriately qualified as required under Rules 3.10(2) and
3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Audit
Committee’s major duties and powers include:

1. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment, and/or removal of the external auditor, and approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external
auditor, and consider any questions of resignation or dismissal of
that auditor;

2. monitor the integrity of financial statements, annual reports
and accounts, interim reports and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them;

& oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk
management and internal control procedures; and

4. perform the Company’s corporate governance functions,
including reviewing and monitoring the Company’s policies and
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements,
and the training and continuous professional development of
Directors and senior management.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the management
the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2023. The Audit Committee considered that the annual results are
in compliance with the applicable accounting standards, laws and
regulations, and the Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.
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During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings to
mainly discuss and consider the following: review the audited financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2022 and the related
disclosures included in the annual report; review the interim financial
statements and the interim report for the six months ended June 30,
2023; make recommendation to the Board on the reappointment and
approve the remuneration of the external auditor; review the Company’s
financial reporting process, risk management, internal control system and
internal audit function.

The attendance of these meetings by the Audit Committee members is
set out in the table below:

REEARN BRZEZESERT3NgEN
Iiﬁm&%FuTW@ ERIE E2022
F12B31HEFENKBEZBERRT UK
FERETHMENEREEEN  BERAEE
20234 6H30H LE/NEB MR R *
R HRER & 5 BEEE & E O S0 A% BET R L
EHHFWNOEESREES  BERARQH
PHERESEFR REEE - R ZE6HE K
WE‘B% D-I—Hgtﬁbo

EERZTEENEHEZSE
RTE:

THENERE

Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors Bl BHERYFEHERE
Mr. CHEN Weibo [ R So & 3/3
Mr. JIANG Feng Zlg5E 3/3
Ms. CAI Li Exa il ogu 3/3

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director Mr. ZHONG
Ming and two independent non-executive Directors Mr. JIANG Feng
and Mr. GUO Jian. Mr. ZHONG Ming is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are available on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The Nomination
Committee has the following duties and powers:

1. review the structure, number and composition (including the
skills, knowledge, experience and diversity) of the Board at least
annually and make recommendations on any proposed changes
to the Board to complement the Company’s strategy;

2. identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

& assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;
4. make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or

reappointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors,
in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer;
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(55 review the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as may be adopted
by the Board from time to time and to review the progress on
achieving the objectives; and

6. where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, the
reasons why the Board believe he/she should be elected and the
reasons why the Board consider the individual to be independent
should be set out in the circular to Shareholders and/or an
explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the relevant
general meeting.

The Nomination Committee assesses, selects, and recommends
candidates for directors to the Board on criteria such as credibility,
success, and experience in the Company’s industry, time available to
be invested, benefits of sectors represented by the candidates, and the
diversity the candidates will bring to the Board. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee will then be put to the Board for decision.

During the Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting
to discuss and consider the following: make recommendations to the
Board on the reappointment of Directors; assess the independence of
independent non-executive Directors; and review the Board Diversity
Policy.

The attendance of the meeting by the Nomination Committee members is
set out in the table below:
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Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors HEESEH4 BHERY EHERHK
Mr. ZHONG Ming $BIB S 11
Mr. JIANG Feng Elg sk 11
Mr. GUO Jian MESE 11
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. CHEN Weibo and Mr. GUO Jian, and one executive
Director, namely Ms. SHENTU Yinguang. Mr. CHEN Weibo is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are available
on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company. The
Remuneration Committee shall have the following duties and powers:

1. make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and
transparent procedure for developing remuneration policy;

2. review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals
with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

3. determine, with delegated responsibility from the Board, the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, including any compensation payable for
loss or termination of their office or appointment;

4, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

B, consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the Group, assess performance of executive
Directors, approve the terms of executive Directors and service
contracts;

6. review and approve the compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

7. review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise
reasonable and appropriate; and

8. ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his/her own
remuneration.
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Corporate Governance Report

During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee held 1
meeting to discuss and consider the following: review and approve the
remuneration payable to the Directors and senior management for the
year ended December 31, 2022; and make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration of Directors and senior management for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

Attendance of the members of the Remuneration Committee at the
meeting is set out in the table below:

EXERKRS

REBEEHERN FNEETERTIRNEE
Ul RZEZBUTAR  BRRILEHZE
2022F12B31HIEFEENEEASHKE
BRENHFN ;, KB E2023F12H31H Lt
FENEERSREEENFINESS
M ES -

BFMEZETRELFZTZNBREN
&

Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors HEEEHUS BHERY FEHERH
Mr. CHEN Weibo FRE R e 1/1
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang BREIRNZ L 1/1
Mr. GUO Jian PWESE 11

ESG COMMITTEE

The Company has established the ESG Committee under the Board
in December 2021. The ESG Committee comprises three executive
Directors, namely Mr. ZHONG Ming, Ms. SHENTU Yinguang, Ms. Frances
Fang CHOVANEC (resigned on September 15, 2023) and Mr. YIN Zixin
(with effect from September 15, 2023). Mr. ZHONG Ming is the chairman
of the ESG Committee.

The ESG Committee has the following duties and powers:

1. guide and supervise the Company’s ESG related management
direction, strategies, key issues and ESG policy targets;

2. ensure the establishment of effective and appropriate ESG risk
management and internal control systems, and evaluate ESG
related risks and opportunities;

3. supervise the management of ESG related matters by
management of the Company and regularly evaluate the
Company’s achievement of ESG related targets; and

4. approve the ESG reports of the Company and other ESG related
disclosures, and regularly report to and make recommendations
to the Board.

ESGZET

ESGAA T R2021F128 %L EEFESG
LZEC-ESGZECERE=-RUITES
BISfc £~ RE R X+ ~Frances Fang
CHOVANEC (f& %) &+ (722023FE9815H
BT RFBEELLE (B2023F9H15HESE
W) BB SEE AESGEEE I FE o

ESGEEERA NI EEKEN
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EEERKRS

During the Reporting Period, the ESG Committee held 1 meeting to
discuss and consider the following: discuss and determine the Group’s
ESG risks and opportunities, and make decisions on important ESG
management work for the year; identify the risks and opportunities
brought by climate change to the Group’s future business operations,
assess the possibility and impact of relevant risks and opportunities, and
formulate targeted response plans and measures, and approve the ESG
report of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Attendance of the members of the ESG Committee at the meeting is set
out in the table below:

RIREMBAN  ESCGEE ST E M1XN T & LT
HREEUTHR  SiHmItEEAERT
ESGHEMEKAEE  HEEEEESGE
BIEETRE, A REZLHAER
RREFEBEH R E R A E > T4
RIS AENTEE R ERE T E
BN EREEE BB U R EE
F2022F 12831 HIEFERN A& A STESGHR

==
= °

ESGEEEMELNRFEZNBERHIN TR

Number of attendance/
required attendance

Name of Directors HEEEHS BHERYFEHERE
Mr. ZHONG Ming IS YE i1
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang RREIRLZ T 1/1
Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC Frances Fang CHOVANEC (F&%5) %+

(resigned on September 15, 2023) (382023495 15 H F#1E) 1/1
Mr. YIN Zixin (with effect from September 15, 2023) FRB&EHE (B2023F9515H L 54) 0/0

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company during the year ended
December 31, 2023 is set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The remuneration of senior management of the Company (their
biographies are set out on pages 26 to 36 of this annual report) for the
year ended December 31, 2023 falls under the following bands:

EZMEREEEFHMN

KATEENE E2023F12831HLEEE
HEMFME RE N G BEIRERM sE8 -

HE20283F12A31HILEFE  ARTENE
HEERE (HEZBREHN KEHRFE26E36
B) NS SHREHIWMT :

Number of individuals

Band of remuneration i & E 4/ A
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000 7T 4
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 77t £ 2,500,000 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7t £ 3,000,0007 75 3
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2023 which give
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the Group
and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided the Board with such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the
Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the auditor regarding their reporting responsibilities on
the consolidated financial statements of the Company is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 169 to 171 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company does not have a specific dividend policy or a
predetermined dividend payout ratio. The determination to pay dividends
in the future would be made at the discretion of the Board and would
be based on the Group’s profits, cash flows, financial condition, capital
requirements and other conditions that the Board deems relevant. The
payment of dividends may be limited by other legal restrictions and
agreements that the Group may enter into in the future.

EXERKRS
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EEERKRS

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board
for maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard
Shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing the
effectiveness of such system on an annual basis. Such systems are
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance that there will be no material misrepresentation or losses.

The Board takes responsibilities for the risk management and internal
control systems and is responsible for reviewing the effectiveness of such
systems. The Audit Committee, as delegated by the Board, has reviewed
the effectiveness of the internal control systems of the Group for the
Reporting Period, which covered all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has newly established an internal
audit department with increased professional team members to perform
the internal audit function, which is responsible for the improvement of
the risk management policies and the implementation of risk management
practices, and regularly report the relevant work to the Board and the
Audit Committee. In order to standardize the risk management across
the Group and establish standards of transparency and risk management
performance, the internal audit department is responsible to (i) collect
data on risks related to their operation and work; (i) conduct risk
assessment, including the identification, categorization, measurement
and prioritization of all major risks which may have potential impacts
on achieving their objectives; (iii) regularly report to management on the
implementation of risk management and internal control policies; (iv)
continuously monitor major risks related to the Company’s operations;
(v) implement appropriate risk response measures where necessary; and
(vi) formulate and implement appropriate mechanisms to facilitate the
application of the risk management framework.

The Group has developed and adopted internal control process with
defined rights and responsibilities for each key business and function
department, including sales and collection management, procurement
and payment management, production and inventory management,
R&D management, fixed assets management, human resources and
remuneration management, capital management, contract management
and information system management. The internal audit department is
responsible for conducting independent reviews on the effectiveness
of the design and implementation of the Group’s internal control
system, inspecting major matters related with accounting practices
and all material controls, and providing the auditee with its findings
and suggestions for improvement, and regularly reporting to the Audit
Committee.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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The Company has set up policies for information disclosure, providing
comprehensive guidance to Directors, senior management and relevant
employees of the Company on handling confidential data, overseeing
data disclosure and responding to enquiries. The Company has
implemented control procedures to ensure that unauthorized access to
and use of inside information are strictly prohibited.

The Board has annually reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal control systems through the Audit Committee,
including the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience
of the above systems and accounting and financial reporting and internal
auditing functions of the Group, as well as the adequacy of training
programmes and budget for the above staffs. The Board was of the
view that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems,
including financial, operational and compliance control, were effective and
adequate during the Reporting Period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The auditor’s approximate remuneration in respect of the audit and non-
audit services provided to the Company for the year ended December 31,
2023 is as follows:

EXERKRS

FABERECEERERER REAFE
F PREEBKEHRESRERTHE
EEHERBEKROBEEARMEEES -
FAATREERERRER  BEBRBRELE
RERBNBERTERRERARSHE -

EXOESFARERZE GRS AEER
REERAEER RERWEE S5 Lt
RMNAEE Gt RMBFRE  RBREE
MER - BITEERECREEEN UKkt
HRETHNEIREREERESRE-EF
ERB/AEEEN RS HIAYEREE R A
ERIRG (BREMH SERGREN BAY
K e

% K EM AN &=

ZEEMNE E2023F 12831 H L FEHM
BARNBRENZENRIEFZBRE BN
MEEymT

Amount

(RMB’ 000)

Bt

Type of services BRFS 48R (ANR¥F )

Audit services Z B AR5 2,750
Non-audit services: IERZBRTS ©

- Consulting services —sB AR 142

Total st 2,892

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. WAN Siu Keung (“Mr. Wan”), the company secretary of the Company,
is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on corporate
governance matters, and ensuring compliance with the policies and
procedures of the Board and applicable laws, rules and regulations.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, Mr. Wan had undertaken no less
than 15 hours of relevant professional training in compliance with Rule
3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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EEERKRS

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and understanding of the
Group’s business, performance, and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of timely and non-selective disclosure of
information on the Company for the Shareholders and investors to make
informed investment decisions.

The AGMs provide opportunity for Shareholders to communicate directly
with the Directors. The chairman of the Company and the chairmen of
the Board Committees of the Company will attend the AGMs to answer
Shareholders’ questions. The auditor will also attend the AGMs to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditor’s report, the accounting policies, and auditor’s independence.

To promote effective communication and to build an inter-relationship and
communication channel between the Company and the Shareholders, the
Company adopts the Shareholders’ communication policy to ensure the
Shareholders are provided with equal and timely access to information
about the Company and enable them to exercise their rights in an
informed manner and to allow them to engage actively with the Company.
The policy sets out various communication strategies, including corporate
communication, corporate website, and Shareholders being provided with
designed contacts, email addresses and enquiry telephone number of the
Company in order to enable them to make any query.

The Company maintains a website at www.kangjimedical.com, where
the up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments, financial information, corporate governance practices, and
other information are available for public access.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution
will be proposed for each issue at general meetings, including the
election of individual directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted on by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely manner
after each general meeting.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

BRRNBERKREERMA

FRABRD BRENANEEHMNRER
BEERANEREETRAEENES
RERRBIIFREE - A RABTRERF
SFEEMMNBAATDEN UHRKRERK
BREEMFLABRERRNEE E -

RRBEFASRERTREEZTERBEEN
BME - XRBAEEFRARFABDREFTES
EEIRBLHERRBEFAETHRERRIE
Bl ZBMTREHERRBEFAE  LFEE
EMBESTE REMKRSHRRRAST
G BR R Z BB I MBI o

HIEEBUNEBRBILARAFHERKRERRN
HEMFBEREBEE ARATDRMRRBAEK
R LUEMRRRAIFE s MR HERA FA
RAMEN  ERFAITEANBEL <R
FRBRALTAT - Z BRI K EEA
R QEQADBEE AR LkAR
RIRHHMBL A - BEEMU R EHEE SR
B UEREREERNES-

QT %A ik (www.kangjimedical.com)
WERBLETSEMEEXEBEEREREN
BRMEN - BEHEBE - EEAERREM
B UEARALTERC

AR REF

RmRERRENM D REN > ZARTERK
RAEGLMEIFE (BEERENES) =

D i i e
EWIURZER-

RREAE LRENMARBRRBE(L
TR URBELLETRR REGRE
RERRAEGRETEARFRAERTRER
PRAEIETIE -



Corporate Governance Report

During the Reporting Period, the Company has amended its Articles of
Association to bring in line with core shareholder protection standards as
set out in Appendix A1 of the Listing Rules which took effect on January
1, 2022, to allow a general meeting to be held as an electronic meeting
(also referred to as virtual general meeting) and to incorporate certain
minor housekeeping amendments.

CONVENING AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

According to the Articles of Association, the Shareholders may
put forward proposals at the general meetings of the Company for
consideration. Any one or more Shareholder(s) of the Company holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to
the Board or the joint company secretaries of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be convened by the Company for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition. If within 21 days
of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves) may do so in the same
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board to convene such general meeting shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the website of the Company.

ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board may send their enquiries to the Office of the Board
at the Company’s headquarters through telephone at +86 571 6990 0020
and email at ir@kangji.com.

AMENDMENTS TO CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENT

The Company had adopted the second amended and restated Articles of
Association of the Company with effect from May 25, 2023.
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IR ERERHRS

ABOUT THIS REPORT
Report Overview

This report is the fourth ESG report issued by Kangji Medical Holdings
Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Group” or “we” or “Kangji
Medical”), focusing on disclosing the ESG management and performance
of the Group. This report is an annual report covering the work during
2023, part of the contents of which may cover previous years or be
extended to 2024 as applicable.

Preparation Basis

This report is prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide set out in
Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (hereinafter referred to as “HKEX” or the “Stock Exchange”) and
with reference to the recommendations of the Sustainability Standards
issued by the Global Reporting Initiative (GRI). Such procedures include
identifying and ranking main stakeholders, identifying and ranking material
ESG-related issues, determining the scope of ESG reporting, collecting
relevant materials and data, preparing the report based on the materials,
and examining the information in the report.

Reporting Scope

The policy documents, statements, and data in this report cover the
headquarters of the Group and its subsidiaries, unless otherwise
specified. The previous data quoted in this report are the final statistics,
and the financial data in this report are denominated in RMB.

Reliability Guarantees

After being confirmed by the management, this report was passed by the
Board on 20 March 2024. The Group ensures that this report contains
no false records, misleading statements, or significant omissions.
We undertake to be responsible for the authenticity, accuracy, and
completeness of this report.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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ESG Reporting Principles

Materiality principle: Engage in communication and exchange with
various stakeholders in different forms to conduct benchmarking analysis
on the issues disclosed in the ESG reports of companies in the industry
in accordance with the ESG Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange and
other relevant regulatory requirements. By aligning these findings with the
Group's actual managerial practices, we ultimately identified and selected
the material ESG issues.

Balance principle: This report impartially discloses both positive and
negative information to ensure a fair representation of the Company's
ESG performance during the Reporting Period.

Quantitative principle: Develop a set of ESG metrics across our
departments to conduct regular statistics on key quantitative disclosure
indicators for all "Environmental" and "Social" categories as outlined
in the ESG Reporting Guide and summarize and disclose them at the
end of the year. Meanwhile, all related quantitative indicators have clear
statistical calibers, detailed calculation methods and explanations (data
and percentages disclosed in this report that do not add up to the
sum of the values presented or any inconsistencies in the percentage
calculations due to rounding).

Consistency principle: The disclosure scope of this report has not been
significantly adjusted compared with the Group’s annual report, and the
disclosure and statistical methods remain consistent with the previous
year.

Access and Response to this Report

Traditional Chinese and English versions of this report are available.
The electronic version of this report can be obtained from the “Financial
Statements/Environmental, Social and Governance Information”
category of Kangji Medical on the Stock Exchange’s website and the
“Investor Relations” section of the Group’s official website (http://www.
kangjimedical.com). If you have any questions or suggestions on the
content of this report, please contact us by the following means:

Tel: (+86) 571-69900020
E-mail: ir@kangji.com
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STATEMENT FROM THE BOARD

The Board attaches great importance to the sustainable development
performance of the Group, insisting on providing innovative, high-quality,
and affordable products and services to customers and balancing
the Group’s impact on the environment and society with its business
objectives through the development of effective strategies. The Board
has established an ESG Committee responsible for assisting the
Board in reviewing the Group’s ESG-related strategies and monitoring
the implementation of ESG initiatives, which include determining the
Group’s important ESG issues, reviewing the Group’s outlook, strategies,
frameworks, principles, and policies on ESG issues, reviewing and
monitoring ESG practices, overseeing the achievement of the Group’s
objectives, and ensuring that ESG issues to comply with the Group’s
development strategy. The ESG Committee reports on these matters to
and discusses them with the Board every half year through meetings.

We also attach great importance to the expectations and demands
of internal and external stakeholders, communicate closely with
stakeholders through regular or irregular events, identify and assess
material ESG issues, and discuss and review them at the Board meeting.
Based on the external macro environment, industry development trends,
and its own development strategies, the Board discusses and determines
the Group’s ESG risks and opportunities and makes decisions on
important ESG management work for the year.

The Board pays close attention to global and local climate change
developments, engaging in ongoing discussions about the risks and
opportunities that climate change may pose to the Group's business
operations. Based on the assessment results of the likelihood and
impact of these risks and opportunities, the Board has discussed and
formulated a comprehensive strategy for the Group to address climate
change, aligning with the expectations of shareholders, customers and
the community for the Group's low-carbon development. During the
Reporting Period, we have reviewed and evaluated the progress towards
our environmental targets, ensuring our corresponding measures are
on track with the national goals of peaking carbon emissions by 2030
and achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. For details, please refer to the
section headed "Green Operations" of this report.
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ABOUT US

Founded in 2004 and listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange in 2020, Kangji Medical is a leading enterprise in China's
minimally invasive surgery sector, dedicated to providing a comprehensive
solution for minimally invasive surgical operations that encompasses
"equipment + instruments + consumables + surgical robots" for
doctors and patients worldwide. As a high-tech enterprise integrating
R&D, manufacturing and sales, Kangji Medical remains steadfast in
its commitment to the product R&D ethos of "originating from clinical
practice to clinical application" and "co-creation and co-construction with
industry, academia and research". By cultivating a distinctive ecosystem
for academic training and knowledge dissemination, we have not only
propelled the advancement and widespread adoption of minimally
invasive surgical techniques in China but also made our own contribution
to the development of the global minimally invasive surgical instrument
industry.

In the future, Kangji Medical will maintain its focus on the in-depth
application of cutting-edge minimally invasive surgical technologies in
the medical device manufacturing sector. We are set to promote self-
driven innovation in minimally invasive surgical technology, expanding and
refining our product portfolio and accelerating the iterative updates of our
products to deliver all-encompassing, trustworthy and accessible product
solutions to our users.

As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Group has extended its
services to 127 international clients across 58 countries and regions,
serving over 3,500 hospitals nationwide. Meanwhile, we have established
long-term industry-academia-research collaborations with many of
China's top-tier Class IlIA hospitals, pushing forward the advancement of
minimally invasive surgical technologies in China and globally, benefiting
patients around the world.
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Major Honours

In 2023, the list of honours received by the Group is as follows:

Honour

FRERE

Zhejiang Little Giant Enterprise of
Science and Technology

LA R NE AR

Zhejiang Province-backed
Academician and Expert
Workstation

1B EM R ER TR

Hangzhou Headquarters Enterprise
TN AT AR ER 1 25

2023 Leading Manufacturing
Enterprises of Tonglu County

2023 F EAEMRIEEBMEE

2023 Top 10 Scientific and
Technological Innovation
Enterprises of Tonglu County

2023F EAREMBHR AR+ EE

2023 Leading Manufacturing
Enterprises of Tonglu County in
Per Mu Contribution

2023 F B EH B S EMIER
EmhE

Gold Medal for Carbon Neutrality
and Sustainability (Healthcare)

IRPAMEAFEERER
(BRMREZE)

Hang Seng ESG Rating BBB+
1B 4EESGET4kBBB+

TERE

Awarding Authority
RIS

Department of Science and
Technology of Zhejiang Province

LA R 22 T EE

Coordinating Group for the
Construction of Zhejiang
Province Academician and Expert
Workstation

MM IERTERTELER A
/A

Leadership Group for Headquarters
Economic Development of

Hangzhou
U AR ER AR 3% R TS /4R

Tonglu County Committee of the
Communist Party of China,
People's Government of Tonglu
County

FR 4 5 R 2 ~ 1R A A R IBURT

Tonglu County Committee of the
Communist Party of China,
People's Government of Tonglu
County

FR AR R #A 2 AR E R A R BN

Tonglu County Committee of the
Communist Party of China,
People's Government of Tonglu
County

rh 4R [ R 2 ~ 1 A A\ R BUR

Greater Bay Area Economic and
Trade Association
AEEKEHE

Hong Kong Quality Assurance
Agency (HKQAA)
HHEmBRERHKQAA)

2023F E AEBAEREIRNT !

Issue Date

5 3% 5 il

January 2023
2023/01

October 2023
2023/10

August 2023
2023/08

March 2024
2024/03

March 2024
2024/03

March 2024
2024/03

December 2023
2023/12

September 2023
2023/09
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ESG GOVERNANCE

Kangji Medical actively takes on corporate social responsibility by
integrating the concept of ESG into its daily business activities and
management and incorporating ESG risks into the Group’s risk
management system to promote the coordinated and sustainable
development of the Group and society, laying a solid foundation for the
Group's long-term development.

ESG Governance Structure

Kangji Medical has established a three-tier ESG governance structure at
the governance level, management level and execution level, composed
of the Board, the ESG Committee and the ESG Working Group, with a
clear division of responsibilities and coordination at all levels.

o The Board, as the highest responsible body in the ESG
governance structure, is responsible for the review and approval
of all ESG matters;

o The ESG Committee under the Board, as the core body in the
ESG governance structure, is authorized by the Board to oversee
the implementation of ESG policies and measures;

. The ESG Working Group, as the main coordination and execution
body in the ESG governance structure, is responsible for the
implementation of various ESG measures.
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ESG Governance Structure of Kangji Medical

REBRESGE ALE
Governance level |
RIEE
Management level ESG Committee Ms. Shentu Yinguang
BIEE ESGEE® FRERNZ T
_______________ Mr. Yin Zixin
FHELRE

Board of Directors Mr. Zhong Ming

EFg

Bkt
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Stakeholder Engagement

Kangji Medical is committed to building a good cooperative relationship
with stakeholders, striving to achieve mutually beneficial outcomes. To
understand the expectations and demands of stakeholders promptly
and comprehensively, we actively identify stakeholders who are closely
related to the Group's development based on our business scope
and the nature of production and operations. We expand diverse
communication channels, establish immediate, effective and long-term
communication mechanisms, and actively respond to stakeholders
through concrete actions. During the Reporting Period, we maintained
close communication with stakeholders, using various offline and online
methods to encourage stakeholders' engagement in significant decision-
making and other strategic planning, helping the Group to formulate
more effective management decisions and continuously improve the ESG
management standard.

The stakeholders that are important to the Group’s business operations
and the methods of communication and response are shown in the table
below:

Stakeholders Main Issues of Concern
MR

Shareholders/Investors

REREERE

Medical inclusiveness
Anti-corruption
Product safety and quality

REREE B
&

Product safety and quality
Medical inclusiveness

Government/Regulators

BT, B B EmZrHEE
BEREE

A1 AR
RESEERE

Product safety and quality
Technology and innovation
Supply chain management

Suppliers

HER EmXEHEE
T EL R

HEEEE

Intellectual property protection

Intellectual property protection
Climate change management

RIE-HEREGHRS

ARG R

REBRIOINENDEALTHAREER
FHEFERE BHERERZR - RRE
BExmE#t TR EAERSOBEMFR
EMPERESEBREREELE RS
BBHASERERERHENH =
S IhREZTEEBRE BUBER
B REBBEKS > I UERITEHEE
[EFEF AR o AR A > RN =
HELTRFERBEE BBRRTHNRLS
BN mER L2 RBERRRE
HEREGFE UBHEERFEER MW
EERRIFFERTTESGE K F -

HAEEXFEEEZNN DB RE
WmARED W T :

Methods of Engagement
and Response

BBEEEAR

Shareholder general meetings
Regular reports and
announcements

Investor meetings/Phone/Video
conferences

Results announcements
On-site visits

Investor’s hotline

PN

EHRERASE
CEEREY BiEHEEE
EEEMmE

RS2 8

KREEABHRE

On-site visits and meetings
Policy implementation

Official correspondence
Information disclosure

RS2 EREE

BRAT

AEELS

SRR
Phone/Email/WeChat/Questionnaire
Supplier meetings
Investigations and visits
Assessment on suppliers

B BIMiE S
HEB SR
A E

e
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Stakeholders

i AERR 75

Customers/Distributors

2R/ RHEE

Partners

aIEBH

Doctors/Patients

B4 BE

Employees

Media/Social organization

HEE 1t EEs

Community/Public

Sl PN

Main Issues of Concern
AN ETERE

Medical inclusiveness
Responsible marketing
Product safety and quality
Technology and innovation

BEREZE

BEEEH

EmZtHEs

£ i B2 81

Product safety and quality
Intellectual property protection
Collaborative industry growth
Anti-corruption

EmZtiEsg
R 58 2 RE R o
TEHREEE
REB

Product safety and quality
Responsible marketing
Technology and innovation
Anti-corruption
EmZrlER
BEEEH

% i £ 8l

REE

Employee welfare and
compensation

Employee rights and interests
protection

Occupational health and safety
Talent development

B T a7 B 55 Bl

BT RE
BERERNZE

AAER

Technology and innovation
Exhaust emission management
Medical inclusiveness

Product safety and quality

2 15 BB

BERBEME IR

BEREEE

EmZrHER

Exhaust emission management
Wastewater/waste management
Occupational health and safety
Public welfare and charity
EERBEE IR

BEN BEEMHMERE
BERENZE

HE R

Methods of Engagement
and Response

BEECEA N

Phone/Email/WeChat/
Questionnaires

Academic promotion
Distributor meetings
Training

Ted B WIS BEE
MR

S

=3I
Phone/Email/WeChat/
Questionnaires

On-site visits and meetings

BiE/ B MiE/BE
RG2EBERGE

Training
Industry meetings

ok

pva
=)
T

N
e

=113

=
=

%

Phone/Email/WeChat/Questionnaires
Internal meetings

Employee activity

Communication and engagement
with employees

Training

B BB,/ MiE BB

==}
==
A I & &

Press release/Announcements
Interviews
Meetings

LN
*Rah

a5

Community activities
Volunteer services

& &S
S FE AR 75
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Analysis of Material Issues

During the Reporting Period, with reference to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of HKEX and the Sustainability
Reporting Standards of GRI, among other disclosure guidelines, we took
into account the characteristics of the minimally invasive surgery industry
and the actual business situation of the Group to identify and summarize
23 ESG material issues. In 2023, we added collaborative industry growth
as a material issue to reflect the stakeholders' aspirations for the Group
to progress collaboratively within the industry.

Through engaging in policy research, media analysis, industry
benchmarking and questionnaire surveys directed at internal and external
stakeholders, we assessed the materiality of each ESG issue from two
aspects, namely the importance to the Group's strategic operations and
the importance to stakeholders. The assessment results were ranked
and divided into three tiers of materiality: high, moderate and general.
There are 5 issues of high materiality, 17 of moderate materiality, and 1
of general materiality. This report will provide a targeted disclosure of our
responses to these issues, proportionate to their levels of materiality.

RIB - ERERHRS

EEMZREDW

EBREHR > R EEF B (GRE
HEREARREIES)FMGRIAIFELEER
EEE)EEEWBIES SE5MAINETT
ERBRARAERNERSHEBER  #B T
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SEEEMRZRESR NEEEMRZEITER
Uh—REBURET1H ARERBEE
EEEHREREETAHEMENRER
@O

Analysis Process of Material Issues

EEMREINBE

We identify ESG issues based on industry development characteristics and our own

Identification  p, 5iness practices.

B3
FHE o

We conduct external policy research, peer benchmarking analysis, media survey
analysis, and document reviews. We also conduct surveys and interviews with
stakeholders, inviting input from both internal and external stakeholders to assess the

=4k Bl
ERNTEEERMENREEERER  #FIESG
4
Assessment
B o

materiality of each issue. This helps us understand the priority issues that stakeholders
are concerned about, leading to the creation of an analysis matrix of materiality issues.

RRIIBBERAZ TENRON ERFAED TR EREEX A BBF A8 75 B
SR BFRIIEF AR R ZEEEMREETTE TR EEBAAEINE

B HEERBEDITER-
v

Aligning with our strategic planning and business policy, we review and confirm the
preliminary assessment results of these issues; the material issue matrix is then
presented to the management for confirmation of the identified issues' materiality and

Review and
Reporting
WER RS

materiality.

their impact; this report truthfully presents the Group's performance on relevant issues
and provides targeted responses and disclosures that correspond to their level of

EEBBRANECES i HRENYPTEERETRIENESN  REZUEZEER

EREEE BICHNZENEZMERE

TE,ARSTUERREEREEEZE
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IR ERERHRS

= A
High

ESGARRBHESE @
ESG risk and crisis management

=i @

e
Supply chain management

HAUZEMANEEMY
Importance to Stakeholders

Intellectual property protection
[

A
TTHHRER A
Collaborative industry growth O futkexmupii

AHERRE

@ Talent development Occupa

ERR2MBARE @ gk HRUHHER
Information safety and emission

@ privacy protection
@ ETiHERE
Employee rights and interests protection

() © ETEREGH

ESGiAZE
ESG governance

Employee welfare and compensation
. ZRRTE@ Exh?ﬁ%%?on
Diversity and equality management
AEMHEE
Packaging material management @
AREZO®  japEe
Energy management Water resources
management
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© gipetEE
Climate change
management
@ itaA
Public welfare and charity

>
>
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18 HEERMNEEY =

Low Importance to Kangji Medical High

© EhiEd © REEHY @ ERHM @ EIHA © HEEEHE

Governance issue Environmental issue

Medical ;Llcluswveness Intellectual property protection
] £1

Wastewater/waste emission

management
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Product safety uality

Collaborative industry growth
TEHEERE
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HEEREZS

ESG governance
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Climate change management
EEE
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PURSUIT OF QUALITY

Kangji Medical is steadfast in our commitment to a quality policy
that emphasizes "standardized management in line with regulatory
requirements; high-quality services that meet customer needs; quality-
oriented operations for continued growth; and innovative efforts
dedicated to improving human health." We are constantly refining our
quality management systems, consolidating our brand foundation with
high-quality offerings and shaping our brand strategy around the needs of
our customers. By broadening and deepening our customer service, we
strive to continually enhance our customers' satisfaction with the quality
of our products and services.

Product Quality Control

Kangji Medical considers product quality as its cornerstone. We are
dedicated to continually enhancing product quality to offer safe and
reliable products for doctors and patients and create a trustworthy
product quality control system. The Company strictly adheres to the
Regulation on the Supervision and Administration of Medical Devices,
the Regulations of Medical Devices and the Administrative Measures
on the Production of Medical Devices, the Administrative Measures for
the Registration of Medical Devices, the Production Measures and the
Standards on Production and Quality Management of Medical Devices
and the Management for Medical Devices Trials and other management
regulations. In line with international and domestic standards such
as the EU Medical Device Regulation (MDR) and Medical Electrical
Equipment (GB9706.1-2020) standards, we keep the Group's quality
manual and quality procedures up to date in a timely manner to clarify the
responsibilities and authorities of relevant quality control personnel and
promptly identify and resolve any issues that arise so as to ensure that
our products comply with national and industry standards.

Enhancing Quality Control System

Kangji Medical continuously optimizes the quality control system, carrying
out stricter quality management and control over the entire product
lifecycle, including R&D, design, raw material sourcing, manufacturing,
storage and transportation and after-sales service. By continuously
improving the quality control system, honing the management of our
production equipment and establishing a more efficient after-sales
team, the Company further elevates the caliber of our product quality
management. During the Reporting Period, we passed the annual audit of
the 1SO13485 and ISO9001 quality management systems, sustained our
CE certification and are currently engaging in the MDR/FDA registration
process for export products.
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Strengthening Quality Control Measures

Kangji Medical continues to enhance the quality control level across
the entire product process and improve product quality through
diversified quality assurance measures. We have formulated and strictly
implemented control procedures such as the "Product Surveillance
and Measurement Control Procedure", the "Product Release Control
Procedure" and the "Non-conforming Product Control Procedure" to
ensure strict oversight at every stage—from raw material acquisition
to production, final inspection and product release—to prevent any
substandard products from reaching the market. We also address any
identified quality concerns with timely solutions and preventive measures.
In 2023, the Group continued to implement the "Lean Management"
initiative for the production department. We invited external quality control
specialists to conduct research on the current situation of the production
department and carried out corresponding training programs to help
improve workshop production quality and increase the yield of good
products.

Raw Material and
Supplier Management

RR R E R

Product Design and R&D

Ems et E

e Quality risk identification
H A E 2 E
Quality performance
evaluation

R

e Raw material quality

monitoring
R4 #E 25 R
Supplier quality control
HEBESEE

Product Quality Management

s E 2 EEE

REBRFERAERENEAEEEKX
FoRBZRTENEEREREBREAE®
B8 - AP HIE I B AR B i (7 s B AR AR
BERIRERF) (ERBATIERRER) (Fa18
miERIREF) FERREF BERHN EES
B BAmERRERBRITERESET TR
BER BREA SR RAAEH HER
BERMBATRER RS ZATBD B -
2023FE ERHHEERNFIFEHETH
mBRIGE BREEATXEEEESR
REEEMFIRRETAN  LHREE
BIREMPREEBREEEE B E

ERRE.

After-Sales and Feedback

EREARE

e User feedback collection
BAEREBElE

e Customer complaint analysis

ZRERFDN

Process of Kangji Medical

REBRERHETERE

Production Management

SEERE

Production process supervision
EERRRE

Production equipment maintenance

Warehouse Environment
ERHIRIE
e Warehouse environment

management
BRERIEEIE

FERmAEE

Quality inspection at each stage
IRENEEME

Inspection of finished products before
shipment

B fm HH PR A2 A
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Product Design and Development

We follow the Company's "Design and Development Control Procedures”
and continuously adopt the digital Product Lifecycle Management (PLM)
system to establish strict control and verification procedures throughout
our product design and development process. Quality control is enforced
at stages including design input, prototype design, design review and
design transfer, with detailed quality records maintained at each stage to
continuously improve the precision of product design quality control.

o Design Input: Set clear internal and external quality standards
for products and determine specific requirements for product
performance, functionality, durability, etc;

o Prototype Design: Issue a design report that outlines product
standards, product inspection and testing standards, confirmation
of production conditions and other content related to production
processes and operational standards;

o Design Review: The Technical Committee conducts a review
of our product designs to confirm compliance with our quality
benchmarks;

o Design Transfer: Conduct an assessment covering aspects such

as raw materials, production equipment, workshop environment,
operators and inspection criteria to lay a foundation for mass
production while ensuring product quality.

In instances where quality issues emerge during the design process, our
project manager will promptly carry out quality analysis and modifications,
followed by a subsequent round of review, to solidly safeguard the quality
of our product designs.

RIB - ERERHRS
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Raw Materials and Supplier Management

We adhere strictly to our internal procedural standards to standardize the
review of incoming raw materials and strengthen our ongoing supplier
training. During the Reporting Period, we carried out the following
management practices:

. Quality assessments for supplier admission;

. Implementing operation manuals related to raw material
management, specifying the inspection requirements and
standards for various types of raw materials, and requiring
related personnel to retain data and records of these raw material
inspections. In case of any discrepancies found in raw materials,
management personnel are required to promptly notify suppliers
and conduct site visits to continuously track their rectification
progress;

o Sustaining our efforts in supplier training programs, which help
suppliers understand the context in which their products are
used and the required manufacturing processes and conditions,
guiding suppliers to improve supply quality.

Production Management

We place great emphasis on quality control throughout our product
manufacturing processes. We continuously assemble management teams
that possess the necessary operational capabilities and professional
skills tailored to the unique attributes of each product. Quality inspection
specialists are deployed at every critical point in the production line to
ensure stringent quality checks are in place. Moreover, we continue to
leverage digital management systems in our workshops to refine our
product production management down to the individual performance of
each machine and employee, enabling us to monitor the status of our
product manufacturing in real time.

During the Reporting Period, we continued to refine our quality control
measures in the production and inspection stages by adopting the
Manufacturing Execution System (MES) across our workshop production
processes, which has further enhanced the detailed management
of production tasks, production plans, equipment and molds. When
defective products occur, the MES system will collect and report data on
the quantity, proportion and names of the defective products, allowing
staff to promptly understand the production processes and procedures
that led to the defect, thereby assisting production personnel in taking
timely rectification measures.
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To improve the accuracy of product inspection, we have introduced high-
precision automatic inspection equipment. By leveraging programming
within the equipment, we can conduct rapid inspections of large batches
of products and swiftly measure the dimensions of essential products.
In addition, we focus on improving the efficiency of quality inspections
without compromising their high-quality inspections. In 2023, we made
improvements to the inspection workflows, especially those pertaining to
the physical and chemical properties critical in the stages of product R&D
and registration. We introduced an online inspection request module,
streamlining the process for our employees to lodge inspection requests
without delay, which allowed for the rational scheduling of inspections
and improvement in inspection efficiency.

Warehouse Environment

Kangji Medical maintains stringent control over our product storage
environment by rigorously implementing our internal systems such
as the Warehouse Management Regulations and additional protocols
for warehouse fire prevention, temperature and humidity and mold
prevention. The Group's relevant departments conduct monthly
supervisory patrols to ensure that all products are properly stored. We
have carried out the following management practices in accordance with
the Warehouse Management Regulations:

o Specifying the warehouse management responsibilities across
relevant departments;

. Setting guidelines for the warehouse's temperature and
humidity levels, equipping the space with pest control and fire
safety equipment, with regular cleanings to ensure a hygienic
environment;

o Specifying the management regulations for the storage and
retrieval of raw materials, semi-finished products and finished
products and abiding strictly by the requirements of the related
management regulations;

o Establishing product storage and environmental requirements,
dividing the storage area into sections for inspection, qualified
products and non-qualified products and installing signage to
accommodate the needs of different storage facilities;

o Specifying the minimum inventory requirements for different types
of products.
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After-Sales and Feedback

Kangji Medical provides standardized after-sales service for customers
based on the Customer Complaint Process, Customer Feedback Control
Procedures and Customer-Related Control Procedures. Customer
complaints are handled according to the Control Procedures for
Medical Device Notification and Recall and the Control Procedure for
Adverse Event Reporting as our initiative to monitor and report defective
products and batches. Customer feedback and complaints are a top
priority for us. We continually collect product feedback and suggestions
for improvements through proactive methods such as phone calls,
emails and on-site visits. We investigate and analyze the reasons for
the complaints we received and formulate corrective and preventive
measures to minimize the impact of the incident and prevent similar
incidents from recurring, thereby continuously improving the product
experience for our users. During the Reporting Period, there has been
no product recalls due to product quality, usage safety or any other
concerns.

During the Reporting Period, the Group optimized and adjusted the
organizational structure of the Beijing Marketing Center and established
new offices in Shanghai and Guangzhou. We have also restructured our
after-sales team, upgrading it to the After-Sales Service Department.
Our sales regions are now served by specialized customer service staff
who are responsible for conducting product skills and usage training
for customers, ensuring quick resolution of any product-related issues,
thereby increasing our response efficiency to customer queries. The
After-Sales Service Department also actively made strides in surgical
support services by providing instant resolutions to product technical
and quality issues, further improving our customer service efficiency.
Moreover, we have set up new after-sales spare parts warehouses in
three cities, Beijing, Shanghai and Guangzhou. These warehouses are
managed by our on-site after-sales service engineers, ensuring that
various customer needs, whether for pipeline or terminal customers, are
met with immediate availability of spare parts. This has greatly reduced
the waiting times for repairs and has substantially elevated our efficiency
in after-sales service and customer complaint resolution.

In 2023, we conducted satisfaction surveys with our overseas
customers to better understand their concerns about various aspects
of our business, including delivery timeliness, product quality, financial
performance, completeness of registration documents, product R&D
and sales services. We also accurately identified issues that overseas
customers saw significant challenges with the timeliness of the
completion of registration documents. After identifying these issues,
we immediately refined the procedures for compiling and updating our
international registration documents, resulting in increased efficiency in
the registration process to meet customers' expectations for service
enhancements.

After-sales service
EBRT

Customer satisfaction — domestic (%)
ERPREBEE—BEA (%)
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97.87 97.54

Customer satisfaction — international (%)
ERREBE—BRE (%)

94.80 98.29

Number of complaints (cases)
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Advocating for a Culture of Quality

We recognize that elevating our employees' understanding of quality and
their operational expertise is vital to advancing the Group's overall quality
management. During the Reporting Period, we organized and carried out
a series of training programs related to quality control, covering personnel
from the production, quality, R&D and registration departments.

Training Program Name

gl B
Employee Quality Awareness Training

BETHEEHE

Lean Production Training

18 i & B 1

Interpretation of Usability Design and Registration
and Declaration Compliance for Medical Devices

BRSMERIAERS REMPRGRERERN

Excellence Management Skill Upgrade for Team
Leaders in Medical Device Manufacturing

BRESMEERNESUNEREERERA

Basic Microbiology Knowledge and Microbial
Control in Cleanrooms

MEMEREN H IR T &M EDIES

Training on Measurement Equipment and
Laboratory Management Knowledge

AERBNEREEEERA B
Laboratory Technician Training

{E88 B 155

BEHEEXIL

FEANE-

Target Participants

AR

All members of the Production Department
TEHFMEE

Managers and technicians of the Production
Department

TEMMIEEABHETIZS

Staff from the Quality Department, R&D Technical
Department and Registration Department

e AERMBMEMEE LT

Team leaders of the Production Department

EEMPINER

All members of the Quality Department

HEHEE

Personnel involved in measurement equipment
management

FTEXREEEMERAR
Laboratory technicians

fE5 8

RASINEESHNBREKTIEZEE
HAEREEEEKTHNARER ARS
AR RMEASRETZHEEE8EEN
BRED RETEE-EE %M
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RIE-HERERHRS

We also continue to carry out internal quality activities to enhance
employee quality awareness, such as a monthly review and recognition
program for quality enhancement proposals and an annual competition
to test their quality knowledge. Additionally, we honoured those
employees who have made significant contributions to quality control and
improvement in our annual ceremony where we awarded two prestigious
titles of "Quality Star" and "Improvement Expert", serving as an incentive
for active participation in quality control practices.

\EFRIRREZER/

CONTINUOUS INNOVATION

Kangji Medical always adheres to the core value of “innovation first",
firmly believing that product R&D and innovation are the key driving forces
for the Group's development. We adopt a R&D strategy that is oriented
by clinical needs and characterized by active and rapid feedback,
dedicated to building a minimally invasive surgery solution platform that
integrates "equipment + instruments + consumables + surgical robots."
We continue to promote the innovative development of the medical
industry, benefiting more patients through the convenience brought by
the advancement of medical technology by establishing open, inclusive
and mutually beneficial partnerships. During the Reporting Period, the
Group (including Weijing Medical) invested RMB127.55 million in R&D,
accounting for 13.8% of sales revenue, a 93.2% increase from RMB66.02
million in 2022; the Group received approximately RMB15.43 million
in government subsidies for R&D innovation, a 150.5% increase from
RMB6.16 million in 2022.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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R&D System

Kangji Medical always considers R&D efforts to be rooted in clinical
needs. We engage in active dialogue with doctors and customers for
their feedback on product performance during surgeries. This approach
documents surgical procedures, which allows us to tailor our products
to meet clinical needs, embodying our development philosophy of
combining medical expertise with engineering innovation. The Group
continuously executes internal R&D system processes such as the Design
and Development Control Procedures, the R&D Investment Management
Measures, the New Product R&D Management Policy and the Technical
Confidentiality System. During the product R&D project initiation stage,
we cooperate with departments such as registration, production and
sales to clarify the R&D direction and ensure related departments
understand their responsibilities at each stage of R&D, safeguarding
the quality and progress of product development. During the Reporting
Period, we reorganized our R&D personnel structure based on the same
technical foundation of software and hardware, combined with our
strengths in acoustics and electromechanical R&D expertise, to establish
an energy equipment division to enhance the efficiency of integrating R&D
resources.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the total number of R&D personnel
in the Group (including Weijing Medical) was 211, an increase of 27.1%
from 166 in 2022, accounting for approximately 21% of the total number
of employees, of which the proportion of those with a master's degree or
above reached 20.4%.

Strengthening R&D Incentive System

Kangji Medical continues to motivate R&D personnel to carry out
innovative work. We have formulated the R&D Performance Evaluation
and Reward System, which integrates a project-based assessment
framework. This allows us to determine performance rewards based on
the effectiveness of R&D projects and the individual contributions of R&D
personnel to their teams. We have also established the Patent Application
Reward System, which rewards the application and granting of different
types of patents, including inventions, utility models, and designs, to
encourage innovativeness and enthusiasm among our R&D personnel.
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Fostering Growth Among R&D Talent

Kangji Medical places a high priority on R&D personnel training. We offer
a diverse array of training programs tailored to the specific roles and
positions of our R&D personnel in support of bolstering their professional
expertise and operational proficiency.

o New Employee Training: We continuously conduct training for
new employees involved in product design and development,
which includes training on the Regulation on the Supervision
and Administration of Medical Devices, the 1SO13485 system,
internal R&D standards and professional skills. The training helps
new employees become familiar with the regulatory requirements
related to medical device development and ensure that product
development processes adhere to the compliance standards;

o Product Familiarization Training: We continue to carry out product
training for R&D personnel to deepen their understanding of
our product features, assisting them in fully taking into account
product features and clinical needs during the R&D process,
thereby improving R&D quality;

° Regular Collaborative Training: We have instituted a routine
of internal team training sessions within our R&D project
teams, providing multidimensional training in aspects such as
project management, technical skills and communication skills,
continuously refining the all-around capabilities of our R&D
professionals.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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R&D Achievements

Kangji Medical is steadfast in its commitment to delivering increasingly
efficient comprehensive solutions for minimally invasive surgical

we obtained registration certificates for several key products. Looking

EE
SR
procedures to both doctors and patients. During the Reporting Period, 2 Hi /N »
E R
B s
= B

forward, our product pipeline will continue to expand:

Category

Al

New Certifications Obtained in
2023

20235 EFEGE

Certification Plans
for 2024

20244 &t BIEEE

Outlook for 2025
and Beyond

2025 RFERE

Equipment e Pneumoperitoneum machine (with e Plasma energy equipment e Microwave ablation
heating function) e Medical endoscopic instrument
e 4K smart medical endoscopic surgical power equipment e Radiofrequency ablation
camera system e 4-arm laparoscopic instrument
e Medical endoscopic laser cold surgical robot system e Ultrasound high-frequency
light source surgical integrated
e 3D medical endoscopic camera equipment
system e Smart high-frequency
e Electronic hysteroscopic equipment
endoscope image processor e Single-port laparoscopic
surgical robot system
B} e RIEH (FINEINAE e ZERBTHEERE o WURHRELER
o JAKEBREBRANERBERRHA o BRANEFMBNORME o SUSRHRLE
o BREANFEICLHIR o ABEREBEFMHEAR o BEBMIREMRSB
e JDEARNERBERA % o HHESERE
s BFERANRREGEIESR o EBIEMRBEFMEBARR
Instruments e 3D electronic thoracoabdominal e Absorbable tissue clip e 3D optical laparoscope
endoscope applier
e 4K fluorescence e Rigid hysteroscope
thoracoabdominal endoscope * Rigid electrocuting and
coagulating endoscope
e High-definition
thoracoabdominal
endoscope
e Continuous ligation clip
applier
2210 o 3DEFMEPERNFIR o DIIR AR & e i X 23 e JDNEEENER
o AKERJCRORE BE N FE IR o EHTRE
e EUEBYBERNER
o BEMMBEEANEE
o ERMAIRKNMIEER

Consumables

e Disposable absorbable ligation
clips

e Disposable trocar with filter

e Disposable trocar with cleaning

e Absorbable knotless
surgical sutures

e Continuous ligation clips

e Disposable electronic

e Disposable absorbable
tissue clips

e Disposable microwave/
radiofrequency ablation

ring hysteroscope electrodes
e Disposable balloon trocar e Disposable electronic e Large vessel closure device
e Disposable rotatable multi- cystoscope e Ultrasonic scalpel head for
channel single-port laparoscopic e Disposable electronic ultrasound high-frequency
trocar ureteroscope surgical integrated system
e Disposable shave knife (ultrasonic bipolar)
heads

e Disposable plasma
surgical electrodes

M o —RIEETRUAEE K o FIRWMERITEINIES o —RIEME A P] IR UK AE B3R
o —RUEFBBEEZR S # o —RMHIRSHEHMEBE
s —RUBBREEEZFNR o EHMEEHK o ARIMEMEZ
o —RUKEEEZRER o —RUBFEEH e BESHINERARBEER
o —RUEEMAUREZBERESR o —RUBFEME JIEE (BB %)
FMEFL R 2 o —RUBFHRER
o —RIMEMEABHITIR
s —RUEGERERTFFME
1%
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We continue to explore the core

technology of puncture device products.
Our disposable balloon trocar and
; ‘ m&\, disposable rotatable single-port trocar
* ‘v; = o have both been approved for registration
= | as innovative medical devices.
e HERRF RS ERZORMN > —RMIK
BZRER—REAREBEFFR FEE
Bl m S BB EHE S M EE -

We have obtained approval for
our disposable absorbable ligation
clips, which has strengthened the
competitiveness of our minimally invasive
closure products.

— KPR A RIS E AR S
BEGHREF o

We have obtained approval for a variety of
imaging systems and endoscope products,
culminating in a product portfolio that includes
high-definition, 4K, 4K fluorescence, 4K smart
and 3D endoscopic camera systems applicable
to various clinical scenarios, which offer complete
solutions for surgical visualization.
LARERRRNRRE D EM BEXFRE
EZEMABENEE 4K AKE N 4KEAE 3D
AEFERERAAERES REZENIINRER
VaE)
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During the Reporting Period, we continued to expand our portfolio of
intellectual properties, including patents, trademarks, software copyrights
and product registration certificates’, as detailed in the chart below.

Number of patents (pieces)

HHEE ()
256

80 63 =l

=l HE=

Newly added during Actually held as of the end
the Reporting Period of the Reporting Period

HREHANIIE HERSHRRERS
® [nvention  ® Utility model m Design
patents patents patents
R BRMEEN  SMNRREEF

Number of domestic
registrations (pieces)

E AR EEE ()

46
34
I i

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
BERSRRERSA

13
0 IIJ_

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
BEHANIE

u Class Il
registrations

—$EsEEE

m Class | Filing ® Class Il
certificates registrations

—HAfEES = o

Number of
trademarks (pieces)

HRHUE ()

16
4 l
|

Newly added during Actual holding as of the end
the Reporting Period of the Reporting Period

RIE-HEREGHRS

FREHA AAFTEEEQEEN B
B -RGEFEE EREMEBEANNNHE
B RETE-

Total number of registrations (pieces)
SEMEAE ()
92

22
m N
Newly added during
the Reporting Period

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period

HREHARHTIE HERSHRERETS
m Domestic = |nternational
registrations registrations
Bl Esaii G Bl SSatiEe

Number of international
registrations (pieces)

E PRI MR EE (1)
98

22

Newly added during
the Reporting Period
REHIAITIE

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period
HERSHABRES

| [nternational registrations
EPREEEE

Number of software
copyrights (pieces)

REERYE ()

2

Newly added during
the Reporting Period

Actually held as of the end
of the Reporting Period

BEHPHIE HERGMARIRSH BRI HEREPRBISE
® Domestic ® International g
trademarks  trademarks " Sof‘tw‘a‘re copr Lelt
m%tﬁ% Bj‘%r‘%& ?X{EF%VE*E
U During the Reporting Period, a few patents and product registration certificates were not renewed upon their expiration due

to the Group's operational needs, resulting in an insignificant impact on the actual number of intellectual properties held at

the end of the period.
L KEBEHRN REBREES

CEINBMMERZMEBINRRABILESE WHPRERSAEE2FLEXE-
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Collaborative Industry Growth

Kangji Medical is at the forefront of spearheading and facilitating
technological innovation within the industry. Our commitment is rooted in
advancing and evolving the technology across the entire supply chain in
partnership with others. Actively engaged in industry events and holding
positions within national and regional trade associations, the Group
collaborates with outstanding enterprises in the industry to discuss and
address critical and advanced technological challenges that arise in the
medical device sector, enabling us to contribute our "Kangji power" to the
ongoing growth of the medical device industry.

Advancing Medical Inclusiveness

Kangji Medical is dedicated to disseminating more intelligent and
convenient healthcare services to both doctors and patients. Our ongoing
efforts are focused on providing cost-effective and user-friendly medical
products to healthcare professionals and patients. This commitment
effectively leads to more reasonable market prices, not only broadening
the choices available to healthcare professionals but also substantially
cutting down on the treatment costs for patients. During the Reporting
Period, we actively participated in national and local bulk purchasing
initiatives for medical devices, securing contracts in 15 provincial-level
or higher volume-based procurement projects, which further increased
our sales. Also, products such as trocars and ligating clips have seen an
estimated reduction in hospital retail prices of more than 50% following
bulk purchases, saving national healthcare budgets and significantly
reducing the medical costs for patients. We believe that by offering
high-quality products that are both preferred by doctors and affordable
for patients, Kangji Medical will increasingly become a key player in
supporting domestic alternatives in the healthcare sector.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Pioneering Medlcine-Engineering Synergy

Kangji Medical has actively explored paths of original innovation by
integrating the concept of medicine-engineering synergy into the core of
our R&D processes. By examining how our products are used in practice,
we refine and iterate our designs to ensure that “the instruments we
provide to doctors are as effective and comfortable to use as possible”.
After the products are launched, we engage in active collaborations with
healthcare experts to refine high-quality medical devices based on direct
clinical feedback, which ensures our products not only meet market
demands but also align with clinical practices, further improving surgical
safety and efficacy. This is to advance the accessibility of cutting-edge
medical technologies, bridging the healthcare service gap across diverse
regions and socioeconomic demographics, thus pushing forward the
realization of medical inclusiveness.

During the Reporting Period, we collaborated with the First Affiliated
Hospital of Wenzhou Medical University on the "Ultrasound High-
frequency Integrated Minimally Invasive Instrument and Capability
Platform" project, and with the Sir Run Run Shaw Hospital affiliated with
the School of Medicine, Zhejaing University on the "Degradable Suture
Staples and Staplers" project. In addition, we have established a two-way
communication and exchange by inviting surgical experts to our facilities
and by sending our R&D engineers into operating rooms, leading to an
ecosystem of innovation.
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Building an Innovative Ecosystem and Sincere Dialogue with HEEgI|FFE BB MK E i ¥ 55
Medical Practitioners

In 2023, Kangji Medical launched the groundbreaking "Dialogue with 20234 > FEEBREEA HFEM K, 25
Medical Practitioners" initiative, which welcomed over ten surgical experts M E > 2 H B +HUBEFMEREE
into Kangiji throughout the year. They participated in a series of 12 training ~ BE & > 8B 12 X 5 3l 33 77 T Bl &2 17 7 B8 PR
sessions where they exchanged knowledge on the practical applications [EFABIEMEZEH ~ FH R MMEBENE B
of minimally invasive techniques in clinical settings, as well as provided KREZHND  EEWEFTEHEARAERNE
feedback on the use of surgical instruments and equipment. This initiative R IR A R ERMABERENZ KX 1E
promoted our product development to align with clinical needs, improving £ BEIZ A F T —BE(L MR F EHETR ©
the applicability and adoption rate of our medical devices and propelling

the Group's process in providing integrated solutions for minimally

invasive surgery.
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Accelerating Technological Transformation

Kangji Medical continues to innovate our product technology. In
particular, Weijing Medical has responded proactively to surgeons' needs
for greater efficiency and comfort in surgical procedures by fine-tuning
the ergonomic design of its main control stations. Weijing Medical has
successfully developed an open-design surgeon control platform, which
boasts features like mobility and adjustable heights, catering to the
ideal ergonomic positioning. This design allows doctors to easily modify
their seating, pedal controls, head displays and armrests, considerably
lowering the risk of occupational diseases stemming from chronic
discomfort and fatigue. Moreover, during the Reporting Period, Weijing
Medical has carried out repeated calculations and upgrades on the four-
armed multi-port laparoscopic surgery robot, optimizing the human-
machine interaction performance of the four-armed robot. By integrating
5G connectivity and fluorescence imaging functions, the robot aids
surgeons in the precise identification of lesions and surrounding tissue
structures during surgery, thereby improving the precision of surgical
procedures.

Promoting Green Surgery

Kangji Medical adheres to the concept of "green surgery", committed to
alleviating the burden on doctors during operations through innovative
product R&D and practical application, while also safeguarding the well-
being of healthcare professionals. During the Reporting Period, we have
been persistent in our efforts to enhance the R&D of reusable surgical
instruments, creating a more friendly surgical experience for doctors and
patients.
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Introducing the Semi-disposable Continuous Firing Clip
Applier for Green Surgery

During the Reporting Period, we closely responded to clinical needs
by launching our innovative semi-disposable continuous firing clip
appliers. This instrument consists of a reusable clip applier handle and
a disposable titanium clip cartridge, featuring easy replacement of the
disposable titanium clips. By leveraging the reusability of the handle and
the ease of replacing parts, we have reduced the number of times the clip
applier needs to penetrate the abdominal wall during surgery. This not
only streamlines the surgical procedure for doctors but also minimizes the
potential for patient trauma, demonstrating the Group's commitment to
the full integration of “green surgery” and a focus on clinical experience in
our product design.

Commitment to Technological Accessibility
Establishing Industry Standards

Kangji Medical is at the forefront of shaping national and regional
standards for medical devices by contributing to the formulation of
product standards and registration guidelines, and fostering standardized
and high-quality development in the industry. In 2023, the Company
took part in the drafting of the industry standard for "Disposable Sterile
Incision Drape", which has now been submitted to the National Standards
Management Center for review.

Academic Exchange

Kangji Medical always upholds and practices the philosophy of
"originating from clinical practice to clinical application" by forging
stronger connections among doctors and professionals to build a
professional and distinctive ecosystem for academic training and
outreach, disseminating advanced techniques and technologies in
minimally invasive surgery. During the Reporting Period, our academic
team continued to organize and participate in interdisciplinary and multi-
departmental academic conferences and activities, promoting academic
exchanges and facilitating the sharing of quality academic resources
to build a platform for communication among young and middle-aged
doctors. During the Reporting Period, the main academic conferences
organized by the Group are as follows, with a total attendance of 8,671
participants in both online and offline events:
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Academic Conference Name

BMigEnE

Single-Port Video Competition

BIRERE

Consensus Standard Meeting on
Gynecological Single-Port Surgery

EREAAHTERS

Specialized Seminar on Single-Port
Hot Issues

BIAMBEEENANG

Gynecological Single-Port Training
Program

m A B LI HI B
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Conference Description
EERNE

To promote the availability and development

of gynecological single-port laparoscopic
techniques, activities were held in eight areas:
Guangzhou, Shanghai, Changsha, Wuhan,
Xi'an, Harbin, Lanzhou and Hangzhou (finals).
AREHERNBIERERTNEREER TE
M BB RIDSEOE B REE ~ BINA TN
(RE) NEEEHEEH

Experts and scholars from the field of
gynecology across the country discussed and
established the consensus standard for vaginal
natural orifice transluminal endoscopic surgery
(V-NOTES) in gynecology.

REZES BN ERNERSE  F5T L -
fERHS 28 B AR E N R (V-NOTES) FiiER
HBIRE

To advance the dissemination of single-port
procedures and improve clinical skills among
doctors, thematic symposiums are held in
areas such as Shanghai, Jiangsu, Sichuan and
Shaanxi.
RHEEEFMANGEEEABLEBRARMRA > X
STRPMEBERSNE BELE IE M) BRE
3 0

To facilitate more clinical doctors in mastering
single-port surgery knowledge and improving
single-port surgical skills, 13 training bases
have been established across the country, with
a total enrollment of 210 people, providing
single-port technical training services to over
100 hospitals.
RHENEZERRBLEZEBAFNANHE ESE
FLFAMIRI5 > B Al B @& #1318 > 155 E8
B2 RTBE210A » B HBFL M7
AR 75 8381005 &8 B

Number of Participants

BHEAK

Online: 1,219 participants
Offline: 395 participants

BEI1,219A
BT 1 395A

Offline: 42 participants

R 42N

Online: 1,231 participants
Offline: 125 participants

42 F 11,231 A
£F 1254

Offline: 162 participants

B2 162 A
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Academic Conference Name Conference Description

BMiEERE LIRS

Seminar on Gynecological Minimally Focused on new theories, developments,
Invasive Hot Issues technologies and methods in the field of
gynecological minimally invasive diagnosis and
treatment, the seminar has comprehensively
promoted the development of gynecological
minimally invasive technology.
FERMBI R B S ' FEGRMASREINTER MER R

TR A% 2 EREFRMAI R EE -

Baichuan Forum —Seminar on 36 guest experts and 121 expert attendees
Gynecological Minimally Invasive Hot were invited across areas such as Beijing,
Issues and New Technologies Shanghai, Guangdong, Sichuan, Chongging,

Hubei, Guizhou, Shaanxi, Zhejiang, Hubei,
Guangxi and Hunan.

B 11518 — A Al 2484 78 K BAEIFBERA 2EERI2IA - BHEIL

eSS Ry EB~BER M) ~EE I EM - BRE
AL~ RI6 ~ BEE A E i o
100 City Tour of PUMCH in Activities were conducted in places like
Celebration of the Centennial Lanzhou, Huanggang and Zhuhai to achieve
of Obstetrics and Gynecology cross-hospital and cross-regional academic
Department communication and jointly explore the field of
gynecology and obstetrics.
WA EERERB®T TEN -EM-KEEHERREH BRER
IRt @B BB HARRGEFEXESR
)

Number of Participants

BHEAH

Online: 1,764 participants
Offline: 325 participants

g 1,764A
48F 1 325N

Offline: 163 participants

BT 163A

Online: 1,342 participants
Offline: 1,070 participants

1,342 0
4T 1 1,070A

Open Day and Visiting Program of  Peking Union Medical College Hospital
PUMCH Obstetrics and Gynecology (PUMCH) provided a platform for close
Department engagement to experience the culture and
share experiences, jointly promoting the high-
quality development of the hospital in the new

era.

BHNEERBEREERBNEERN 28 BRELEETHEB RE2XE - 2=&BHNTF
Eols g HEBENKEATTIEERSE8EE-
Gastrointestinal Single-Port Training  Single-port training is carried out for doctors
Program interested in learning gastrointestinal single-

port techniques, including simulated single-port
surgery operation training.
BB L IEsIE MESEBHEAFRBNELEREEALEI

I 4R AR 45 BB AL TR (R LR Al o
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Academic Conference Name Conference Description Number of Participants
B EE B EERNE BHEAH
Discussion Meeting on Colorectal The Colorectal Surgery Group of the Surgery Offline: 64 participants
MDT Diagnosis and Treatment Branch of the Chinese Medical Association
Guideline Drafting organized some domestic experts in colorectal

surgery and related field experts to compile

the Chinese Guidelines for Standardized MDT

Diagnosis and Treatment for Colorectal Cancer

(2023 Edition). Experts engaged in active

discussions on relevant issues.

FSEBEMDTZREEERERTHE TEBZFIINENSLEERIIRE2EHABE BT 64N

ﬁﬁﬁmEﬂﬁ%ﬂ%%ﬁ*ﬁBﬁ%ﬁﬂzj—cﬂ%%iﬁ

(hE#E BB EREEMDTZ RIEEER (2023

hR) ) > sLAERE BB R AU o

“Bravery and Devotion” - 2023 Renowned domestic experts in the field Offline: 231 participants
Seminar on Minimally Invasive Surgery of hepatobiliary and pancreatic diseases
Hot Issues and endoscopic experts were invited to

deliver keynote presentations on the latest
developments in minimally invasive treatments
of hepatobiliary and pancreatic diseases and
delve into discussions on current hot topics and
challenging issues in combination with clinical

pathology.
MRFF &M —2023F RIS R AR BAEBEARERERESMNBIIERANFHRER BT 231A
EEEASE i B PR 12 7 LBl TR SR 15 BN & T R I R R R
& [ARESERRRIE > R ERTAV AR B EE R R
EITIRARS ©
Lakeside Dialogue Aimed at domestic young and middle-aged Offline: 52 participants

gastrointestinal surgeons, the event paid
tribute to the 30th anniversary of laparoscopic
gastrointestinal surgery in China, reviewing the
development of minimally invasive technology
in gastrointestinal surgery and discussing new
scientific and technological advancements
to promote the vigorous development of
laparoscopic gastrointestinal surgery in China.
B 5 EMEBEAN R EFS BINEEE L o B B g pE BT I52A
REH%%%JSOHE Bl B8 5 7 S B Bl 5 i 19 3%
> 5 o BT A A BRBG o (R 3 R B S B8R S B O
ﬂE’Jzt#Jéé)E °
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Academic Conference Name

BMiEERE

“Laying the Foundation for Health

with Urology” — 2023 Seminar on

Minimally Invasive Hot Issues and
Department Head Forum

M ERAR A > UBE I 17 —2023F Al 4

HEEEENNEE
MEERE

Conference Description
EERNE

A seminar for minimally invasive urology hot
issues and department head forum were held in
Suzhou where 16 well-known domestic experts
were invited to have intense discussions on hot
issues in the field of urology.
EEMNBEEMANBRIN 2B B G ER
FERBEFEHAMNBERIGA > SHERRES
M REE R T o

Number of Participants

BHEAH

Offline: 98 participants

BT 98 A

“Public Welfare Initiative of Huatuo
Project" - Workshop on Latest
Surgical Advancements

I —FRERSES
b

_|
H
it

(avg

H

Ko

>

Bk

—\

i

Selection Meeting on Belt and Road
Endoscopy Training Program

—H—BARENREEEY

By conveying the essence of high-quality
advanced nursing services and innovative
nursing service models to medical staff across
the country and at grassroots hospitals, this
initiative supported the development and
progress of surgical nursing professionalism in
China, facilitating the early recovery of patients.
BER2ERMKEERREEASERES
SRER IR AR TS PR A BT IR R B AR Bh D
HEFMEEEEXKTENERNES  RESR
EEHRE.

To strengthen the clinical management of
endoscopic diagnosis and treatment technology
across the nation, the Talent Center of the
National Health Commission has initiated the
"Belt and Road" initiative for developing medical
talent, focusing specifically on an Endoscopist
Training Program.
AMNBREARNRSBERMEBERER BRERE
ATHLHERI—F—RIB2AS BEHENE
BERmEEEE -

Offline: 158 participants

42K 1158 A

Offline: 182 participants

BT 1824
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Single-Port Video Competition Specialized Seminar on Gynecological Single-Port Lakeside Dialogue
BIRAARE Hot Issues BB 5

EREBILAMBESERNE

100 City Tour of PUMCH in Celebration of Gynecological Single-Port Training Program Discussion Meeting on Colorectal MDT Diagnosis

the Centennial of Obstetrics and Gynecology iER BB AP and Treatment Guideline Drafting
Department EEBMDTS EIEEE RIEfRTHRE
BN EERERENT

Open Day and Visiting Program of PUMCH “Public Welfare Initiative of Huatuo Project" -
Invasive Surgery Hot Issues Obstetrics and Gynecology Department Workshop on Latest Surgical Advancements
T AT 2 %4 E BB B MERETRAETI
2023 F AISMH AR B RE A 5T & BpMEERSEH FiERS B8
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BUSINESS ETHICS

Kangji Medical has always adhered to the core principles of compliance
with laws and regulations and fair competition. As a Zhejiang Province
AAA-level “Contract-Abiding and Credit-Worthy” enterprise, we
strictly follow relevant laws and regulations such as the Criminal
Law of the People's Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People's Republic of China and the Interim Provisions on
Banning Commercial Bribery. We have established a comprehensive
anti-corruption reporting and complaint system to create a fair and
transparent business environment. We have been trying to build a
business environment with integrity and firmly opposed to any unfair
business competition. We also emphasized on the protection of
intellectual property rights and information, ensuring our operations are
compliant. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any
confirmed corruption cases, nor legal proceedings regarding improper
competitive behavior, anti-trust and anti-monopoly practices.

Adhere to Responsible Marketing

Kangji Medical is committed to cultivating an elite team of professionals
centered on the principle of responsible marketing. In all our marketing
endeavors, we adhere to a code of honesty, transparency and ethics,
ensuring that our marketing materials comply with legal standards for
continuous improvement of our performance of responsible marketing.

Compliance Registration

Kangji Medical strictly follows the registration and filing procedures prior
to product launch. In the domestic market, we comply with the relevant
laws and regulations such as the Regulation on the Supervision and
Administration of Medical Devices and the Administrative Measures for
the Registration and Record-Filing of Medical Devices. We implement
filing management for Class | medical devices and registration
management for Class Il and Class Il medical devices to ensure the
compliance of medical devices on the market. In the international market,
to ensure that our exported products comply with local regulations on
medical device registration, we continuously monitor and identify changes
in the legal requirements of the countries or potential markets where our
products are sold. We also conduct necessary compliance preparations
in accordance with the legal requirements before product launch.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has initiated the MDR and FDA
registrations for multiple products in line with our business plans.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

BEER

REBRERRFEBLTE AFHRFN
ZOEZ ER I EAAARITERER
BI1t%  BABRBRET(REARLMEN
E)(PREARAMBER NEEHFX) (F8
RREEBEBBTANETRE) SHEE
BER BURENRESRERFHRER
HERFRIEARBHANEFEIRIE - 3
BERELERBFRENBERRE  BRARY
FARANAEEBERFTR USE
ERNBERNEEZE2NRE REDL
EOREBEE - FBREHRN EERLLER
BHNBREAREL  URHHETERS
TR RN REEHEFERFR
=L

ERaETEH

REBRNINEBEI-ANEXLCRTE
FoUBEREHEAROES AEHEH
PREANE ERNERNRA BREH
EENEZER UAHRAEEEEH
&;o

=52 34

REBEBRETER LHAINEMER
EREF -EEANTS HABE(BREMW
EEEERM) (BREESMEMEARRERE
WOE) SHBEEARZR BHE - BRBERSEM
BETHEREE HE_H F-HBEREMW
BEUEMERE HEBRSEM LHHNER
M- EZEHENS SERARHOERTSE
B RS MEEMIAER R ERELH
P EMRIEMNBEHEMPERIERE
B> THEERLEBAKREZREZRERRA
BITHERERELF - AREEN EH
RIEXFHHE > EEZREMRBIMDRM
FDAZEfft o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

In addition, to maintain stable operations and complete product
registrations on time and as required, we have established the GMP
Committee composed of department heads and dedicated supervisors
from the R&D, production, procurement, quality and registration
departments. This committee regularly provides our staff with updates
and interpretations of the latest product-related legal and regulatory
developments, product standards and guidelines for registration. The
committee is also responsible for collective learning sessions based
on the outcomes of compliance spot checks and random inspections
as released by regulatory bodies to improve our product registration
management level.

Compliant Labelling and Proper Promotion

Kangji Medical strictly adheres to the Advertising Law of the People's
Republic of China and the relevant laws and regulations in the regions
where we operate. We conduct thorough compliance reviews in our
advertising and marketing activities to ensure the legality, authenticity
and objectivity of the information presented, preventing any instances
of false or exaggerated advertising. Meanwhile, we clearly define the
responsibilities of relevant departments and establish requirements for
label and language management in our internal processes such as the
Label and Language Control Procedures, ensuring that departments
understand the concept of compliant advertising and the operating
procedures. Additionally, to meet the needs of our overseas business
expansion, we have strengthened our compliance review standards for
overseas labeling. The Group has established the Preliminary Review of
Label Design Changes to identify and review the special requirements of
our overseas clients and the reasons for any alterations to our product
labels. This ensures that our revised labels remain in compliance with
overseas legal regulations.

We have also established guidelines for product representation through
trade show booths, social media and other marketing channels, ensuring
that the promotional content is truthful and helps customers understand
the real functions of the product:

. Using real experimental or clinical data and feedback from
clinical use in our promotions, while avoiding specific vocabulary
prohibited by laws and regulations;

. Verifying product parameters, attributes and clinical outcomes
with pertinent departments before promotion to prevent any false
advertising;

o Making sure all promotional activities align with local legal and

regulatory requirements.

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical did not experience any
violations of relevant marketing regulations or regulations concerning
product and service information and labeling.
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Anti-Corruption

Kangji Medical has continuously optimized its anti-corruption
management. During the Reporting Period, we updated the Integrity
Management System and related policies and organized anti-corruption
training sessions to ensure that our compliance monitoring systems are
operating effectively and that we address all whistleblower reports without
delay.

Enhanced Management System

The Group places great importance on fostering a culture of integrity and
has established a comprehensive anti-corruption management system.
We have formulated different codes of conduct and anti-corruption
management measures for our employees, suppliers, distributors and
construction partners to continuously strengthen the creation of an
integrity culture.

. Employees: Employees in positions that are more susceptible to
corruption risks (such as sales, procurement, etc.) are required to
sign the Employee Integrity Commitment Letter;

o Suppliers: Before engaging in business collaboration, suppliers
are required to sign the Supplier Code of Conduct, which includes
provisions against corruption;

o Distributors: The Anti-Business Bribery Commitment Letter is
added to the distributor agreement;

o Construction partners: The Integrity Agreement is added to the
construction contract.

Strengthening Integrity Training

Kangji Medical remains committed to reinforcing our work of promoting
integrity awareness by regularly conducting anti-corruption training for all
employees for a continuous improvement of their integrity consciousness.
During the Reporting Period, we have carried out anti-corruption
training for the Board, management and entry-level employees through
the distribution of informative materials, with training sessions lasting
approximately 1 hour.
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Intellectual Property Protection

Kangji Medical is fully aware of the importance of intellectual property
protection for promoting R&D, innovation and the long-term sustainable
development. While strictly complying with relevant laws and regulations
such as the Civil Code of the People's Republic of China, the Patent Law
of the People's Republic of China, the Trademark Law of the People's
Republic of China and the Copyright Law of the People's Republic of
China, we have formulated regulations like the Internal Management
System for Intellectual Property and the Design and Development Control
Procedures to vigorously protect our own innovations while respecting
the intellectual property of others.

We adopt a collaborative approach with multiple departments and
cooperate with external third parties to jointly carry out daily work for
intellectual property rights. The Group regularly engages third-party law
firms to assist the R&D Department in conducting thorough intellectual
property searches and analyses, thereby navigating clear of any
infringement risks according to law. Should we identify any potential for
patent infringement, we swiftly alter our product designs to prevent any
violations.

Information Security Management
Information Security Protection

Kangji Medical places great importance on information security
management during daily operations. We strictly comply with laws and
regulations such as the Cybersecurity Law of the People's Republic
of China and the Personal Information Protection Law of the People's
Republic of China. We have also established policies and systems such
as the Information Security Management System, the Network Permission
Management Regulations and the Encryption Software Management
System. To strengthen protocols of intellectual property protection and
safeguard information security, we conduct the following measures
including server room management, server security, network security,
computer security, antivirus defenses and data backup procedures.

During the Reporting Period, we have strengthened information security
protection, further optimizing the robustness of our information security
maintenance and management system in the following areas:

. Revised the Equipment Management System, which prohibits
personal computers at work to ensure standardized control over
the IT equipment used within the Group’s operations;

o Engaged with security firms for regular vulnerability assessments
of the Group's servers, followed by remediations on the
vulnerabilities identified to improve server security;

. Continued encrypting files on employee computers with
encryption software and required employees to obtain managerial
approval for the decryption of documents intended for external
use to assist managers from relevant business departments in
conducting risk prevention work;
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o Performed daily scheduled backups of our business system data
via server virtualization and stored the servers in separate backup
devices, thus achieving a “dual-backup system” for our business
system data to prevent the risk of information loss;

o Conducted information security training for all employees to
consolidate and enhance their awareness towards information
security.

Solid Privacy Protection

Kangji Medical values the protection of customer personal information
and privacy by strictly complying with laws and regulations such as
the Data Security Law of the People's Republic of China, the Personal
Information Protection Law of the People's Republic of China, the Civil
Code of the People's Republic of China. We implemented internal privacy
protection management systems such as the Information System User
Management System and the Work Mobile Phone Management System,
which are part of a continuous effort to enhance our customer privacy
and security protection system to ensure that customer privacy data is
acquired, stored and processed in full legal and regulatory compliance.
In addition, we pay attention to the protection of customer private
information in the logistics and transportation process, concealing key
customer information to prevent the disclosure of customer personal
information and privacy. During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical did
not experience any violations of customer information security or loss of
customer data.

MUTUALLY BENEFICIAL PARTNERSHIPS

Kangji Medical is dedicated to the principle of mutual success and is
committed to growing in unison with our suppliers, distributors and other
partners. Together, we aim to establish a supply chain system that is
compliant, green and sustainable.

Supplier Management

Kangji Medical values supplier management and has formulated and
implemented systems and policies such as the Procurement Control
Procedures and the Supplier Evaluation Control Procedures, which set
forth criteria for assessing and managing our suppliers. This ensures
rigorous quality control of procurement materials and standardizes
purchasing practices. The Group is progressively integrating ESG
management into the supplier management system, supporting our
suppliers to gradually achieve sustainable development.

Kangji Medical actively cooperates with local suppliers to build a
reliable and efficient supply chain. During the Reporting Period, the
Group collaborated with a total of 787 suppliers, including 671 material
suppliers, 73 equipment suppliers and 43 construction suppliers, of
which suppliers from Zhejiang province accounted for 45.1%.
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Supplier Admission

Kangji Medical strictly controls the supplier admission process
by establishing a standardized supplier admission procedure and
assessment system. Through the collaboration of multiple departments,
we conduct a comprehensive examination of the suppliers' operational
licenses, production capacities, quality assurance capabilities and
certifications within their quality systems to ensure that suppliers added
to our supplier database meet the Group's admission requirements.
Moreover, we apply a systematic approach to select the most suitable
suppliers that align with the Group's business needs, thus ensuring the
stability of the supply chain at its source. To assure the quality of the
materials we procure, suppliers are categorized into three categories
A, B or C? based on the importance of the material, and we adopt
differentiated and dynamic auditing practices for each category of
suppliers.

Supplier Assessment

Kangji Medical conducts annual evaluations of our suppliers to
gauge their performance standards. We carry out multi-dimensional
assessments based on the quality of supplies, pricing, delivery
times and after-sales services, leading to a classification system that
ranks suppliers into one of four levels A, B, C or D according to the
assessment results. C-level suppliers are required to promptly address
any deficiencies detected during inspections for quality improvement
and are tracked for the effectiveness of these improvements. Technical
staff may be dispatched to provide on-site assistance if required. D-level
suppliers will face procurement bans or processing restrictions, and
their qualifications as suppliers will be revoked. If there is an approved
special reason, a fixed period is allowed for corrective action; failure to
enhance performance within this period results in a discontinuation of the
partnership.

Supplier Exit

Kangji Medical regularly assesses the performance of suppliers and
maintains a structured and strict process for managing the exit of
suppliers that do not meet our standards. When a supplier's quality is
found lacking, the Quality Department of the Group issues a Supplier
Corrective Measure Record, requiring suppliers to detail their remedial
actions and provide a response within a set timeframe. The effectiveness
of these actions is then verified by the Quality Department. For suppliers
that repeatedly have serious quality issues, we will reassess their
qualifications as suppliers. Those who are still non-compliant will face the
supplier exit process.
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2 Suppliers in the three categories A, B and C are critical suppliers that affect product safety and performance, suppliers that

provide general resources and materials, and suppliers that provide auxiliary resources and materials, respectively.
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Supplier Engagement and Training

Kangji Medical values communication with suppliers and strives to
maintaining close cooperation with all suppliers to achieve mutual
benefit and success. Suppliers are promptly informed about their annual
performance evaluations and any challenges that arise during our
partnership, working together to devise and refine solutions. In addition,
we continuously invite our suppliers in exchange activities focused on
technical innovation and material innovation. By conducting supplier site
visits, hosting online meetings and inviting suppliers to tour our facilities,
we share the Group’s vision for product innovation. We also provide
technical guidance to our suppliers to effectively enhance our suppliers'
overall competencies, jointly building a high-quality supply chain.

ESG Practices in Supply Chain Management

Kangji Medical is dedicated to the principles of sustainability and carbon
reduction by integrating ESG management philosophy into supply chain
management, guiding suppliers to fulfill their environmental and social
responsibilities. We have established policies such as the Supplier
Code of Conduct, prioritizing partnerships with the environmentally
friendly suppliers based on ESG requirements such as business ethics,
environmental impact, and health and safety. We also encourage
suppliers to use low-carbon and environmentally friendly packaging
materials to foster collective environmental progress. During the
Reporting Period, we have made strides in enforcing Kangji Medical's
Supplier Code of Conduct, with new suppliers required to endorse the
Code of Conduct. We are gradually extending this requirement to our
long-standing suppliers. During the period, an additional 169 suppliers
signed on, reaching an 86.4% signing completion rate among our
approved suppliers by the end of the Reporting Period.
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Distributor Management

In terms of domestic sales, the Group predominantly operates through
a network of distributors, for whom we have established a series of
management measures:

o Enforce a rigorous admission system for our distributors, ensuring
they possess the requisite qualifications and a track record of
integrity. Our partnership agreements also contain provisions to
prevent unfair competitions and commercial bribery, fostering a
fair and transparent marketing ecosystem.

. Continuously strengthen our management of existing distributors
by introducing incentives for distributors and establishing
academic pilot zones in representative distribution areas to
support the distributors' needs to host educational events,
thereby boosting their enthusiasm for such engagements.

. Conduct regular assessments of our distributors' performance
and make reasonable use of the results to ensure efficient
operation of distributors.

In terms of international sales, in 2023, Kangji Medical exported
products to 127 international customers across 58 countries and regions
including the United Kingdom, France, Brazil, Turkey and Mexico, with
an average annual compound growth rate of over 35% from 2020
to 2023. We are continuously optimizing our international marketing
system, with an emphasis on nurturing talent to constantly enhance
the business capabilities of our international marketing and registration
teams. Concurrently, we have been proactive in carrying out marketing
and promotional activities for the Kangji brand and participating in
international industry exhibitions. Our efforts to transition from being an
OEM to establishing our own brand are in full swing, as we endeavor to
meet the international market's demand for eco-friendly products and
solidify the Group’s reputation as a responsible corporation.

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical participated in four major
international medical device exhibitions, where we showcased our
leading array of equipment, instruments and consumables. The period
was marked by our international team's diligent outreach to longstanding
clients and the warm reception of many prospective customers, allowing
us to gain high attention and recognition from numerous industry experts
and both new and returning customers.
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GREEN OPERATIONS

Kangji Medical adheres to the management philosophy of green
operations, dedicated to reducing the environmental impact of production
and operations. We optimize energy-saving and emission reduction
measures in various operational aspects to improve the efficiency of
energy and water resource utilization, thus curtailing environmental
pollution and ecological damage to protect our planet's natural beauty.
Additionally, recognizing the impact of climate change on the Group,
we actively engage in initiatives to address climate change, contributing
to society's shift towards a low-carbon future marked by high-quality
development.

Enhanced Environmental Management System

Kangji Medical strictly complies with relevant laws and regulations such
as the Environmental Protection Law of the People's Republic of China,
the Law of the People's Republic of China on the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution, the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on Prevention and Control of Water Pollution, the Law of the People's
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental
Pollution by Solid Waste and the Law of the People's Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Noise Pollution. We have
formulated and implemented the Environmental Management System to
continuously improve the Group's environmental management standards
while maintaining the validity of the ISO14001 environmental management
system certification.

The Group strictly implements the environmental impact assessment
system for new projects. During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical
commissioned dedicated environmental protection personnel to carry
out more standardized and comprehensive environmental impact
assessments for construction projects within the site, thereby enabling
us to mitigate the environmental impacts of our new site preemptively.
The Safety and Environmental Protection Department of the Group also
steers and encourages all our business units to manage their operations
with environmental compliance and energy conservation, ensuring that
the Group improves resource use efficiency on the basis of legal and
compliant operations.
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Environmental Management Goals

RIEEEEE
TR EHA @%E“‘%tﬂ@%ﬁiTzowﬂi

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical has successfully achieved
its environmental goals for 2023 set in 2022, including those related to &I E B B IEFRHETN ~ BEJR(FE B W = ~ Bk
carbon emissions, energy use efficiency, water use efficiency and waste % & 8 BE 5 @& Eggoggﬁ)gia BEEEE N
reduction. We strive to promote green growth across the Group's short, ##HEFRS P EHNGEBEE |

medium and long-term development:

Category

25

Environmental Goals and Commitments
for 2023-2025

2023-2025F 1735 B {2 AR

Baseline
(2022)

202FEE(E

Target (2023)
20235 BiBfE

Actual (2023)
20235 BRME

Achievement
Status

BiRERER

Energy Use 1. Achieve a 3% annual reduction in | tonnes of coal 0.96 0.93 0.91 -5.35%
ERER energy consumption intensity from | equivalent (tce)/ (Achieved)
2023-2025, using 2022 as the | million in RMB (&)
baseline year. g/
Mo022E AR E 2023520255 | HER
BREEEEGETRI%.

2. Increase photovoltaic installations | % 15% N/A 13.38%° N/A
to a total capacity of 1,600 kW REH NER
by 2024, with the proportion of
photovoltaic power usage not
less than 15% of total electricity
consumption, while reducing
greenhouse gases by approximately
1,125 tonnes annua\ly from 2025.

H2024%  ARABRERABE
1,600F R KRS EAELAREE
E’Jttiﬂ&ﬁéw%rzozsi’f@@fﬁﬂ
HDRE RERHHA, 1250 0
Water Resources Use 1. Achieve a 3% annual reduction in | tonnes/ 90.74 88.02 69.96 -22.90%
KERGER total water consumption intensity | million in RMB (Achieved)
from 2023-2025, using 2022 as the | W/ BET (¢=3]
baseline year.
M2022E A EE  20235-2025F 4
EAEEEETRI%.

2. The percentage of recycled water | % 48.81% 48.81% 53.77% Achieved
usage in total water consumption wil &
not fall below the 2022 level from
2023 to0 2025.
2023F-2025 F EIR A FAK B 4BH
KENBEDHFER2022E KT

Greenhouse Gas Achieve a 3% annual reduction in | tonnes equivalent/ 4.41 4.28 4.23 -4.08%

Emissions greenhouse gas emission intensity from | million in RMB (Achieved)

BEREHN 2023-2025, using 2022 as the baseline g2/ (&m)
year. BER

D022 AR % 2023 F-2025F RERE

BHEEGETHE%

Waste Management Transfer 100% of hazardous waste | % 100% 100% 100% Achieved
EENER generated to qualified third parties for E
recycling and disposal.

EENEEREMINEREEENE=

FEENEE-

Wastewater/Exhaust Conduct annual environmental testing | % 100% 100% 100% Achieved
Emissions with qualified third parties to ensure 100% E
B/ BRER of wastewater and emissions are within

regulatory standards.

SERFREENECFBUETRAR

A BREAKAER100%E R

2 In 2023, there was no change in the number of installed photovoltaic equipment, while the Company's total electricity

consumption increased, resulting in a slight decrease in the proportion of photovoltaic power generation. In the second half
of 2024, the Company will proceed with the installation of photovoltaic equipment on the rooftops of newly constructed
buildings, as originally planned, to support the achievement of environmental goals.

8 2023FNARBLEHEREFLEBC ABINEREZIGN > BOCREFEEWLILEEE T ; 2024F T+ F AR ZRRE
STEIE W EME RIEMEECARRE B ERRIEBZo

128 Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Strengthening Climate Change Management

The impacts of climate change on global economic and societal
development have been extensive. Kangji Medical is dedicated to
building a more comprehensive governance system and implementing
a strategical layout to address climate change. We actively develop risk
response measures and set climate-related indicators and goals. Our
efforts align with the national strategy for climate change adaptation
as we proactively mitigate the negative impacts of climate change and
embrace climate opportunities. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has consistently followed the disclosure framework of the Task Force on
Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) for climate-related financial
information disclosure. Climate change-related work was carried out from
four aspects: governance, strategy, risk response and indicators and
goals, making efforts to mitigate the operational and financial impacts of
climate change on the Group.

Governance

Kangji Medical has established a comprehensive governance framework
for climate change. The ESG Committee under the Board is responsible
for managing matters related to climate change risks and issues. Regular
reports on climate change risk management are provided to the Board.
With guidance from the ESG Committee, relevant departments develop
management systems and response measures for identified significant
risks and opportunities, assessing their financial and operational impacts
on the Group. For more information on the ESG governance framework,
please refer to the sections headed “Statement From the Board” and
“ESG Governance Structure” of this report.
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Strategy

&

REBRECHEEBRM BEIXERH
BEE - TEXERAZEES cSHBAME
RERRE RWIBANREELCHERK
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B IR -RBEEASHREZEER
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Kangji Medical is continuously improving its strategies for low-carbon
development by taking into account its own business characteristics,
national development strategies and industry trends. We actively identify
transition risks associated with climate change, including policy and legal
compliance risks that may affect the Group and its value chain, as well as
physical risks like extreme weather events and natural disasters caused
by climate change, such as flooding and rising temperatures. During

130

the Reporting Period, the Group did not identify any significant climate-
related risks. The specific risk categories, potential financial impacts and
response strategies for identified risks are detailed in the table below:

Transition Risk

HEmE

Risk Description and Potential Impact

LR ek BB TE R B

EHA LN ARRRERN BEVHY
Z - EHERBIFR TR

Response Strategies

FE 3 SR BE

Policy and Legal
Compliance Risk

As China pushes for the objective of “2030
Carbon Peak and 2060 Carbon Neutrality”,
national policies and regulations related
to carbon emissions will continue to grow
stricter. Kangji Medical may incur financial
expenses related to low-carbon equipment
replacement to meet policy requirements.

W& R EI % T 2030 hiE 1§ ~ 20604F ik H M)
BEEMNES BRXMNHREIRERABR AR E
KRFEFEBR REBESMEBRER I
ELOEARKEEREFENT B

Kangji Medical has planned and deployed

the use of clean energy, including:

- Installing solar power generation
equipment in existing and new
industrial zones.

= Working with green energy companies
and power plants to explore the
purchase of green electricity.

- Gradually phasing out energy-
intensive and high-polluting machinery
and equipment while improving

BRAARERER automation levels.
g iﬁEﬁEﬁ/ AEJR 8 A Y AR B 22 3B
- AHEREBREZEURTHMEEEHRE
?%t%ﬁ%%%ﬁ
- HEBROEERNERAR -ZE®RS
W’ﬁﬁﬁgﬁ EhEe
- BIAAREE -SSRNKERE
‘A BEEKTE
Market Risk There is an increasing demand from @ Kangji Medical has embarked on conceptual
i E & domestic and international customers | initiatives such as green surgery and

for products with reduced environmental
impact, such as green and low-carbon
products. Customers are now including
product environmental assessments as part
of their purchasing evaluation criteria, which
may result in a decline in sales volume for
the Group's main products and eqmpment
BRNIRPHEB BRERELEE /D
EmBEREN ERBRREERFERAAR
PRBEZZRE IHUREETEXBER
REHESE T o

continues to reduce the use of plastics in
products and packaging materials while
promoting the development of low-carbon
products.
BERFCHESCTFNEMSLE  HE
MOEMmBOEMEHBRNER > EEHE
Bk 2= dm 2% o
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Risk Description and Potential Impact

B BB R R

RIE-HEREGHRS

Response Strategies

FE 3 SR B%

Long-term Risk

R AR

Operational Environment - Changes in
precipitation patterns resulting from climate
change may raise the risk of river water
overflow. As Kangji Medical's primary
production, operation, and research facilities
are situated in river basins with lower
elevations, the impact of floods may lead
to interruptions in water and power supply,
damage to production and operational
equipment, increased frequency and cost
of equipment maintenance or replacement
and financial losses that affect the Group's
normal operations.
EERE-—REZCERNEIRAEER
H-rkﬂ'jmmﬁ/mﬂﬁ“ THREEER gizf
B ~ B 22 2% 5 3 8RR B B B B
TE_Ejﬂfﬁi7k—£r$i§@ﬂ%§§&ﬁi\7}d#Ea - %
B

L]
S5

EREER BN &W:ZE? R
i&ﬁﬁ’%gﬁlE% ) TR A

on T
mn%ﬁ%fﬁ

Extreme Weather - Frequent extreme
weather events, such as heavy rainfall,
strong winds and heatwaves caused by
climate change, could pose threats to
property and personal safety. It may also
raise the likelihood of employee illnesses
and disrupt normal work processes,
including R&D and production activities.
Wﬁ% @ﬁﬁﬁﬂm%ﬁ 58~ BUR
ey %m%ﬁ?? %Xﬂ%éﬁA%#
2HB O BMEIZRAEE CEEENH
B EELZ TR

Kangji Medical has incorporated such
risks into the management of its daily
operations by developing the Emergency
Operation Process Guidelines for Extreme
Scenarios and equipping itself with
emergency materials to ensure personnel
and property safety. We have also optimized
the placement of high-heat-dissipating
equipment, positioning them in areas with
improved ventilation. This adjustment
helps lower equipment temperatures,
reduce the likelihood of equipment damage
and enhance the overall lifespan of our
equipment.

RFEBRCRZERRAABEESERE,
BBHIE (BinisREBIEREZRERE ) UK
FEHEEZYE REABURMEZ 2
BMTEBEERARKNR ﬁ%@ (353
E%muﬁ FRERERE B REIRIEE

T RAREBEERS®

Immediate Risk
37 BD 14 R B

Supply Chain and Logistics Impact -
Physical risks arising from climate change
may affect suppliers' production, logistics
and transportation processes. This could
result in operational disruptions due to
insufficient raw material supply, leading
to financial losses. Additionally, extreme
weather events may also affect the logistics
process during product delivery, causing
delays and impacting the reputation of the
Group.

HEREEY AT E-—REFEECHRNBERER
BHREHEEEE YR BERFROBR
%Q’L&lﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁTEﬁ%ﬁmE%
HRET EM S RM BB K [ > s K R IN

%%%%@ﬁﬁéu%ﬁLﬁ$%%? B
ggﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁj MEERBEEL

Kangji Medical has made sufficient
preparations for its supply chain. In
the event of supply shortages from
suppliers due to force majeure, we will
engage alternative suppliers that align
with our capacity requirements for timely
replenishment. Moreover, in the realm of
logistics, we have chosen to collaborate
with reputable and well-established logistics
companies to ensure the smooth running of
logistics.
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RIEBETAREBRBERERKSE &~
BREHAN EES2ETCFDERRBERY
EEREERBBET TR LHARET
BREHRE TEEE

Climate change also presents development opportunities for Kangji
Medical. During the Reporting Period, the Group identified climate-related
opportunities by referencing the TCFD information disclosure framework.
We have formulated key response strategies which primarily include the

132

following:

Opportunity

Hia

Resource Use
Efficiency
BIREAWE

Opportunity Description

T i Rt

Enhanced Energy Efficiency to Reduce
Operational Costs — In recent years,
certain regions have experienced
significant increases in energy prices
due to factors like extreme weather
events and geopolitical issues. Kangji
Medical aims to reduce expenses
related to energy consumption through
the adoption of more energy-efficient
equipment, highly efficient production
processes and a faster transition to
clean energy sources while reducing
reliance on externally purchased
energy.
REMIEARLVEENRA—FFER > BN
g KR~ MGEBUAFR R S oM & 5E
RERRERA REBERBBRASE
BMHNREUARNEESNEERE
I AN 3R A6 5 7B R BB IR 2 R D Sh BB AR TR 158
RE BHERRERAENTEH-

Key Response Strategy
BRI EH R

Kangji Medical continuously evaluates
and updates its production and
operational equipment through iterative
calculations. By utilizing equipment
with higher efficiency and lower energy
consumption, as well as streamlining
production processes, the Company
reduces overall energy consumption.
Additionally, the Group has installed
solar power generation facilities in
its existing and newly established
sites, with plans to expand the
installation of photovoltaic equipment,
thus accelerating the adoption and
integration of clean production
methods.
REBEFENREIEXFERESRSE
NEHER BEERANXES EEE
BENZE FBEREEEENEETLSE
BRERERE -FAR EERNBEEEN
REHREEEZREXBGREZESREG I
SEIBANARRELERE MRFEZ
S EBFER-

Products and
Services

7 am M BR %5

Climate Change Contributing to a
Growing Demand for Medical Devices
in the Market due to the Increased
Prevalence of Diseases — As the global
average temperature rises and extreme
weather events become more frequent,
the occurrence of diseases is on the
rise. This, in turn, will elevate the
R&D efforts and demands for medical
devices due to the increased frequency
and types of diseases, providing the
Group with more market development
opportunities.
RIESCEREREMBABEIWNE
KmHZE—2KFEEHRARBHBERTEG
BENEBNMBERESHRRNE L H
B2 7R 5% A Y A 22 A0 B SR B [ 5 %R % 8 4R
TEBENE MM EA EMAEES
REZHIGEREEE

As a platform company specializing
in medical devices, Kangji Medical
leverages a combination of academia,
research and industry to understand
the evolving needs of patients. By
continuously engaging in agile and
wide-ranging technological research
and application, we assist society
in responding to emerging health
challenges.

FRBERMTaRA BEBERERD
BOESMUKBRESR  THRERH
BEFB IEBREREETES &
EEEENRWHELERER Bt
FEH 23Rk E -
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Responding to Risks

Kangji Medical attaches great importance to ESG-related risk
management and incorporates climate risks into its corporate risk
management system and risk assessment processes. We actively review
and adjust our strategies and corresponding measures for managing
climate change risks while continuously monitoring and enhancing our
capabilities in climate risk management. During the Reporting Period, we
have implemented corresponding risk mitigation measures in four areas:
energy structure, equipment energy consumption, green products and
production assurance.

Optimizing Energy Structure

Kangji Medical actively adjusts its energy usage structure and continues
to adopt photovoltaic power generation equipment to support the
production and operation of its industrial zones. As of the end of the
Reporting Period, Kangji Medical has installed approximately 11,000 sq.m
of photovoltaic power generation equipment, generating approximately
820,000 kWh of electricity annually. Additionally, we plan to install an
additional 11,000 sg.m of photovoltaic power generation equipment
in the second half of 2024 to further increase the proportion of clean
energy usage. Furthermore, when purchasing external power, we have
included green electricity such as hydropower and wind power in our
considerations.

Reducing Equipment Energy Consumption

During the Reporting Period, we continuously replaced energy-intensive
equipment in our production processes and embraced the principles
of green construction in our new facilities. In our existing office areas,
we consistently replaced office operation equipment with more energy-
efficient options. In our newly constructed plants, we took proactive
measures by selecting production equipment that has a minimal
environmental impact, effectively reducing the overall energy consumption
resulting from both production and office operations. For more details
on these measures and their effectiveness, please refer to the sections
headed "Implementation of Energy-saving and Emission Reduction
Measures" and "Promoting Green Office Operations" of this report.

Creating Green Products

We integrate the concept of environmental sustainability at every stage
of product production, transportation and usage. We optimize product
packaging by reducing the proportion of plastic usage to minimize carbon
emissions throughout the product lifecycle. For more details on these
measures and their effectiveness, please refer to the section headed
"Implementation of Energy-saving and Emission Reduction Measures" of
this report.
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Enhancing Production Assurance

To address challenges arising from climate change, such as potential
production shutdowns and power shortages, we continuously implement
measures to reduce non-production electricity consumption in office
areas, such as setting time and temperature limits on air conditioning
systems. We strictly adhere to electricity usage regulations by adopting
self-imposed power restrictions and partial power-off operations to
prevent emergency power failures caused by inadequate power supply.
Additionally, we have expanded our inventory of raw materials for
production and increased stock levels of raw materials and components
to ensure smooth production in the event of supply chain disruptions
caused by extreme weather conditions.

Indicators and Goals

For details regarding Kangji Medical's goals for climate-related emission
reduction and clean energy development, please refer to the section
headed "Enhanced Environmental Management System".

Implementation of Energy-saving and Emission Reduction
Measures

Kangji Medical strictly abides by relevant laws and regulations such as
the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Water Law of the People’s Republic of China to enhance the standard
of resource management of the Group. Through initiatives such as
procuring energy-efficient and environmentally friendly equipment and
fostering technological innovation, we enhance resource use efficiency,
contributing to the establishment of an enterprise that emphasizes
resource conservation.

Improving Resource Use Efficiency

Kangji Medical continues to optimize its energy structure and enhance
the comprehensive use of resources. By progressively phasing out
energy-intensive equipment and incorporating energy-efficient production
equipment, we steadily reduce greenhouse gas emissions throughout
the Group's operations. We regularly collect and analyze data on energy
consumption during the production process to identify factors affecting
energy use efficiency and implement tailored measures for improvement.
Additionally, we strengthen daily water conservation management by
constantly refining our water usage patterns and promoting the adoption
of water recycling technologies. We collaborate with third parties to
ensure a water supply for our daily production and operations. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any water resource
shortages.

During the Reporting Period, the Equipment Department of the Group
installed additional water and electricity meters in our production
workshops. This enables more precise measurement of water and
electricity consumption for each workshop or key equipment, providing
data support for quantifying energy-saving efficiency and facilitating more
precise management of our production resources.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Equipment Upgrade

During the Reporting Period, we have updated the following production
equipment to reduce resource consumption during the production
process:

o Introducing a fully automatic assembly machine for 5mm
sheathing components, which has boosted our product
assembly efficiency by nearly fivefold, further reducing the energy
consumption per unit time in product production;

. Adopting electric injection molding machines that consume
less hydraulic oil with improved injection efficiency, which has
minimized resource and energy consumption.

Change of Packaging

During the Reporting Period, we have moved away from using hard
plastic for some disposable sheath trocar packaging to soft plastic
alternatives, which led to an approximate 80.4% reduction in the weight
of each package. Over the year, our production packaging process saw
a reduction of approximately 17 tonnes in plastic usage. Additionally,
soft plastic packaging effectively contributed to smaller packaging and
less space taken up, allowing us to increase the number of products
shipped in each load. This, in turn, cuts down on the energy consumption
for transporting each product. Moreover, we have reallocated our
transportation logistics by arranging for some products to be picked
up separately by the logistics group, using full-truck transport methods
to minimize the use of packing bags and to boost the efficiency of our
shipping operations.

Recycling and Reuse

During the Reporting Period, we continued to carry out the recycling
and reuse of packaging materials and water to enhance the efficiency of
resource usage, including:

. The centralized recycling of lining films and double-layered
packaging bags from our suppliers, which are then repurposed
as fillers in the packaging of our reusable instrument shipment,
reducing the use of packaging sponges by approximately 2
tonnes over the year;

o The centralized collection of packaging boxes of disposable
product blister packs, which are then trimmed down and turned
into liner boards by packaging material manufacturers. During the
Reporting Period, a total of 11,687 discarded cardboard boxes
were collected, resulting in the reuse of approximately 70,000
liner boards;

o The collection of rinse water from the ultrasonic cleaning process,
which after treatment, is reused as cooling water in our injection
molding machines, contributing to less tap water consumption.
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Resource Consumption Data

During the Reporting Period, the Group's data on energy use,
greenhouse gas emissions, water resource use, and packaging material
use, as well as the changes from the previous year, are as follows:

BRfEm#E

FREHAR EEERERERA BERE
O KERERARBEMEERNEE

UkBE—FNEESHBEROT :

Indicator 2022 proportion
1R 20224 -2kt
Energy Total purchased power kWh
consumption SNEENEE TRE 5,339,711 4,727,082 12.96%
NN
REiR AT Self-consumption of photovoltaic power
generation kWh
AREEEREE TRE 824,339 819,510 0.59%
Total electricity consumption kWh
BREEE TERE 6,164,050 5,546,592 11.13%
Electricity consumption intensity™e kWh/revenue in million RMB
EETmES TRE/GBHA 6,656 7,048 -5.56%
Gasoline Litres 57,472 57,443 0.05%
b #
Natural gas™®? m? 17,320 8,701 99.06%
ARG TH¥
Comprehensive energy consumption©e® tce 839.91 753.53 11.46%
RARRHEE™ RIS AE
Comprehensive energy consumption tce/revenue in million RMB 0.91 0.96 -5.35%
intensity MR EEMA
RARREERE
Greenhouse Scope | (direct energy) greenhouse gas tCO2e 164.22 145.52 12.85%
gas emissions emissions™e ¢ ‘ W_EtREE
BERBHEN BHE1 (BERER) REREBHERE™
Scope Il (indirect energy) greenhouse gas tCO2e 3,756.49 3,325.50 12.96%
emissions™e® ‘ W_EtREE
BE2 (FEER BERBERES
Total greenhouse gas emissions tCO2e 3,920.71 3,471.03 12.96%
BRERBHREE M_EtHES
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity tCO2e/revenue in million RMB 4.23 4.41 -4.08%
RERBHEREE M_EtREE/ GERA
Note 1:  The intensity of energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions in 31
this report is measured in terms of sales revenue per million RMB.
Note 2:  Following an upgrade to the Group's cafeteria in June 2022, which 2 :
included the addition of natural gas-powered equipment, the figures
for natural gas consumption in 2022 represent only six months of
consumption. The figures for natural gas consumption in 2023 account
for a full year of use, hence there is a significant fluctuation in usage.
Note 3:  The conversion of various types of energy into a standardized  £3:
coal equivalent follows the General Rules for Calculation of the
Comprehensive Energy Consumption (GB/T2589-2020).
Note 4:  The calculation for greenhouse gas emissions from Scope 1 (Direct  #4 :
Energy) is conducted based on the 2019 Refinement to the 2006 IPCC
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories published by the
Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).
Note 5:  The calculation for greenhouse gas emissions from Scope 2 (Indirect %5

Energy) is conducted based on the Average Carbon Dioxide Emission
Factors of PRC’s Regional Power Grid in 2011 and 2012 published by
the National Development and Reform Commission.
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Change
Indicator proportion
1518 BE L)
Total water consumption tonnes
MmEKE L 64,781 71,354 -9.21%
Total volume of water recycled tonnes
BIERBABKNES 5 34,830 34,830 0.00%
Total water consumption intensity tonnes/revenue in
RIEKEBE million RMB
MR BEBWA 69.96 90.74 -22.90%
Change
Indicator proportion
11z B8 LE B
Total consumption of packaging
materials tonnes
BEMEERSE g 868.49 697.29 24.55%
e Plastics tonnes
o ZBiI4E g 234.35 191.29 22.51%
e Paperboard tonnes
o MRiREE g 630.98 505.51 24.82%
e Spongemte® tonnes
o JBiRfETC L 3.16 0.50 538.38%
Amount of packaging materials
reused tonnes
BEMN XA BE L 6.31 12.52 -49.60%
Packaging material consumption tonnes/revenue in
intensity million RMB
BEMEERE L PA=R= N 0.94 0.89 5.77%
Note 6: During the Reporting Period, due to the transition for many of our 56 : ABEHA > HRELHN—AUEEEZR
disposable trocar punctures from hard to soft plastic packaging, BRBELBOENAHRBOE  EHOER
the number of reusable PE bags decreased, leading to a MANPESRE D AILARIBER SR E
significant increase in the use of sponge packaging materials for BEMBNERAE EARS -

padding purposes.
Reducing Pollutant Emissions P ﬁ‘}?;#' #ﬂ}#ﬂ

Kangji Medical strictly complies with national environmental laws and BEEERERETHERIREMBRAN LR
regulations, ensuring all of our operations are legally compliant. Through FHRORECHRBERERSEER T
timely updates and modifications of equipment to cut down on the AU ER#H BT B 48 » B /D EE K~ BE R BER
emissions of wastewater and gases, we have intensified our waste MBREEVEE REEEEZBARERE
management efforts to minimize the pollutants generated during the £ BY75 ¥ HERK o

Group's operational processes.

BEETFERERAR 023FEHRs 137



138

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IR ERERHRS

Wastewater Management

Kangji Medical ensures that all of its operating sites implement separate
systems for rainwater and sewage to conduct centralized collection and
treatment of wastewater from production and daily life. This is done to
meet the related quality benchmarks before discharging the treated water
into the municipal sewage system. During the Reporting Period, we
maintained our practice of hiring third-party environmental testing firms
to assess our wastewater treatment efficacy. The assessment results
have confirmed our compliance with all legal and regulatory standards.
In addition, we have adopted the following approaches to manage
wastewater during the construction phase of our new plants:

. Engage in discussions with the Production Department regarding
the production usage of each part and level of the new plant to
design wastewater filtration systems and discharge plans that are
scientifically sound before construction;

o Continuously require the washing wastewater from the
construction vehicles of the new plants to be centralized in the
sedimentation pond for precipitation and then discharged into the
municipal sewage system after meeting the sewage discharge
standards.

Exhaust Management

Kangji Medical strictly adheres to the national regulations on exhaust
emissions by continuously strengthening the management of exhaust
emissions from production workshops, office buildings and various
business processes. We engage qualified professional third parties to
perform regular exhaust emission tests, ensuring our practices are in line
with relevant laws and regulations. During the Reporting Period, the test
results of exhaust emission indicated that Kangji Medical has met the
national and local legal and regulatory requirements.

In the precision machining workshop, we consistently implement an
oil mist purification system. This system employs plasma adsorption
techniques to capture oil pollutants from our production processes,
funneling them into an oil collection tank for centralized processing. This
measure has reduced the concentration of oil mist in the workshop,
enhancing our employees' work environment and minimizing the release
of oil pollutants into the environment.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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15 meters
high altitude

discharge |
153K = HER |

SR BEHLE e

In the polishing workshop, we adopt a dust collection system to collect
the generated metal dust. This system uses a combination of fabric bag
filters and a blow-spray technique to remove and collect dust from the air,
effectively cutting down on dust levels both inside the workshop and in
the external environment, thus helping to reduce air pollution.

Q:@!

Bag filter Fan
e PREESS R b

In the injection molding workshop, we have upgraded to new drying
equipment that incorporates an internal gas recirculation feature,
effectively lowering the emission of dust and exhaust gases within the

workshop to alleviate air pollution.

RIE-HERELRHRS
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Additionally, we require that all engineering vehicles working on the
construction site to undergo a thorough cleaning before they are allowed
to travel on the nearby city roads. This is to minimize the dispersal of
dust from the site into the adjacent areas due to vehicle movement.
Furthermore, we are continuously working to mitigate the problem of
airborne dust at the construction site by maintaining measures such as
the installation of dust barriers around the perimeter of the site and the
provision of a sprinkler system along the site's fencing to reduce the
environmental impact of our construction.

Waste Management

Kangji Medical is faithfully committed to its environmental goal, ensuring
that all hazardous waste is transferred to certified partners for disposal.
We have continued our long-standing partnership with hazardous waste
management companies for many years. By enhancing the storage
conditions within our hazardous waste warehouse and implementing a log
system for hazardous material storage and a hazardous waste transfer
manifest, we have significantly improved the management of hazardous
waste.

In terms of non-hazardous waste management, we persist in our efforts
to sort and manage domestic and office waste, signing a waste recycling
and disposal agreement with the local waste management company to
ensure that waste is collected and transported without delay every day.
We have established a centralized waste recycling station for waste
generated during construction on our construction sites. We require
the construction units to adhere to requirements for the stacking of
construction and renovation waste through management, following a
standardized protocol for waste storage and recycling.

Regarding waste recycling and reuse, we continue to recycle waste
plastics, used cardboard and other recyclable waste generated from our
production and office operations. For details on these measures and their
effectiveness, please refer to the section headed "Improving Resource
Use Efficiency " of this report.
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Pollutant Emission Data

TSR B

FESHAR BREKEABRERYIH
B URBRE—FHNEHEROT :

During the Reporting Period, the data regarding wastewater and solid
waste, as well as the changes from the previous year, are as follows:

Change
proportion

ool a bl

2022
20224F

Indicator

51R

Total volume of wastewater
dischargednte’ tonnes
RE R EY Mg 51,825 57,083 -9.21%
Total wastewater discharge tonnes/revenue in
intensity million RMB
&SRR E Mg B EUA 55.96 72.59 -22.90%
Chemical oxygen demand (COD)
emissionnote 8 tonnes
{EBEHECODHFHRE™ Mg 3.89 4.34 -10.41%
Ammonia nitrogen emission"te® tonnes
[APRE™ U 0.98 0.98 -0.24%
Note 7: According to the Announcement on the Release of Pollutant 357 . KiEAREIBIEH (AN EMTE S LYEE
Discharge Coefficient for Calculating Pollutant Discharge and WENBESHENYREE ST EHNAE)
Material Balance Calculation Method (No. 81 of 2017) — emission (2017FEFE810) —RMABESHFIER
coefficient and material balance method applicable to industries TEBERANHESGZE - REE % (&
not included in emission permit management (Trial) — the sewage 17) — 5 KEEMAEEN0.7~0.9° EEEE
emission coefficient is taken as 0.7 ~ 0.9, Kangji Medical RIE R KEMNS0%NITE iz &5 KHE
converts 80% of fresh water consumption into the total volume of E o
wastewater discharged.
Note 8: The COD concentration in wastewater is estimated using the 38 : WMUEEE=AEEHE T 5/KCODEER
annual third-party test report, with the figure for 2023 being BIE > 2023F FEH75mg/L ©
75mg/L.
Note 9:  The ammonia nitrogen concentration in wastewater is estimated 9 : UEEE =B AHREDSKEEEER

using the annual third-party test report, with the figure for 2023
being 18.9mg/L.

A& > 20234 EHL18.9mg/L °
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Change
Indicator i proportion
iz Bt gaitpl
Hazardous Total amount of hazardous waste
waste generated™® 1® tonnes
BEEEY BEREYELRE L 32.96 14.10 133.87%
- Volume of waste emulsion generated™ ' tonnes
-BALRELS i 21 6.63 216.65%
- Volume of oil-containing metal generated tonnes
-ShEEELS L 9.46 5.26 79.96%
- Quantity of waste packaging barrels
generated tonnes
-BOERELE L 1.20 0.48 152.94%
- Other hazardous wastes™ "2 tonnes
-EfBEEEY i 1.30 1.73 -24.77%
Intensity of hazardous waste generated tonnes/revenue in million RMB
BEBENELTE LVA=T-1/ON 0.0356 0.0179 98.60%
Total amount of hazardous waste disposed
offoe 13 tonnes
BEERNBERE L 32.96 18.40 79.18%
Non-hazardous Total amount of non-hazardous waste
waste generated tonnes
BEEEY REWEVELLE i 83.02 45.09 84.12%
- Office/domestic waste tonnes
A/ EER " 60.75 37.26 63.04%
- Recyclables™® tonnes
— ] [E e L 21.27 7.83 171.65%
- Other non-hazardous waste™® *° tonnes N/A
-HiEEHEYTS i 1 0 TER
Intensity of non-hazardous waste generated tonnes/revenue in million RMB
BEERNELTE LVA=T-1/ON 0.0897 0.0573 56.35%
Amount of non-hazardous waste recycled™® 6 tonnes
EBEREEMERE i 18.67 7.83 138.44%

Note 10: During the Reporting Period, the Group further refined the statistical — =xq( : BN EEE—S RETEEYSLEO
scope for waste and intensified our waste management practices. We oME T HEEYNEENE G %518
classified a broader range of waste under more scenarios as hazardous, TELNEEYRARESREY) HEanE=
which has resulted in a significant increase in the total amount of EEEYAS F R
hazardous waste. )

Note 11: Due to the Company's production needs and our commitment 0 =x11: HRAF4LERE AREERES AEEE
maintaining product quality, the Group carried out two emulsion EEE TN CRERATIE WAARGHKE
replacements during the year, which resulted in an increase in the B ETERFR L
amount of related hazardous waste generated.

Note 12: Other hazardous waste includes waste organic solvents, waste =10 : HthEZEEYOIEEEKAT| BEEEH B
lubricating oils, waste mineral oils and printer ink cartridges, which are BRIk ES L E L B8\ EEHE
either generated in smaller quantities or on an occasional basis. ENEEEEY -

Note 13: The total amount of hazardous waste is based on the amount transferred 313 : BT E=HEEBEMTHA(GCEERE
to qualified third parties and is documented with the Hazardous Waste ””)E@E%}%%#@%%% #o

Transfer Manifest.

Note 14: Recyclables include non-hazardous waste such as waste metals, waste =14 : 7
cardboard and waste plastics. %=
2

Note 15: Other non-hazardous waste mainly refers to construction waste,  £x15:
specifically 1 tonne of renovation waste generated by Weijing Medical.

E
Note 16: The total amount of non-hazardous waste recycled is based on the  =x1g: Iy

amount sold to waste recycling dealers, primarily consisting of waste N
cardboard and waste plastics.
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Promoting Green Office Operations

Kangji Medical has been steadfast in strengthening the integration of
green office principles into daily operations. We have ramped up our
efforts to promote green office practices to enhance employee awareness
of green office operations, with a focus on regular energy-saving and
emission-reducing initiatives. During the Reporting Period, the Group
has launched energy-saving initiatives both through technology and
management and has moved forward with the green architecture strategy
for our new plant, applying a multi-faceted approach to green office
operations, with various measures in place to minimize the environmental
impact of our operations.

Energy-Efficient Technology

. The ventilation system in our polishing workshop has been
upgraded from a single switch control to a variable frequency
drive that operates at constant pressure. While ensuring effective
exhaust, the system adjusts its power output based on the
number of active workstations to reduce unnecessary resource
wastage, thereby improving energy efficiency;

. Interlocking devices have been installed on the polishing
machines, air tube valves and lighting fixtures in the polishing
workshop to reduce resource wastage that occurs when
employees leave their workstations without turning off lights;

. Continuous replacement of energy-intensive lighting equipment
with energy-saving lighting options to conserve electricity.

Energy-Efficient Management

o Continuously promote the digital transformation of our office
workflows by transitioning the Group's approval process from
paper-based to OA system, leading to a reduction of the intensity
of paper use in the office (paper usage per milion RMB of sales
revenue) by approximately 10.9%;

o Standardize the temperature settings for air conditioning. In
summer, air conditioning should not be set below 26°C > and
in winter, heating is not to exceed 22°Ce These standards are
irregularly monitored to ensure adherence and foster an energy-
conscious culture among our staff in line with energy-saving and
carbon reduction regulations;

o Introduce a fuel consumption management system to the daily
management of our corporate vehicles. This involves monthly
assessments and rankings of the fuel consumption of our
corporate vehicles, which are made public. Our active efforts
were also made to spot any irregularities and refine our drivers'
monthly evaluation criteria to reduce fuel consumption across our
corporate fleet.
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Green Building

. The new R&D building is designed with a glass roof to maximize
natural light, which substitutes for a portion of the electric lighting,
thus reducing electricity use for lighting;

o Gas-fired boilers are used as the heating source in certain
workshops of phase four, decreasing the use of fossil fuels and
cutting down on greenhouse gas emissions;

. The new plant will opt for natural gas heating over electric ones
and will install water-saving apparatuses to diminish related
energy consumption.

EMPLOYEE CARE

Kangji Medical is well aware that employees are one of the indispensable
driving forces for the Group's sustainable development. Our corporate
values are firmly people-centric, and we dedicate ourselves to
safeguarding our employees' rights and interests in all aspects, striving to
create a healthy and safe work environment that provides employees with
a diverse and equal work atmosphere. Additionally, we place a strong
emphasis on cultivating a team of high-caliber professionals through
a diverse range of training resources, fully enabling our employees to
develop their skills and achieve personal fulfillment.

Employee Rights and Benefits

Kangji Medical insists on a people-oriented approach, strictly adhering
to laws and regulations such as the Labor Law of the People's Republic
of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People's Republic of China, the
Law of the People’s Republic of China on Promotion of Employment and
the Trade Union Law of the People's Republic of China. We have also
established charters such as the Employee Handbook, the Employee
Recruitment Management System and the Employee Training System to
regulate the management of recruitment and dismissal, compensation
and benefits, attendance and performance, working hours and holidays,
effectively safeguarding the legitimate rights and interests of employees.
Moreover, we create an environment of diversity and inclusivity, fostering
a workplace where equality and fairness are paramount, and every
employee feels a strong sense of belonging. We value the voices of our
employees by setting up various communication channels for employees
to encourage them to share their insights and advice.
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Safeguarding Employee Rights

Kangji Medical upholds a recruitment policy characterized by openness,
transparency, and equitable fairness, creating a fair mechanism in our
hiring practices. The Group implements the Employee Recruitment
Management System, which specifies the requirements and protocols
at each stage of the recruitment process, ensuring the efficiency and
compliance of our recruitment activities. During the Reporting Period,
we have integrated the recruitment processes of our branches outside
Chinese mainland into a centralized management system. We have also
updated our protocols for background checks, headhunter management
and approval authority within our position grading system specifically for
the mainland China region, thus further refining the Group's recruitment
management system.

We pursue a recruitment policy of broadly soliciting talents, tapping into
a variety of recruitment avenues such as job fairs, recruitment websites,
headhunters, campus recruitment and our WeChat official account to
enrich the Group's talent pool in multiple dimensions. In addition, the
Group has put in place the Internal Recommendation and Reward System
for the Company’s Employees to motivate our staff to recommend
prospects for open positions. Furthermore, we enforce a zero-tolerance
policy against discrimination throughout the hiring process by holding our
recruitment personnel to strict standards and vigilant oversight.

In strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations such as the Law
of the People's Republic of China on the Protection of Minors and the
Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour, we have established strict
verification processes to rigorously ensure all candidates meet age
requirements. Any candidate who does not meet the age criteria is not
hired, thus completely eradicating the use of child labor from the source.
Furthermore, the Group has a firm stance against forced labor and has
instituted the Overtime Management System to reasonably arrange
employees' working hours. In instances where overtime is necessary, the
Group will abide by the law to provide overtime pay or compensatory
leave, effectively ensuring that we comply with all applicable laws and
regulations regarding employees' work hours and labor rights. During
the Reporting Period, the Group did not experience any incidents of
employing child labor or forced labor.
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As of the end of the Reporting Period, the Group's workforce totaled # ERESHAR > REFHLE S T2E1,003A >
1,003 employees, representing an increase of 118 employees or a growth ~ FHEEEFEAN118 A 1 E413.33% > A 5] 1%
of approximately 13.33% compared to last year. The breakdown of the |4 R -FH - WE KEEEEETERNT
Company's employees by gender, age, region and employment type is as

follows: Employees by gender (persons) Employees by age (persons)

RIEHBSHETER (AN REBBIWETER (N

| Male = Female
SHEAT 2ERT and below  to 50 and above
30EBmKRUT 31-50@5% S0ERRRIA L

B Aged 30 = Aged 31 ® Aged 50

Employees by region (persons) Employees by employment type (persons)
BRtEHSHETER (A) REBERIAZNETER (N)

B Fmployees from m Employees outside Chinese mainland B Fyll-time B Part-time
Zhejiang Province hEIAREMSIMEERE T 2 Fidad
ANIEET
B Employees in Mainland China but outside Zhejiang Province
HIEMSMIAREE T
During the Reporting Period, the Group experienced an overall employee  ZAIZFEHAR » REBRE TAARKLEEXRYN

turnover rate of approximately 11.96%, all of whom were employees  %11.06% 23 AL EMNE T o AT ;53
within Zhejiang Province. The breakdown of the Company's employee [ RIFIEEEPHNE THREXRE RN T
turnover by gender and age is as follows:

Employee turnover rate by age (%) Employee turnover rate by gender (%)
BEREDHNEIRKALE (%) BHRB DB T RALEE (%)
13.19%
18.30% 10.03%
LS 9.09%
Aged 30 Aged 31 Aged 50 Male Female
and below to 50 and above BMET ZMET

30ERKRUT 31-50/85% S0EmRARE
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Promoting Diversity and Equality

Kangji Medical is an advocate of a diverse workplace culture and is
committed to creating an equal and inclusive working environment. We
firmly oppose any discrimination based on gender, age, region, religious
beliefs, and other factors to ensure that every employee is treated equally.

The Group puts emphasis on gender equality and strictly adheres to
national laws and regulations to ensure that employees have access to
maternity leave, childcare leave, and paternity leave while preventing
female employees from unfair treatment due to factors such as
pregnancy and menstruation. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s
retention rate of female employees who return from childcare leave
reached 90%, except for one who resigned after her maternity leave
for personal reasons. Moreover, apart from meeting business needs,
we actively explained the employment of people with disabilities, with 5
disabled employees now working in the Group. We encouraged disabled
employees to try different jobs at work so as to achieve their self-worth
while protecting their lawful rights and interests. During the Reporting
Period, we were not aware of any discrimination.

Well-Established Compensation System

Kangji Medical has established a sound and transparent compensation
system and a performance appraisal mechanism. We insist on using
employees’ work performance, competence, and quality as yardsticks
for determining their ranks and salaries and offering our employees
compensation packages that are competitive in the industry. Our clear
and flexible corporate ladder helps continue to provide talents with well-
defined career development paths, which can attract, motivate and retain
talented persons in a more effective way.

During the Reporting Period, the Group went further into optimizing the
link between the compensation system and the rank system, allowing
every employee at each rank to know his/her career path and salary
range. Meanwhile, we pushed forward the performance appraisal across
the board by making a list of rules on performance appraisal rules that
require incentives for employees who do well on the job as a way to
improve employees' work enthusiasm.
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Open Communication Channels B R EEE

Kangji Medical actively listens to our employees by establishing diverse g5 £ B2 ;% FTHERBEETINE KRETZE
communication channels, such as emails, surveys, employee forums and  EIFEHE > FH U4 -BHEBE 2 T ERK
performance discussions, to fully understand their concerns. = »5( HXEARFD " RO THETHR XK.

’

New Employee Forum themed “Open Discussion on ‘New’ Voice, Progressing Together”

WHH BT e HETENE

To deepen our understanding of the thoughts of our new employees and effectively address the challenges
they encounter in work and life, helping them better fit in the Group's development, Kangji Medical held
a new employee forum themed “Open Discussion on ‘New’ Voice, Progressing Together” during the
Reporting Period. The event was designed to build a platform for close communication between the Group's
management and new employees. It aimed to help new employees feel more connected to the Group and
enhance their sense of belonging, while also providing the Group with insights into the new employees'
perspectives. This further improved our management service standards, supporting our sustainable and
healthy development. A total of 65 new employees participated in this forum.

RE—FTTHRTEIBREHB VERANWEIAIFNEETEINME EMHETIEFMRMAERZE
BrAREHN BEEBRHAE T FTEABX WEBEFHITHEIEN S ETAEEECEBNWETIER
MEREBBRMTE —FHEDMEIRAEERE CRGEER S—FTHEMEE THRMEB T REE:HE &
—PIRABERB KT WA EFERBEER HET6LMEB T2 M T RENKE

During the Reporting Period, we carried on with our employee RFEHR BT EHEHEE TWHEES
engagement surveys, achieving a coverage of approximately 60% and & > BE X 460% > L5t oW A M & B
collecting over 500 valid responses in total. The findings from the survey 50019 c IRIER S D45 R > B T 48 FE A £
indicate that overall employee engagement has seen an improvement ELLXFEBFRIES > T EFE=ERMEE2R
from prior years, and employees reported a strong sense of job  #35g o

satisfaction and pride.
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Enhancing Welfare Standards

Kangji Medical is always committed to being a solid support for our
employees by offering a comprehensive range of benefits. In addition to
providing "five insurances and one fund”, we also extend medical mutual
aid insurance and various subsidies to all employees. Employer liability
insurance is purchased for rehired personnel who are retired, interns and
probationary employees.

Benefits and Leaves

In addition to statutory holidays, the Group ensures that all employees
enjoy legal leaves such as marriage leave, maternity leave, pregnancy
check leave and paternity leave and arranges a group trip for all
employees every year. Furthermore, we give birthday presents,
employment anniversary souvenirs and traditional holiday-specific gifts
to all employees and hold employee birthday parties every month to
enhance employee happiness.

Comprehensive Subsidy Policy

We have formulated a variety of subsidy policies to improve
employee welfare, including providing employees with subsidies for
communication, travel, meals, accommodation and high-temperature
conditions. Additionally, recognizing the challenges that some non-local
employees face in returning home for the Spring Festival, we also offer
reimbursement for their travel expenses during this period. Furthermore,
for employees who face family difficulties, the loss of immediate family
members, disability or hospitalization, the Group provides employees with
different amounts of condolence money depending on the situation to
help them navigate these challenging times.

Comfortable and Healthy Working Environment

The Group attaches great importance to the physical and mental health
of employees and has created a healthy, comfortable and safe working
environment. In our newly built office and dormitory buildings, we
have thoughtfully incorporated facilities that cater to the needs of our
employees' work and life. This includes amenities such as a library, rest
areas, a fitness center and a basketball court to promote a healthy work-
life balance among our employees and minimize the risk of work-related
health issues.
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Special Cultural and Sports Events

<t
Rl
B
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o
&

The Group promotes work-life balance and greater well-being for our HEEBBAFBEETIBEE BN XLES

employees by organizing a variety of unique cultural and sports activites. S SEENEBE T ¥ T{EEEEF ¥R E T

The special cultural and sports activities we carried out during the ZERZER - AREHARMEENIES B2

Reporting Period mainly include: EEBEEEE

. Family Sessions on Chinese Culture Learning: We hosted an e HrEEE HREUnE g
event themed "Celebrating the Asian Games, Dreaming in EfMf 38 E5t60RRE T RET
Equestrian”, with participation from over 60 employees and their ZEm,;
children in total;

. Kangiji Fitness Club: We organized a scenic hike along the Maling e J%%&E—?j: AR ESEGEESRT
Ancient Road, with participation from over 80 employees in total; SEEY HEET80B R E TR

J Employee Travel: We offered trips to 5 different destinations e 8T RiE . ,&Eﬁﬁ = [BEFfF%S
including Yunnan, Sanya and Xiamen, with participation from over 1Iﬁﬁﬁﬁ,€i?ﬁ% HEH47085 2 ETEM,;
470 employees in total,

. Women's Day Outing: In celebration of Women's Day, we e BREEE . %iﬂﬂﬁzélﬁjﬂﬁﬁa
presented all our female employees with holiday gift packages Ea WHEBSEE j(,_\%ﬂlf—:—é.ﬁﬁﬁ
and organized a day trip to Da Ciyan in Jiande and the — Bk 5tt‘§+403%§| 29
Shouchang Ancient Town, with participation from 403 female
employees in total;

. Annual Ceremony: We proudly conducted the 2024 Kangji e FERH I BELRT2024FEFRE
Medical "With You All the Way" Annual Ceremony, attended BEI—RAMRIFEXRHE 2EE
by over 1,400 employees and distributor representatives. This TREHEHBRERELE1,40088 A2
event was a time to reflect on our past achievements and set m> —EoEBEREEXRK £EZ I
our sights on future goals, fostering a shared sense of joy ENEH  ARERTEIZSAZE
and community. It also highlighted the diverse talents of our MN—EIEBETETINEER - ES
employees, strengthening their feelings of pride, accomplishment RAEF B -

and belonging.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-H1ERELGKRS

BREEFZERARAR c023FERSs 151



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HERERKRS

. franGumE

- 1;4Eggm

152 Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE-HEREGRS

Employee Safety BIT#%
In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Law of the BFEEEBEBRERET(FEARENRIZLE2E
People's Republic of China on Work Safety, the Law of the People's E &) (FZEAREMNBEI ZEFEH8%5)
Republic of China on Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, #E A REMEE ALY F 5351 iR ME
the Fire Control Law of the People's Republic of China, etc., Kangi B I Z 2 EASEBRRTHNEELE
Medical takes ensuring employee safety as the primary goal in the &|TEHEIT(LR2EESTH|) IHEHER
production process, and implemented the "system of responsibility in 24 EZELER B RPESEE X
safe production" it formulated and continued to advance the progress EB6SEBEIE ' EBEE2ANNTE2EESIEE
of safety production standardization. At the same time, we continued ZHoiBE=ZF FEBBERELSERITIETH
to implement 6S management and create a comprehensive safety [|Eo ANREHN EEBBEARBETES
production and management system. In the past three years, there have {4 o
been no work-related deaths at Kangji Medical. During the Reporting
Period, no work-related injuries occurred at Kangji Medical.
Kangji Medical fully integrates the characteristics of various work BEERBEBERZNDESSSIHEEEESHFEY B
scenarios, making safety production days an important performance Z24ERXHBIEAEETEESEANEE
metric for our production supervisors, thereby strengthening the safety 4&WEZIEIE > BRIEL 2 EIESEH|c &%
management responsibility system. During the Reporting Period, we set S HIR » T IR IE N E & 15 19 & bE A/ > 5%
safety production objectives for 2024 based on the risk levels in different 17 T2024FE BN L2 EEBE ©
areas:

Safety Production Objective for 2024

Objective Category 2024F B 1%

Z2EEBEHER

Number of near-miss The number of near-miss incidents in the office area ranges from 0 to 5;

incidents WABBHREEHEMEOSEZME ;

AEEHEH

The number of near-miss incidents in the production area ranges from 5
to 10.
FTEBERREEFEMES-10EZH -

Number of injuries resulting in | The number of injuries resulting in lost workdays in the office area

lost workdays ranges from O to 2;
BAIEFEIGEH MABEMNBERTIER LEEST0-2E M ;

The number of injuries resulting in lost workdays in the production area
ranges from 1 to 5.

TEEEAIBLATHFRTEEHTI-5EZMH-

Number of major fires and No major fires or other accidents occur.

other accidents NELEBRAKKREMER-

B R KK R B Ath = HGE &
Sound Safety Management System BEPrEPEEER
Kangji Medical attaches great importance to safety hazards in the EHBESEERSEREDNZR[S
production process and has established a management structure that g8, #2352 7 | I8 20 4 10 » 2 55 20 P9 4R 123
is anchored by the Safety and Environment Department, working in EHNEEEEEEDE 4 EL B HE
tandem with various business units to carry out daily production safety I8 T {Eo AEREHAN > R PIFTEMARZ 2 A
planning and management. During the Reporting Period, we continued &I k> HEE REERE TISE D
to strengthen safety risk management, upgrade safety management 2 IBiEW B4 EESHBERELZSD

measures on product production and construction and strengthen BEIEo
our occupational health and safety management in production and
operations.
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Safety Risk Prevention and Control

The Group relentlessly strengthens the prevention of safety risks at the
source, aiming for early detection and prevention of potential hazards.
During the Reporting Period, we developed a dual prevention system
titled the "Safety Risk Graded Control and Hidden Danger Inspection
and Management" to further refine our documentation including relevant
system files, inspection forms and risk identification lists, which has
improved the safety risk management system. To strengthen our
safety risk prevention and control efforts we implemented the following
measures:

o We identify and detect potential safety risks by issuing risk
assessment forms across all departments and ensure they are
addressed and mitigated in a timely manner;

o The Safety and Environment Department performs daily
supervision and inspection to ensure adherence to our fire safety
responsibilities, both at different organizational levels and for
specific job roles. It also searches for safety risk vulnerabilities.
Should any safety concerns arise, the affected teams are
promptly informed and corrective actions are taken;

o On the production side, we have established a safety
accountability system for team leaders, who are directly in charge
of routine safety checks. When potential hazards are identified,
the Group uses the LEC assessment method* to carry out risk
level identification and adopt targeted solutions for identified risks
of different levels.

2R

EETEHRTCHZE2ERNRERRD T
B BMOINLERABRFHEEF - B2RAM - AR
TR RARERT IX2AROREEA
REHERE I CERMESR HHEBAE
X BERE S BEREHESEEXHET
TE—IHE TETXE2AREERLR
WiEBRARNLTHEERICZZARBET
fE:

. BRHKBAERZ2ARRBER
Bo#p - mABTZ2AR L&
Ry ¥ 585 1) tH B9 B B 0 A BR ER B FA R
. RRASAREEEKETF EE
BRROH 2 2 EES A E AU %
EEEH FERERKRRR W%
RE2RE RENEEITEETE

c ALEREAHMERREEEF
5 BBAEEEEEEERRE
E o E WP L AR B IR
LECHHE =R AR S HMA » 1t 1
B 81 80 7 [5) % 4 L B3 SR B 8 39 14
R RIE T o

The LEC assessment method is a semi-quantitative safety assessment method for hazard sources in working environments

with potential dangers. It stands for L (Likelihood, the probability of an accident occurring), E (Exposure, the frequency

at which personnel are exposed to hazardous environments) and C (Consequence, the potential consequences of an

accident occurring).

LECFHE A B H AR BERRIEFRRETNERREETFEENZEFNES A L (Likelihood > EREEMN A M) “E

(Exposure’ AEBRENGRIRIETRRIELREE) MC (Consequence’ —BBAEFRAIFEEHNEBR) o
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Strengthening Protective Measures

During the Reporting Period, we focused on upgrading and maintaining
safety protection facilities in the production process to strengthen
production safety, mainly including:

o Phasing out some grinding and polishing equipment that failed
to meet standards and replacing it with new machines equipped
with dust extraction features to minimize workshop dust;

o Purchasing new devices for handling oil mist and metal scraps
to reduce significant oil mist and metal scraps produced during
operations in the polishing workshop, ensuring employee health
and safety;

o Equipping the polishing workshop with corresponding waste
disposal devices and safety alarm systems to promptly handle
and report real-time situations;

o Introducing new oil mist collection and processing devices to
improve the efficiency of oil mist collection and enhance the
workshop environment;

° Installing safety alarm devices in corridors, with briefings for all
production department staff on the importance and operational
procedures of these devices to further enhance safety awareness
in production.
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Occupational Health Management

In strict compliance with the Law of the People's Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases, Kangji Medical has
developed an Occupational Disease Prevention and Management System
and obtained the ISO 45001 certification. We continue to improve the
occupational health management system, identify potential occupational
health risks and formulate targeted solutions for risks that may have a
significant impact based on the results of field research.

We also provide employees with qualified labor protection supplies, such
as goggles, masks, earplugs, etc., and instruct employees on the correct
usage of these items. In addition, we have equipped the office area with
a "caring medicine box" to provide employees with common emergency
medicines and items and equipped the workplace with an Automated
External Defibrillator (AED) emergency equipment to enhance employees'
ability to respond to emergency health and safety incidents.

We continued to organize occupational health examinations for our
employees in specialized roles and issue test results in the form of
reports. During the Reporting Period, we have taken significant steps to
enhance our occupational health management system by enhancing our
occupational health evaluation system, standardizing our occupational
health management documentation and strengthening our occupational
health documentation monitoring to perform systematic supervision and
management of employees' health.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Construction Safety Risks

The Group places a strong emphasis on the occupational health and
safety of external construction workers and continuously updates
management processes and management measures to strengthen the
safety protection of outsourced personnel during construction.

. Focus on assessing construction safety risks, requiring
construction-related units to publicly display major Class A
risks, and making major Class A risks an important performance
indicator for assessing the qualifications of construction units,
supervisors and building engineers;

. Our team leaders, the Engineering Department and contractors
conduct special training for projects with higher risks, provide
safety training for new workers, and conduct assessments. Only
those who pass the examination can take up the job;

o Third-party construction units are required to purchase personal
safety commercial insurance for all employees.

Promoting Safety Culture

The Group adheres to the principle of safety-first development, constantly
striving to boost our employees' capabilities in identifying health and
safety hazards and responding to emergencies. During the Reporting
Period, we have continuously conducted 2 fire evacuation drills, 1
protective drill in our sterilization workshop and multiple seminars focused
on safety knowledge, among other safety production training activities, to
holistically enhance employees' awareness of health and safety.
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During the Reporting Period, to promote the standardization of our
employees' operations, we rolled out systematic training in system
documentation for workshop supervisors and team leaders, aiming
to deepen their understanding of the Group's health and safety
management standards and processes in various segments. Moreover,
we arranged for the entire Quality Department to learn about operational
norms for the use and storage of chemical products, as well as relevant
legal and regulatory requirements, to assist employees in preventing
potential operational safety risks.

N

Employee Development

Kangji Medical recognizes the pivotal role of talent as the propellant
for our ongoing progress. We have established a comprehensive talent
planning and training system that provides employees with a diverse array
of training programs, empowering them to realize their personal value.

During the Reporting Period, we conducted a total of 24,798 hours
of training across various programs, with 7,540 participants trained
in aggregate and an average of 24.72 hours of training per person,
achieving a coverage rate of 99%. Details of the performance indicators
related to employee training can be found in the chart below.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

FREMRN BEHETRERELCER
RMERREBETE HERBERTER
ERIEXHEN EHETERERRIR
MHRRZEEERBETRE L5 FHMA
BEENE2E2BTLRICERARERAMN
FROBRFREEUARBEAZREREZR
WEIB TR BERFLE /K-

BTHRE

BREBRRNAT BEXTERARERN
B RMABEBRTEN AT RENE
EREZ REIRHEZSTHNEIRE B
ETEREAAEBE

AIFEAN FMAE RS EENHE
24,798/ \EF > BEAI4BE N R7,540 A0 AY9EE
o472/ BEXREII% » B E1Z 348
RRESIEZE R T E -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Proportion of trained
employees by gender (%)

2 RE 2 ZHIME S A (%)
98.51% 99.46% 98.97% 99.02%

2022 2023

® Male B Female
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Average training hours of
employees by gender (hours)

215 5B 53 B9 (8 & T 3955 31 B B (VBF)

5060 28.41
25.44
22.35
2022 2023
m Male ® Female
Bt g i

RIE-HEREGHRS

Proportion of trained
employees by rank (%)
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Establishing Training System

Kangji Medical continued to improve its hierarchical training system to
help employees achieve steady development of personal and professional
skills. Taking into account the talent development sequence, we have
set up a curriculum system based on the dual-rank channel and
provided a corresponding series of courses for employees of different
ranks according to the rank sequence. In addition, during the Reporting
Period, we launched a pilot project targeting our logistics staff, where we
introduced our first-ever online training program on employees' general
capabilities, with a total of 26 people participating and completing the
training.

New Employee Training

We conducted a variety of new employee training activities to help
new employees quickly understand their job duties and adapt to
their positions as soon as possible. During the Reporting Period, we
introduced integration training programs for our new employees. After
completing the first phase of on-the-job training, these new employees
are required to quickly familiarize themselves with the production and
R&D aspects of our products within their respective departments. They
need to complete specific training modules and pass an exam to qualify
for permanent positions. During the Reporting Period, we organized a
total of 4 integration training programs for our new employees, reaching
over 90% of our new hires and accumulating a total of 1,170 training
hours, with 100% of the participants passing the exam.

Professional Skill Training

We continued to carry out professional skills training for different types
of employees. We provided training on quality systems, laws and
regulations, safety and environmental protection, R&D technology, etc.,
and newly conducted special training to strengthen safety knowledge.
During the Reporting Period, we conducted a total of 87 specialized
training sessions to enhance different professional skills.

Management Empowerment Training

We engaged professional instructors from third parties to conduct
immersive empowerment training for our entire cadre of middle and
senior management, including scenario-based simulations and group
discussions, all designed to enhance their leadership skills and
organizational coordination. During the Reporting Period, we carried out
a total of 4 management empowerment training sessions, each spanning
an entire day, with a total duration of 1,433 hours.
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Management Empowerment Training
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

Kangji Medical continually seeks synergy between our corporate growth
and societal progress, actively giving back to the community while
realizing corporate value. We support public services in healthcare,
education and social welfare through ongoing charitable activities
such as educational charity initiatives, charitable blood donation and
compassionate outreach. By fulfilling our corporate social responsibilities,
we aim to contribute to a more cohesive and harmonious society.

Spreading the Spirit of Charity

During the Reporting Period, Kangji Medical donated a total of
approximately RMB3.58 million to Tonglu County Charity Federation,
Tonglu Rainbow Public Welfare Service Center and Guangzhou Yilu
Tongxing Charity Foundation. In addition, the Group has enthusiastically
engaged in community welfare initiatives, channeling our "Kangji power"
into efforts that help foster a harmonious society.
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Educational Charity Initiative

BOBMBES

Kangji Medical highly values the development of educational undertakings and is committed to providing students with
access to top-tier educational resources. In May 2023, in celebration of Children's Day, we hosted a charity donation
event, donating children's books and stationery to five schools in the community where the Group is located. We also
established a charity reading room to nurture a love for reading in school environments and encourage the youth to
cultivate good reading habits. This initiative is designed to continuously enhance their cultural literacy, enrich their
knowledge and instill in them a set of positive and appropriate values.
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Charitable Blood Donation

mER M S

{] Kangji Medical encourages employees to participate in
public welfare activities, spreading the spirit of charity.
In the spirit of volunteer service, Kangji Medical
joined forces with the Tonglu Blood Station and the
- “ Jiande Central Blood Bank to hold a charitable blood
BxE PN RN TEM n | g¥ donation campaign themed "Welcoming the Asian

F : Games: Passionate Blood Donation for Health" in
September 2023. The event saw a turnout of over 90
employees, encompassing our chairman and members
from both the management and entry levels of the
Group, who together contributed an approximately 30
liters of blood in this charitable blood donation.
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Compassionate Outreach

B O R SE B

Kangji Medical remains dedicated
to championing the traditional
Chinese virtues of “respecting,
revering, caring for and helping
the elderly”, consistently delivering
comfort to our senior citizens. In
| : m  November 2023, our party branch
..,,,*' ! - ‘*'.':._u L ! : '- = representatives made their way to

WIFh Xl 375 3% the Liaison Center of NPG Deputies
J on Fengchuan Street. There, they
warmly greeted the beloved "school
gate grandpa", presenting him
with consolation gifts to express
gratitude for his contributions to our schoolchildren. This visit was a salute to his selfless dedication and mirrored our ongoing
mission to embody the spirit of volunteerism, solidifying our commitment to corporate social responsibility.
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Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Kangji Medical Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Kangji Medical
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 172 to 280, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting policy
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to respond to
our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the
procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for
our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters (continued)

HEEREE (&

Key audit matter

MBEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANERUNAEERRERER

Impairment for trade receivables

E G B R A E

As at 31 December 2023, the net carrying value of trade
receivables amounted to RMB225,534,000, after netting
off a loss allowance for impairment of RMB4,080,000,
representing 5.3% of the Group’s total assets.
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The impairment of trade receivables is assessed based
on the expected credit loss model which requires
significant judgements and estimates from management.
In assessing the expected credit losses of the trade
receivables, management considered various factors such
as the age of the balance, existence of disputes, recent
historical payment patterns, any other available information
concerning the creditworthiness of counterparties and
forward-looking information. The assessment is highly
judgmental.

B RKHREREERBREEHEEER TG
EEEEEBFHERHE KRGt - NTEEZ R
MENEREEFER EBEZR T ZEAER
Pl eriRktic - FENFZH - LHNBECSRS
- ARXSHFERARINEMEMABAER X
AIBEME B - ZIRSTE B = A o

The Group’s disclosures about the impairment of trade
receivables are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to the
financial statements.
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We evaluated the expected credit loss provision methodology
used by the Group. We also evaluated management’s
assessment on the estimates of customers’ current financial
positions and the forward-looking adjustments by reviewing
the analyses of the ageing of the receivables, testing on a
sample basis, examining payments received subsequent
to year end and historical payment patterns, reviewing
correspondence related to any disputes between the parties
involved and market information about the credit status of the
counterparties, where available, and evaluating the analyses
of influence from macroeconomics on the loss rates of the
Group’s customers.
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Key audit matter

MBEZEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BANBRUNAEERBRERZER

Impairment assessment of gooawill and intangible asset not ready for use

BB R 5 5k B X B) FF A9 T B 58 18 R 55

The Group had goodwill of RMB167,209,000 and
intangible asset not ready for use (“IPR&D”) of
RMB283,280,000, as disclosed in notes 15 and 16,
respectively, to the financial statements as at 31 December
2023 AN ISR R M 5215 16FT I 88 » 1220234
128318 BE£ENEERERIUBANEEL
BE (MHETHPMME)) D5lA AKRE167,209,000
E&)\Eﬁw283280,0007‘5°

Goodwill and IPR&D are subject to impairment assessment
annually, or when there are indicators that it might be
impaired. The Group’s goodwill and IPR&D acquired
through a business combination are allocated to the
underlying cash-generating unit (the “CGU”) to which the
goodwill and IPR&D belong for impairment testing. The
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the goodwill and
IPR&D belong is supported by value-in-use calculation
which is based on future discounted cash flows.
Management performed impairment assessment and
concluded that the goodwill and IPR&D were not impaired
as at 31 December 2023. The impairment assessment
made by management involved significant estimates and
judgements, including sales growth rates, gross profit
margin, and terminal growth rates used to estimate future
cash flows and discount rates applied to these forecasted
future cash flows of the underlying CGU. This impairment
assessment was significant to our audit because the
process was complex and involved significant judgements
and estimates.
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The Group’s disclosures about the impairment test of
goodwill and IPR&D are included in notes 2.4, 3, 15 and
16 to the financial statements.
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We evaluated management’s assessment of impairment
indications and management’s determination of the CGU
to which the goodwill and IPR&D belong. We obtained
management’s forecasted cash flows and tested the
mathematical accuracy of the underlying value-in-use
calculations.
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We assessed the key assumptions used in the value-in-
use calculations, comprising sales growth rates, gross
profit margin, terminal growth rate and discount rates.
When assessing these key assumptions, we discussed with
management to understand and evaluate management’s
basis for determining the assumptions and compared them
to the Group’s business development plans and market data
of similar products commercialised in the market. We also
involved our valuation specialist to assist us in evaluating
the valuation model and the discount rates applied by
management by comparing the discount rates used to entities
with similar risk profiles and those of the market information.
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the Management Discussion and
Analysis of the Annual Report (but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon), which we obtained
prior to the date of this auditor’s report, and the Chairman’s Statement,
the Report of the Directors, the Corporate Governance Report and the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which are expected to be
made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior
to the date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Chairman’s Statement, the Report of the Directors,
the Corporate Governance Report and the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement
therein, we are required to communicate the matter to the Audit
Committee.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

ENVR PR Gl

%ﬁﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%m

ERAEFREERBEEREFAMLTHE
M(EBYMBREER) REB(QTIF
PBEBRERBEEMPSNEGTHME
BER UHHAIABEEEHHHRROE
BAGFEHNRFFNERMERNERHE
SRR FrENASERNEE -

L

ERBREVBREE> BRAREFRRE
iy EEBEFELENEN UEERE
MITRBEEFECEAMNEER URE
BARFEEENESHER RIF BEATES
BER SEERBEINFLEE IpEH
thERNER TR

BERZZEEHY BEATEFETE
AX
=

BHEME RS M B wREA
AENTE

EPANEREHGREMBERERBERES T
FEHPRRFRERMENNERERR
MRS EERE LHASERMERD
RS - ARSES BT (FRERE)
Mmips o B EEMAE R AMERS
WRBS HEFEMALTESNAEEZR

BfEe

GEREBESKENRSE  BEFERERR
(BEARBFEETHNEZ X —EX
AR R ABRE R IR - SRR AT LY
HEFFHERSIE MRS ERAKREE
BRARAEFERSVBREREAE K
BUBRRAFHNEERE A ARHE
BRI P RIFE KR

BREETERARASR 2023FERE

169



170

Independent Auditor’s Report
EA VR 2 G

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lai Chee Kong.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

20 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

meiEmkEMEENER

Year ended 31 December 2023

B 202345 12531 HIFF &
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Htat AR¥TT ARBFT
REVENUE KA 5 926,023 786,367
Cost of sales HE B A (184,824) (151,120)
Gross profit EF 741,199 635,247
Other income and gains HME A U= 5 155,365 146,672
Selling and distribution expenses THE RKIHBEXS (69,842) (63,372)
Administrative expenses THREX (100,269) (71,269)
Research and development costs B 2% a2 (127,554) (66,019)
(Impairment)/reversal of impairment SHMEEN (BE) RE
on financial assets, net B[O F %8 (1,064) 1,054
Other expenses Hpx (6,807) (27,294)
Finance costs R B BY A 7 (2,257) (1,875)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX #2 7 F1 6 588,771 563,144
Income tax expense FTiEMeE 10 (136,476) (101,970)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRHHE 452,295 461,174
Attributable to: RN,
Owners of the parent NEEB N 504,021 478,735
Non-controlling interests JEERER (51,726) (17,561)
452,295 461,174
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hihz2m (5518) W=
(LOSS)/INCOME
Other comprehensive (loss)/income — JR 1B AERFRT B] §EE#T 74 E
that may be reclassified to profit 1Ea B A M= E
or loss in subsequent periods: (F578) W as :
Exchange differences on BINEBRRMEERER
translation of foreign operations (2,951) 514
Net other comprehensive REERABNEEMDESR
(loss)/income that may be BEEMEE
reclassified to profit or loss in (E518) /R 35
subsequent periods (2,951) 514
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive Income

meEmREMEERER

Year ended 31 December 2023

B ZE 20234512531 HIFF &
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

HaE ARBT T ARBTT

Other comprehensive income that
will not be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on

translation of the Company’s
financial statements into
presentation currency

Net other comprehensive income
that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss in subsequent
periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
(LOSS)/INCOME FOR THE
YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT
Basic

Diluted

REEHHTEENDEE

EmEM=EE
Wz !
BME A KNEFHERE
2 EBHNERERE
= 82,182
REEABTSEMDER
BaWEMEEmWEFE8
= 82,182
FHRKkRREREMZ@E
(E538) &
(2,951) 82,696
FREEKELELE
449,344 543,870
BUR AN LFEAS
ISYNCIEZF=DN 501,070 561,431
JEERER (51,726) (17,561)
449,344 543,870
BATEERITE AEMN
SRER
=N 12 RMB43.08 cents RMB39.63 cents
AR #43.08% AR #39.637
8 12 RMB42.99 cents RMB39.63 cents

AKI§42.997  AK39.6370
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

FEMBINRR
31 December 2023
202312531 H

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 ARETT ARET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- -BERRE 13 220,874 169,020
Prepayment for property, ME -BERREENRIE
plant and equipment 412 1,087
Right-of-use assets FTREEE 14(a) 64,904 99,571
Financial assets at fair value UAnBEstEBEEEET A
through profit or loss BTN EMEE 20 141,718 136,437
Goodwill Ffﬁ% 15 167,209 167,209
Other intangible assets HEMELEE 16 284,694 284,712
Deferred tax assets RIERIEE E 25 3,318 3,115
Total non-current assets ERBEEMBE 883,129 861,151
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Inventories Fa 17 105,205 105,399
Trade receivables B S EW RIS 18 225,534 163,145
Prepayments, other receivables ERIE HMME R RIE K
and other assets Hﬂﬂ:ﬁ}% 19 9,711 25,700
Financial assets at fair value NARBEFEEEES: A
through profit or loss EHREaNEMEE 20 11,449 11,156
Cash and cash equivalents Eﬁ%)ﬁ’ziﬁﬁ\f BY 21 2,676,588 2,818,360
3,028,487 3,123,760
Assets of a disposal group classified DHEAFFLEDN
as held for sale HEMRFEE 33 352,202 =
Total current assets MEBEERE 3,380,689 3,123,760
CURRENT LIABILITIES AR
Trade payables B S RIE 22 34,146 20,752
Other payables and accruals HMEMmIENTEIRER 23 82,084 82,942
Lease liabilities HEaE 14(b) 6,107 6,696
Deferred income AR N 24 636 636
Tax payable FE (TR I8 63,211 42,643
186,184 153,669
Liabilities directly associated with the EA D IEAIZIEFHENE E
assets classified as held for sale BizEENaRE 33 4,640 =
Total current liabilities e B R 190,824 153,669
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 3,189,865 2,970,091
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEMERRHEE
LIABILITIES 4,072,994 3,831,242
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMEBINR

31 December 2023

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Lease liabilities

Deferred income

Deferred tax liabilities

Total non-current liabilities

Net assets

EQUITY

Equity attributable to owners of the
parent

Share capital

Reserves

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Mr. Zhong Ming

EsSE L
Director

EF

EEMERRBER

FRBEE
HEER
TEIEUTA
TEIERIRER
FERBEEEER
BEEFE

1%
FATHES ARBEIEER

R
(A

R

EmABEE

20234F12H31H
2023 2022
2023 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Krat ARBTT AREFT
4,072,994 3,831,242
14(b) 37,883 42,323
24 - 636
25 91,265 69,475
129,148 112,434
3,943,846 3,718,808
26 86 86
28 3,649,676 3,372,912
3,649,762 3,372,998
32 294,084 345,810
3,943,846 3,718,808
Ms. Hu Yanyu
HEFRZ L
Chief Financial Officer
BEEMBE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mAEmEER

Year ended 31 December 2023

B 220234 12531 H IFFE
Attributable to owners of the parent
BAREAAES
Shares Share
held for option
Share share and  Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share premium award Treasury Capital award surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account* arrangement* shares* reserve* reserve* reserve* reserve* profits* Total interest Equity
RRAED
REEAEN BRER  EERBR EZRY
Bx  RIVEER Ry EsRR ExRE  RBHEE i i REWE & HERER  REAE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AERTR ARBTT ARMTR ARETR ARNTR ARBTn ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR ARBT:
(note 26) (note 28) (note 28) (note 28) (note 28)
(Hfzk26) (Mses)  (Wa28)  (Hses)  (Mizks)
At 1 January 2023 202351810 8 2,481,480 (¢] (5,495) 33,301 37,252 128,314 (159,123) 857,186 3,372,998 345810 3,718,808
Profit for the year ERFIE - - - - - - - - 504,021 504,021 (51,726) 452,205
Other comprehensive loss for the year:  EREMZEHE
Exchange differences related to BAEBREERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - (2,951) - (2,951) - (2,951)
Total comprehensive income for the year £R2E M EAE - - - - - - - (2,951) 504,021 501,070 (51,726) 449,344
Shares repurchased (note 26(c)) BBEERH (H526(0) - - - (16,580) - - - - - (16,580) - (16,580)
Shares cancelled (note 26(c)) Bat R (H26(0) - (19,202) - 19,202 - - - - - - - -
Dividend declared BERES = = - - - - - - (216,349)  (216,349) - (216,349)
MRABERNTR (5
Share-based payments (note 27) 27) - = - - - 8,623 - - - 8,623 - 8,623
Transfer of share option reserve upon ~ RERIERRMEEE
the forfelture of share option BREGE - - - - - (9,175) - - 9,175 - - -
Transfer to statutory suplus reserve  BAE T RS - - - - - - 53,677 - (53,677) - - -
At 31 December 2023 20235128318 86 2,462,278 (€] (2,873) 33,301 36,700 181,991 (162,074) 1,100,356 3,649,762 294,084 3,943,846

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

mEEmEER

Year ended 31 December 2023

B F20235F 12531 H IFF &
Attributable to owners of the parent
BATREAES
Shares Share
held for option
Share share and Statutory  Exchange Non-
Share premium award Treasury Capital award surplus  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account”  arrangement* shares* reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’ profits™ Total interest Equity
AR RE
RHEEN BRER  iERH%  EXE®
Bx ROGER Bl BHERY  EREE REHEE i o RERE a5t FERER  EReE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEETRE ARETR ARETR ARETR AEMTR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETR
(note 26) (note 28) (note 28) (note 28) (note 28)
(Hf3t26) (Wzios)  (mies)  (Haes)  (MiEH2e)
At 1 January 2022 120201818 8 2,762,034 vl (4,288) 33,301 26,286 77,454 (241,819) 607,347 3,260,401 - 3,260,401
Profit for the year ERNFE o S - - - - - - 478,735 478,735 (17561) 461,174
Other comprehensive income ENEMRENRE
for the year:
Exchange differences related to BAEBREERER
foreign operations - - - - - - - 82,696 - 82,696 - 82,696
Total comprehensive income for the year £RZ2E W& AE - - - - - - - 82,696 478,735 561,431 (17,561) 543,870
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-BRERS - - - - - - - - - - 363,371 363,371
Purchase of shares for shere award ~ StRAREIZHEER(H
arrangement (note 26(a)) (Hi5£26(a) - (110,159) 1) - - = = S - (110,154) = (110,154)
Shares repurchased (note 26(b)) BRERH (Hx26b) - - - (71810 - - - - - (171,610 - (171,610)
Shares cancelled (note 26(b)) BB (F:26(0) @ (170401) - 170,403 - - - - - - - -
Dividend declared BERKE = = S S S S S S (178,036) (178,036) o (178,036)
Share-based payments (note 27) WA AERNA
(i&27) - - - = - 10,966 = = = 10,966 - 10,966
Transfer to statutory surplus reserve. ~ BAEERBHE - - - - - - 50,860 S (50,860) S = =
At 31 December 2022 120225 12A318 8 2481480 (K] (5,495) 33,301 37,262 128,314 (159,123) 857,186 3,372,998 345810 3,718,808
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB3,649,676,000 (2022: RMB3,372,912,000) in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

* EREMBRRRT 2 ERERTIES HHEE AR EES,649,676,0007T (20224 : AR¥3,372,912,0007T) °
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nV-F iﬁ%l}ﬂ;i

Year ended 31 December 2023
B FE20234F 12531 HIF FE/ZE

2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wizt AR%FT AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM RETHAMERERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax AR 588,771 563,144
Adjustments for: MTIIBEBEHAEE .
Finance costs L E AR A 7 2,257 1,875
Bank interest income SRITH B WA 5 (91,832) (70,003)
Investment (income)/losses from UAnREBESEEEEHTA
financial assets at fair value EEENEMEENKLE
through profit or loss WA B8 6 (58) 23,469
Fair value gains on financial assets MUAAEBEIEBEESEFH T AZH
at fair value through profit or loss #EBmHETMEBEEN A RNBERR 5 (5,560) (22,705)
Gains on disposal of items of HEME BERRFHBEENKRZG
property, plant and equipment 6 (48) (191)
Depreciation of property, ME- -BEKREEITE
plant and equipment 18 21,918 14,514
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FREEEITE 14(a) 10,777 6,896
Amortisation of intangible assets EEEE#E 16 259 221
Impairment of trade receivables, B ERWRIERE R
net 18 1,064 (1,054)
Recognition of deferred income FESRIRIE WA 24 (636) (636)
Lease modification HEEX (304) -
Share-based payment expense MURBAERNNORES 8,623 10,966
535,231 526,496
Decrease/(increase) in inventories L (g 194 (36,846)
Increase in trade receivables %ﬂ%%uﬁlmﬂﬁi il (74,224) (80,972)
Decrease/(increase) in FETFRIE ~ HAhFE WA B R H Ath
prepayments, other receivables BERL (gm)
and other assets 7,098 (16,815)
Increase in trade payables B 5 e AUIEIE M 13,394 1,274
Increase/(decrease) in other HihfERIB K TEIRIEE
payables and accruals whn Geo) 7,767 (11,500)
Cash generated from operations REEENIRE 489,460 381,637
Interest received BWFE 22,647 25,518
Income tax paid BENFER (92,492) (87,842)
Net cash flows from operating RETHMEREREFE
activities 419,615 319,313
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Notes

HaE

CASH FLOWS USED IN
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Purchases of items of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment

Purchases of items of intangible
assets

Purchases of financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Proceeds from sales of financial
assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Purchases of an equity investment
at fair value through profit or loss

Prepayment of leasehold lands

Interest received

Increase in time deposits with
original maturity of over three
months

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Net cash flows used in investing
activities

CASH FLOWS USED IN
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Purchase of shares for share award
arrangement

Shares repurchased

Repayment of other loans

Principal portion of lease payments

Interest paid

Dividend paid

Net cash flows used in financing
activities

REEDFARERE

BEME BEARBEEER

HEME - MERRBEBRSNE

BEETLEERE

BEURABEFEEEEZHFTA
EHEGNERMEE

REURANBEFEBHEEHFTA
EHEENEMEENSMRE

BEURAEEFEEEEZHFTA
ERBRTEN—ERERE

THE LM FR (I RIA

BUH 8

[REHAPR B =18 A 1 E BRI 0

WHE—HNEAS

REDHARREREFHR

MEEDFARERE

TR IEB ZHEEE RN
26(a)
BB E8 15 26(b)/(c)
BEHMER
HE TR EE D 29(b)
BENHE
BENERE

MERFMARESREFHR

H‘T\ iﬁﬁ/}llgﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2023
Bt E202345 12531 HIFFE

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AREFT
(86,821) (75,697)
650 357
(241) (1,534)
(29,194) (1,429,068)
29,238 1,455,257

- (2,500)

(854) (37,890)
31,386 21,583
(335,860) (280,668)
- (19,823)
(391,696) (369,983)
- (110,154)
(16,580) (171,610)
- (5,000)
(10,603) (5,818)
- (263)
(216,349) (179,947)
(243,532) (472,792)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nV-F iﬁ%l}ﬂ;i

Year ended 31 December 2023
B FE20234F 12531 HIF FE/ZE

2023 2022

20235 20224

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt AR%FT ARBTT

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RE&RHFSLEYRLBE

CASH EQUIVALENTS (215,613) (523,462)
Cash and cash equivalents at FNRERREEEY

beginning of year 1,738,963 2,177,833
Effect of foreign exchange rate PEXEEN R ERER

changes, net (2,953) 84,592

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS #XR£RIRESZEY
AT END OF YEAR 1,520,397 1,738,963

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES HERREEEMEGRI N
OF CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents as REMBRIRAMMANIRER

stated in the consolidated REEEY

statement of financial position 21 2,676,588 2,818,360
Time deposits with original EERFREHRREBE=EA

maturity of over three months HNEHRTFR

when acquired (1,453,055) (1,079,397)
Cash and cash equivalents DEARFHENHEAREN

attributable to a disposal group RERIBEEEY

classified as held for sale 33 296,864 -
Cash and cash equivalents as FERERERANMANIRS

stated in the consolidated KRIREZEEY

statement of cash flows 1,520,397 1,738,963
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R MY 5E

CORPORATE INFORMATION 1. REEE
The Company is a limited liability company incorporated in the RKANTIZE— %?75’32020&25 128 #
Cayman lIslands on 12 February 2020. The registered office F';ﬁ 28 % M IINEBER AT A
address of the Company is 71 Fort Street, PO Box 500, George NESIN: R R ) ilt7%71 Fort
Town, Grand Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman Islands. Street, PO Box 500, George Town,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1106, Cayman
Islands °
The Company acts as an investment holding company of the KNBAKREFBNEEIZR AT IR
Group and also engaged in provision of investment consultation RERNMBIRALEZART - N F
services during the year. During the year, the Company’s N RABHNNBATS FEZRE—2
subsidiaries were principally involved in the design, development, EMAISR Fi s B HENEET
manufacture and sale of a comprehensive suite of minimally FHEX  BUE MEHE o

invasive surgical instruments and accessories.
The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the

PN/
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) EHiBE
on 29 June 2020 (“Listing”). FirEm (F_I:FEJ) °

A
Information about subsidiaries =Rl

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: rAN/NE=|
NS0

Percentage of

Place and date Nominal value equity interest
of incorporation/ of issued attributable
registration and shares/ to the Company
place of business registered ztlf\:mgﬁ
MM M share capital REEDLL
EE R HERU R BETRG/ Direct Indirect  Principal activities
E i A EE E# Mg FEEH
Hangzhou Kangji Medical People’s Republic of China RMB 500,000,000 - 100  Manufacturing
Instrument Co., Ltd (“PRC”)/Chinese Mainland distribution and
(*Hangzhou Kangji’)* 24 August 2004 research and
development
MMERE RSN REANRANE AR #500,000,0007T HE KRR E
BRAE (THMEE)" (THhEL) /HRERH
2004F8H24H
Hangzhou Weijing Medical PRC/Chinese Mainland RMB 1,486,989 = 35  Research and
Robot Co., Ltd 28 December 2021 development
(“Weijing Medical”)*
NI B 1 28 A HE/FRERH AR 1,486,9897¢ ik
BRAE (HERE)" 20214128280
Kangji Medical Hong Kong United States 100 - Wholesale retail and
(Hong Kong) Limited 21 December 2015 dollars (‘US$”) distribution
(“Kangji Hong Kong”) 158,407,643
REBR (BH) &E 158,407,643% 7T 13 TERKH
BRAR (REEFHE) 20155128218 (T
* These entities are limited liability enterprises established & ZEERAREIREREMIINE
under PRC law. [RETEAT
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.1

CORPORATE INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”)
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value.
Disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of their
carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell as further
explained in note 2.4. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi (‘RMB”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.
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2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights
results in control. When the Company has less than a majority of
the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has
power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group
and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

2.1
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described above. A change
in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control,
is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the
related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling
interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the
fair value of any investment retained and any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate,
on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that
are applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Making Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory
guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality to
accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed
the material accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any
impact on the measurement, recognition or presentation
of any items in the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since the
Group’s approach and policy align with the amendments,
the amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below: (continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 712 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the
scope of the initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so
that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences, such
as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising from
these transactions. The amendments did not have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform -
Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary
exception from the recognition and disclosure of deferred
taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar Two
model rules published by the Organisation for Economic
Co-operation and Development. The amendments
also introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes, including the disclosure of current tax related to
Pillar Two income taxes separately in the periods when
Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which
the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the
scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the amendments did
not have any impact to the Group.
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that
have been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial
statements. The Group intends to apply these revised HKFRSs, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets

and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”) "¢

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments’) 4

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7

and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

U Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available

for adoption

< As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from
the transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only
to the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate
or joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a
seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a
sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does
not recognise any amount of the gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied
retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered into
after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January
2019). Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3

Notes to Financial Statements

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current, including what is meant by
a right to defer settlement and that a right to defer must exist
at the end of the reporting period. Classification of a liability is
unaffected by the likelihood that the entity will exercise its right
to defer settlement. The amendments also clarify that a liability
can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that only if a
conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for
as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments to further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan arrangement,
only those with which an entity must comply on or before the
reporting date affect the classification of that liability as current
or non-current. Additional disclosures are required for non-
current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with
future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early
is required to apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and
vice versa. The Group is currently assessing the impact of the
amendments and whether existing loan agreements may require
revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics
of supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure
of such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of financial statements
in understanding the effects of supplier finance arrangements
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. Earlier application of the amendments is permitted.
The amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the
beginning of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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FAF5 R R b EE

2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess
whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency and
how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate at a measurement
date when exchangeability is lacking. The amendments
require disclosures of information that enable users of financial
statements to understand the impact of a currency not being
exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be
recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits or to the cumulative amount of translation differences
accumulated in a separate component of equity, where
appropriate, at the date of initial application. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 December. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to which
the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment
loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its unlisted investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair
value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic
best interest.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

2.4

EXREEER (&

EBEHEEE (B

BMEZERBENRTEL B (K
REELEBMUMER) PJUEIREERIET
HEREE-MWREELEM (KR
T ELEEBAAAR) BYF W B EEER
SREE AEBEEBE EER
RHREBEAEREBABER -

HEEENEEREEEEM (HR
TEEBEMUAR)  AZEBAURNF
BHER  REHEFEROBER
SARGRABUEEHERTRE
BoRZERRELNBEE BEH
EHERFAENRTEELEEURMNOH
HHEBEREEFH-

ARMAE B

AEBRZAREBRRANEE
SAEHREHRE-AABEETS
2REBDNFAEANEEHRFRS
PHEBEFMUNRIBEERMX
HHER 2 RBEFEENRR
EEENERARNRENEER
BENEIETHET AWML EETE
miE AREENERHNREN TS
ET - FENREANTEAREERE
BEANTH BEREENQNE
BEERAHESRERBEENERTE
BRMEBNRKRE (RRHH2
BENHREQEMNHEITE) °



2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in
its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly

or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and a disposal group
classified as held for sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of
the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters
building) is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise,
to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the
period in which it arises in those expense categories consistent
with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period
as to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount
that would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

The intangible assets related to in-process development of
endoscopic surgical instruments control system that are not ready
for use and the Group is continuing research and development
work, it is subject to an annual impairment test based on the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
intangible asset is related to.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(if) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(continued)
Related parties (continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies: (continued)

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

(Vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5, as further
explained in the accounting policy for “Non-current assets and
disposal groups held for sale”. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

2.4 BEXRGTHE &

RS (&)

by BEAAFTE TINEAEHEDN
BB (B

E%M_EE?
X MmHn—8
_HE%M%

(iv)

O R \my
»ww

> 2k o) 8

(v RERR/TEENAR
EEARBNBERLE
ENERIINBEREE
F st 8 ;

i) ZEREXZ(@BEMALT
Pl e EES]

(i) (@)()VBFFft A tHZE
BEAESEAFENYB
ZER (ZEENS
NE)WETEEEAE
Z2— &

(viii) ZERIHFMBEERN
EFARERRABEEER
UAEEFRFIRME
EEBEAERB-

ME-BERRFERIFE

M BB sk (ERZITRERIN 2
B 2 R R 5t i B R AR AR B 5 1R 5
fRefi—BYME -BERREEE K
ﬁ@%hﬁﬁﬁ %ﬁ”@%h@ﬁ
EEEMEAN Mo BIZEE T
RITE ﬁ*ﬁ%@(é%ﬁa‘%%&%ﬁﬂu »
EEANR HE—DHERHEN IR
HEERFFHENEEAG NG
STER W% BB R %EE%W
rEEBREEBREAREEEZEEH
EERRMMHFERERBENER
FEAG AL S o



2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are
satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the
cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual
value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Buildings 5 to 20 years
Leasehold improvements 3 to 5 years
Plant and machinery 3 to 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 3 to 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
each financial year end.
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant
part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit
or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Construction in progress stated at cost less any impairment
losses, and is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate
category of property, plant and equipment when completed and
ready for use.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for
sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally through
a sales transaction rather than through continuing use. For this
to be the case, the asset or disposal group must be available
for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms
that are usual and customary for the sale of such assets or
disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable. All assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a disposal group are
reclassified as held for sale regardless of whether the Group
retains a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the
sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than financial
assets) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of
their carrying amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets classified as held for
sale are not depreciated or amortised.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life
are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

IPR&D

The Group obtained IPR&D through acquisition for the
purpose of continuing the research and development work
and commercialisation of the products, which are classified as
intangible assets not ready for use.

Patents

Purchased patents are stated at cost less any impairment losses
and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives of 7 to 18 years.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses
and is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 3 to 5 years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its
ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate future
economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure during
the development. Product development expenditure which does
not meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset
for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The Group
recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(@

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is
available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at
cost, less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the
amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Office premises

50 years
24 to 100 months

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

(©

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group
exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises (that
is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months and
do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value through
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

Purchases or sale of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation or
convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade date,
that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset
is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Dividends on the equity investments are also recognised as other
income in profit or loss when the right of payment has been
established.
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FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statements of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(‘ECLs”") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 180 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment
under the general approach and they are classified within the
following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade
receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to

lifetime ECLs
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as payables.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in
the case of payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
accruals and lease liabilities.
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability
and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company or the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly
in equity at cost. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

EXGHE &

THEE #E
KEBHEA BN ZHER (BS
KA &7 E)

R P HERE B 5 R EME N RIE
HEemBEmAxBERMNER LS
B EMBENZEBMASEERNK
Sho MEZKBER TRERETR B
BERALIEIERERANZHHES
REER s REENERER

5T & 8 85 A B B 5 e A o] WK B B
WFrBIEE URBRERMNER—
MOMBERIMAE - BRFKEHC
SEABmPHIRERE

ﬁgltﬁﬁwﬁrﬂﬁﬁ

TRE AR i%ﬁI,E"FE’JEEEE%H% :
/JJ/]%):/\I%B%H\JJIE@ =7\

E-EHEATREE®REKBR—
TA)\TBMME%k#EE’J%—Iﬁﬁ
REEFMIRA AHREEENER
fEHRIEIEET > BB BB SHE ST
RARIRIREEREREDRNE
B-MEEBREEZEANERNED
FREESD ©

HEEMIT A

HRITEFEE B BFRITHEGE
R LR E RS T8 BERLUE
REEETCEEARNREREEEK
BEER ERMEEARERMERN]T
W MBEARMBREIRER-

BEERG

ARBDNAEEBEMBAMBTAEN
BESRmT A (BEERM) DBEEE
EEREmzTER TEBL B
ERTHARFHLIEEESET TR
BY YR o B S R Y 1R o R T o



2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and
disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of
generally within three months when acquired, and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to
use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised
for a provision is the present value at the end of the reporting
period of the future expenditures expected to be required to
settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted present value
amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.
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FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
country in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that
is not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss
and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
the year and are recognised to the extent that it has become
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all
or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.
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2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates
to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic
basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over
the expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual
instalments or deducted from the carrying amount of the asset
and released to profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation
charge.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services
to the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at
contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continueqd)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods to the customer for more than one year, revenue
is measured at the present value of the amount receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in
a separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant
financial benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised
under the contract includes the interest expense accreted on
the contract liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by the customer
and the transfer of the promised goods is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised at the point in
time when control of the asset is transferred to the customer,
generally on acceptance of the products.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under
the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods to the
customer).
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FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option plan and a restricted share
unit plan for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”). The cost of equity-settled
transactions with employees is measured by reference to the
fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 27 to the financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of the reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit
to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of
that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair value
of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any other
conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are
also service and/or performance conditions.
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition, an
expense is recognised for any modification that increases the total
fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where
an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had
vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding share options and restricted
share units (‘RSUs”) is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

Other employee benefits
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in Chinese Mainland are required to participate in a central
pension scheme operated by the local municipal government.
The subsidiaries operating in Chinese Mainland are required to
contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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FAF5 R R b EE

2.4

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the note 11 to the financial
statements. Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items included in the
consolidated financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions
recorded by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using
their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4

Notes to Financial Statements

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the non-PRC established subsidiaries
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of the non-PRC established subsidiaries are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company and non-
PRC established subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

2.4

FAF5 R R MY 5E

EREEER (E

5hi (@)

MEENTRDARNHEERN
FEBREENFERERBNK LR
RENEREE R RARE
R -HRARZ BRREEBN T ER
RUHEELENIFEREENIFES
KaENAP -HEMHBRZER
BAAEBREESERNIARY
EBNXZEH-

RIBSNE LBV B AR B W EE B 1
REARBEUINEE - NS H
R ZEEENEEREBRRSH
REFNEXMESARE Hifm

% 5 B i B O 5O LB BE K 9
CEYN:T

PREEMNEREZBRNEtMEE KRG
500 W E KB R HIF
EREDBIGPERERIN -RNEE S
ShNEBE BB EBINEBBEBEN
EERSt RN B o

MGG REMNERMES » PRI IL
WBARNRERERFEERE
HEEANEXRE/ARB - AL
8] Fe 1Y 1% 9h B 32 BY Y /BB A B FF 9 4K
FEENHETRERNRERNMEF
HEXRBESARK

BREETERARASR 2023FERE

217



218

Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make significant judgements and estimates that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Consolidation of Weijing Medical

At 31 December 2023, the Group owned a 35% equity interest in
Weijing Medical. According to the equity investment agreement
and Wejing Medical’s articles of association, the Group has power
over Weijing Medical upon acquisition when it has existing rights
that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities, ie
the activities that significantly affect Weijing Medical’s returns,
through its existing rights over Weijing Medical’'s board meetings
as well as shareholders’ meetings. Therefore, the directors of
the Company believe the Group has control over Weijing Medical
upon acquisition and consolidated its financial statements from
the date the Group obtained control.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade

receivables. The provision rates are based on aging for groupings
of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to
an increased number of defaults in the distribution sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The historical
credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future. The information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade
receivables is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.

Impairment testing of intangible assets not ready for use

Intangible assets not ready for use are not subject to amortisation
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. The Group obtained IPR&D through acquisition for
the purpose of continuing the research and development work
and commercialisation of the products, which are classified as
intangible assets not ready for use.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the
intangible asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an intangible
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. The
carrying amount of IPR&D is disclosed in note 16 to the financial
statements. Further details about the impairment assessment are
included in note 15 to the financial statements.
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FAF5 R R b EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires estimations of the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill is allocated,
which is the higher of the cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal using cash flow projections
based on a financial budget. Estimating the recoverable amount
requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to choose
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value
of those cash flows. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31
December 2023 was RMB167,209,000 (2022: RMB167,209,000).
Further details are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is not organised into
business units based on their products and only has one
reportable operating segment. Management monitors the results
of the Group’s operating segment as a whole for the purpose
of making decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Geographic information

EEGSHE R &S (E

HEtrEERER (@)
B EBE

AEREVESEFETHEETLER
BE - EEEREBEVFEEEARS
MERASBEEEESRENIREE
4 B A9 AT W o] & BB 1F B R i 5T
RS ELFBAUNERAEEEAER
AEBEHEENREKAFTNESHE o H5T
Wb EEEEAEBRMGETRER
SELBAMTERRAKRESRE I
RESENMBEXMNUFSEZERS
MERIRER2023F12H31H ' &
EZWNREEA AR167,209,0007T
(20224 : AR #167,209,0007T) ©
E—T BN B BRERMAT15
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HEREE AERTEREEME
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(a) Revenue from external customers (a) IIrEEFIKA
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Fx ARBBFT
Chinese Mainland A e P 840,066 715,097
Other Hif 85,957 71,270
Total revenue U A 926,023 786,367

The revenue information is based on the locations of the
customers.
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FAF5 R R MY 5E

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REFWPEN &
(continued)
Geographic information (continued) WEER (&
(b) Non-current assets (b) FETEBEE
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Tx ARETT
Chinese Mainland A e P 737,831 720,939
Other Hih 262 660
Total non-current assets ERTEELE 738,093 721,599
The non-current asset information above is based on the UEIERBHEEERTDER
locations of assets and excludes financial instruments and EREBEEMEMUNEREARAERE
deferred tax assets. TRTAMEERBEE -
Information about major customers ERETERRMNEN
Revenue from each major customer which accounted for 10% or FRAEFTEZREENMEE
more of the Group’s revenue during the year is set out below: EBIA10% L EU A E 5
mr
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARETT
Customer A ZHAA 123,194 N/A* 48 F3*
Customer B EFB N/A* R3E 93,084
* Less than 10% of the Group’s revenue * EAREBERAI0%UT
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA~ HMURA R
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WAB DT
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT AR#ET T
Revenue from contracts with customers KEEFRGHANIA 926,023 786,367
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FAF5 R R b EE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

(continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

WA~ U A R iz (2

REERAHHNKA
(a) HMFBRAEH

Type of goods EmEn

Sale of medical instruments THE BRI

Geographical markets & 535

Chinese Mainland A E g i

Other HAith

Total st

Timing of revenue recognition N3

Goods transferred at a point in time RE—REEEN
E&

The following table shows the amounts in the current

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR®ET T
926,023 786,367
840,066 715,097
85,957 71,270
926,023 786,367
926,023 786,367

TERETHNARSHHESR L

reporting period of revenue recognised that was included RHREHIUATAGHNEERTN
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting WA £ %8 .
period:
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT AR®FT
Revenue recognised that was included in ARSI GHNEEN
contract liabilities at the beginning of the BEREZBWA
reporting period:
Sale of medical instruments & B ER i 740 2,758
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FAF5 R R MY 5E

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. WA ~HMBRAKRIWE (&
(continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) RKEZTESHBNKA (&

(b) Performance obligation (b) EBHEE

Information about the Group’s performance obligation is

summarised below:

Sale of medical instruments

The performance obligation, which is part of a contract
that has an original expected duration of one year or less,
is satisfied upon acceptance of the goods and payment
is generally due within one month, extending up to two

months for certain customers.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Other income

Government grants*

Bank interest income

Investment income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Others

Total other income

Gains
Fair value gains on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Gains on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment

Total gains

Total other income and gains

Hithlg A

L7 468 B

RITFBUA
UAnBESEEEEZH
STASHIREN TR
EENRERA

HAth

HAthur A #8 %8

U a8
UAnBESEEEEZS
STASHIREN TR
EENRAAEBEWE
HEME BB RRHE

EE WS

3 %
B

E AU A R W A8 5R

The government grants mainly represent subsidies

received from the local governments for the

purposes of compensation for expenses arising

from research activities, reward for financial

contribution and capital expenditure incurred on

certain projects.

ERAEEBNEENER
BEaan T

HEE RS

BHEE (REAHBRS—
FRBEENSHON—ED)
BXEMKRRET IMBERN
—EARIR - EFERRS
BERMEA e

HWA R @B o

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT
57,444 52,945
91,832 70,003
58 =

423 828
149,757 123,776
5,560 22,705

48 191

5,608 22,896
155,365 146,672

- BB EZ Bt 5 I
FF 1SR FE AL - R D (E A
SURB AL WK
ERMNERNETEERN

BEARZ -
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6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. MaiFlE

AEBWRATFBLE&MGR (5

The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): A) U TRIEREH
2023 2022
20234 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Wizt AR%FT AREFT
Cost of inventories sold BEFEMRK 182,223 149,468
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERBRETE
plant and equipment*® 13 21,918 14,514
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEINE 14(a) 10,777 6,896
Amortisation of intangible assets** EEEE#HE 16 259 221
Impairment of trade receivables, net B S EWRTIEREFE 18 1,064 (1,054)
Write-down of inventories to net FEMRE &R
realisable value**** FE 2,601 1,652
Lease payments not included in the WARFAHEGGEHEN
measurement of lease liabilities GEN=ENEN 14(c) 737 421
Auditor’s remuneration ZE BN & 2,750 2,750
Research and development costs ff 8% pY A< 127,554 66,019
Government grants AT Eh (57,444) (52,945)
Bank interest income RITH BUWA (91,832) (70,003)
Investment (income)/losses from ManBETE8HEEE
financial assets at fair value through FFABREEN
profit or loss THEENRE
(WA) /K518 (58) 23,469
Foreign exchange losses PE R 518 3,095 3,197
Gains on disposal of items of property, HE¥ZE BEKZE
plant and equipment TE B AU (48) (191)
Fair value gains on financial assets at MrnBEsTEEHEE)
fair value through profit or loss SFABHEEN
ETREENRAEBE
I & (5,560) (22,705)
Employee benefit expense* EERABEX (FEE
(excluding directors’ and chief EERREITHRAEN
executive’s remuneration (note 8)): i< (MI5E8)) :
Wages and salaries TERHSE 121,604 90,983
Pension scheme contributions*** BIKE 5B R~ 10,315 8,714
Staff welfare expenses BETEMMAXZ 14,613 11,527
Share-based payment expense MR HmAERN
TRFEZ 7,220 8,845
Total 4Est 153,752 120,069
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6.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued) 6.

*k

*kkok

FINANCE COSTS 7.

Notes to Financial Statements

The depreciation of property, plant and equipment and
employee benefit expense are included in “Cost of sales”,
“Selling and distribution expenses”, “Administrative
expenses” and “Research and development costs” on the
face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income and in “Inventories” on the
face of the consolidated statement of financial position.

The amortisation of intangible assets is included in
“Administrative expenses” and “Research and development
costs” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of
contributions.

The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is
included in “Cost of sales” on the face of the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

FAF5 R R MY 5E

BAFE &

* ME -BERLEINEUREESR
AT ERGEEREMEE RS
RPFFATHERAE] ~ THE KK
SERASE ) ~ TTE B 2 B TR 88 A AN )
UREGREHMHERRERFPFATE
Bl

** B EE#HTRABERAMS
B R P A TR S K THf
B ©

BEERKHEMRAIHEAER (F5
EX) BICHIBIRE (HARKF o

w GENEETSRFEHALSE
m R E M2 E W R AV T & A Ay
N

Bt %5 R 2=

Interest on other loans
Interest on lease liabilities (note 14(b))

Total

HEMA B
HE&ERE (WaE14(0)

il
=

MBERANDHFWOT
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBT T
- 263
2,257 1,612
2,257 1,875
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EFRESITHASHM
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear, BE(ETRA)REE(RTER)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) 5383(1) (a)~ (b) ~ (c) B (NME LU KA 7]
and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the (HBEEFNEER) RA)E28
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) FREERESTHAEFHFMNKE
Regulation, is as follows: wr

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREBFT

Fees W 306 306
Other emoluments: Hii = -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RENREYER 7,344 5,048

Pension scheme contributions BRE ST EMERR 249 259

Share-based payment expense MEMAERY

TRFEx 1,403 2,121

Subtotal INET 8,996 7,428
Total 4B 5t 9,302 7,734
Mr. ZHONG Ming served as the chairman of the board and the BERALERTIEARNDEERRERE
chief executive officer of the Company. HITE
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (continued)

(a)

Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors
during the year were as follows:

FAF5 R R MY 5E

8. HEREBITHABHM
(#)

(@) WIAFHTESR

FAMBULIFATESZHN
e T

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT AREFT

Mr. JIANG Feng ZIgEE
Mr. GUO Jian ELE
Mr. CHEN Weibo FRTETR o4
Total 4Bt

There were no other emoluments payable to the
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2022: Nil).

102 102
102 102
102 102
306 306
FRTERNTHILIFEHIT
EEWNEMMS (2022F ¢

%)O

=
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8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EENNEEITEA SN
REMUNERATION (continued) Z)
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) BITEERIERNITES
Salaries,
allowances Pension  Share-based
and benefits scheme payment
Fees in kind contributions expense Total
HEs N4
2R BHhE HHREH
s BNERN BEEE fIHE% at
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEBTRr ARETR ARETR ARETT ARET®
2023 2023F
Executive directors: TES:
Mr. ZHONG Ming SRt - 1,185 47 - 1,232
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang BEHRL T 8 981 44 - 1,025
Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC™ Frances Fang CHOVANEC (/&
) gt - 4,369 140 292 4,801
Mr. YIN Zixin FEERE - 809 18 1,111 1,938
Subtotal NGt - 7,344 249 1,403 8,996
Non-executive director: FoTES !
Ms. CAI Li 2%t - - - - -
Total st - 1,344 249 1,403 8,996
2022 2022
Executive directors: wTES:
Mr. ZHONG Ming #REE - 1,081 46 - 1127
Ms. SHENTU Yinguang BEERYL T - 880 46 - 926
Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC Frances Fang CHOVANEC (/&
B qt - 2,363 134 1,314 3,811
Mr. YIN Zixin FEERE - 724 33 807 1,564
Subtotal NGt - 5,048 259 2,121 7,428
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Ms. CAI Li 2%t - - - - -
Mr. CHEN Gang® R o A - - - - -
Subtotal NGt - - - - -
Total H - 5,048 259 2,121 7,428
* Mr. CHEN Gang ceased to be a non-executive * PR | S A 722022 F 4 B
director of the Company on 28 April 2022. 28 El/ffifﬁ EEERE
FERITES
* Ms. Frances Fang CHOVANEC ceased to be o Frances Fang
an executive director of the Company on 15 CHOVANEC (F&75) &
September 2023. T2023%F9815H T
%%Tﬁﬁ@ﬁ%ﬂhé
o
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Notes to Financial Statements

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8.
REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors
(continued)

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the year.

On 6 May 2020, one director was granted underlying
shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan (the “Option
Plan”) and one director was granted restricted share units
under the restricted share unit plan (the “RSU Plan”), in
respect of their services rendered to the Group, further
details of which are set out in note 27 to the financial
statements. The fair values of such shares determined
as at the date of grant or modification, which were
recognised to profit or loss over the vesting period, were
included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration disclosures.

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9.

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors (2022: two), details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining three (2022: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are as

FAF5 R R MY 5E

EEREESTHRASFHHN
(&)

(b) %L‘}I%E&QF?M‘T%%

RER BEAHEEFARD
THRAEBRERXARERRE
o) i B B9 22 HF

R2020FE586H  stEB AE
EFTIRMEMRE  —REEIR
BEXAHZERBERESS
(TRERGHESTEY) ERAERR
MUBR—2EEREZRG
B fn BB st & (TR &R 1D
Bastd)) ERZES KM
B BREBEHNYBERER
MisEo7 e mERM NI E LB
NEHEENAAEBE (B
REBHRNEEREZFER B
AL EERESITHA
EFHMIEERN-

InhEEHMES

ERELERSFINEERE2RES
(2022%F 1 2%) » HEF M FE B H Y
P EXH 8 R 5 T3%E (2022
F:3%) RaiHblES (LIEARE
EFURSTHRAS) NFHEMERND

follows: T
2023 2022
20234 2022F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TF T ARBFT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYERN 3,660 3,413
Pension scheme contributions BIRE B HRR 96 96

Share-based payment expense MBR1D A ERR

TR 4,287 4,957
Total 4B 5t 8,043 8,466
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9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES (continued) 9.

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid

hasEHMNES
B TR EE RIS

t

employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is ,%]% BRAENESHWNEES AW
as follows: o
Number of employees
EEA#
2022
20224
HK$2,000,0001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,0001 & TTE
2,500,000 7T - 2
HK$2,500,0001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0001 T E
3,000,000 75 3 -
HK$5,000,0001 to HK$5,500,000 5,000,0001 T E
5,500,000 7T - 1
Total st & 3

In prior years, RSUs were granted to three non-director and non-
chief executive highest paid employees (2022: three) in respect of
their services to the Group, further details of which are included in
note 27 to the financial statements. The fair value of such RSUs,
which has been recognised in profit or loss over the vesting
period, was determined as at the date of grant and the amount
included in the consolidated financial statements for the current
year is included in the above non-director and non-chief executive
highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

10. INCOME TAX 10.

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits
arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of
the Group are domiciled and operate.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the
Company is not subject to any income tax in this jurisdiction.

Pursuant to the relevant tax law of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% (2022: 16.5%) on the estimated
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year. The first
HK$2,000,000 (2022: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits of this
subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2022: 8.25%) and the remaining
assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% (2022: 16.5%).
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10.

Notes to Financial Statements

INCOME TAX (continued)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Singapore, Singapore
profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17% (2022: 17%) on
the estimated assessable profits arising in Singapore during the
year. No provision for Singapore profits tax has been made for
the year ended 31 December 2023 as the Group did not generate
any assessable profits arising in Singapore during the year (2022:
Nil).

The provision for current income tax in Chinese Mainland is based
on the statutory rate of 25% of the assessable profits of certain
PRC subsidiaries of the Group as determined in accordance
with the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law which was approved
and became effective on 1 January 2008, except for certain
subsidiaries of the Group in Chinese Mainland which are granted
tax concessions and are taxed at preferential tax rates.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC and the
respective regulations, preferential tax treatment is available to
Hangzhou Kangji, since it was recognised as a High and New
Technology Enterprise and was entitled to a preferential tax rate
of 156% (2022: 15%) during the year. Jiangxi Kanghuan Medical
Instrument Co., Ltd, Hangzhou Kangji Suixi Medical Instrument
Co., Ltd, Hangzhou Kangqu Medical Instruments Co., Ltd and
Changzhou Weijing Medical Medical Robot Co., Ltd, which
operate in Chinese Mainland, were identified as a Small and Micro
Enterprise and was entitled to a preferential tax rate of 5.0%
(2022: 2.5%) during the year.

The income tax expense of the Group is analysed as follows:

10.

FAF5 R R MY 5E

FRIGIR (&

R FT N IR A9 AR Bl R & 3R » #7 N3 A1)
BRI EAR P IR EE &
FERIRA R EA7% (20224 ¢
17%) FEHEBHE AR AEEREE
2023F12B31HEEE T ER M
WESTAEZRRFNE M EmmiHn
N F ISR VE B B (20224 @ ) o

R BIEAFF B R EE L IRER
2008F 1 B1HHLEEMM (R E AR
HMBETCEMEBREI)MEAERET
FE B A S R ERR A EI%Z25%
B EERER  EAERRTENAN
HHNETHBAGDEERBFEZRL
BB EHRBRIN o

RE(FEARRANBECEMRER
EYRMBEER MMNEETERR
KEEFE RAEBITASH
FMtE TEFRNER15% (2022
F115%) WEBEERX -FHhERK
M S IR ENRESMAR
NE - MNEEBEERERMER
N -MMNEERBESEMARELAT
BEMNEER RSB ABREATR
DEBNITE EEREES.0%
(20224 : 2.5%) BER= o

AEBENRERAIORUT

Current tax — Chinese Mainland
Charge for the year

Current tax — Hong Kong
Deferred tax (note 25)

F kR

Total tax charge for the year

BNERTR 18 — 1 B P 3th

BERIR I —F A
IEIERR TR (MF5E25)

F IR IR STAB ER

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREF T ARBEBFT
114,799 98,852
114 =

21,563 3,118
136,476 101,970

BREETERARASR 2023FERE

231



232

Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

10.

INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before
tax using the statutory tax rate in Chinese Mainland to the tax

expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

10. FRig#M (&2

ERPEAMZEZERZTSERNR
RIAMERIRIER X R ERR K5

ERMEMZETHHERDT ¢

Profit before tax

Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25% in Chinese
Mainland

Preferential tax rates enacted by local authority

Additional deductible allowance for research and
development expenses

Additional deductible allowance for depreciation of
property, plant and equipment

Tax losses not recognised

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes

Effect of withholding tax at 5% and 10% on the
distributable profits of the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries (note 25)

Effect of tax rate differences in other jurisdictions

Tax charge at the Group’s effective tax rate
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o B A A E IR R 25%
STEMIRE
EMEPITHENEERE
bt 25 9 SZ BY &R S BT 300
B
ME-BRERRFETEN
RRSMNET R B
REDNNIEARRE
TR B2
A B E B A SR
B 73 R R B URE %
10%FEIN IR Ay 72 2
(Mf5x25)
HMBZEEEMEER
A

BEEEBERREFEDN
MIAR

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT
588,771 563,144
147,193 140,787
(61,491) (54,806)
(25,076) (6,486)

- (3,459)

36,246 4,445
2,535 1,199
48,526 21,332
(11,457) (1,042)
136,476 101,970




11.

12.

Notes to Financial Statements

DIVIDENDS

On 27 May 2023, the final dividend of RMB18.45 cents
per ordinary share, amounting to a total of approximately
RMB224,498,000 was approved by the Company’s shareholders
at the annual general meeting and was fully paid on 10 July 2023.

On 25 May 2022, the final dividend of HK17.23 cents per ordinary
share, amounting to a total of approximately HK$214,544,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB181,920,000) was approved by
the Company’s shareholders at the annual general meeting and
was fully paid on 8 July 2022.

The proposed final dividend of RMB41 cents per ordinary share
(2022: RMB18.45 cents per ordinary share) and a special
dividend of RMB99 cents per ordinary share for the year ended
31 December 2023 is subject to the approval of the Company’s
shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent of RMB504,021,000 (2022: RMB478,735,000),
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of
1,170,013,655 (2022: 1,207,994,251) in issue during the year, as
adjusted to reflect shares repurchased in 2023.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based
on the profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 attributable
to ordinary equity holders of the parent. The weighted average
number of ordinary shares used in the calculation is the number
of ordinary shares in issue during the year, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued at no
consideration on the deemed exercise of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares arising from RSUs granted by the Company.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2022 does not assume the exercise of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares arising from share options and RSUs
granted by the Company because the exercise price of these
share options and RSUs was higher than the average market
price for shares for the year.

11.

12.

FAF5 R R MY 5E

:35)

R2023E5827H AR EERE
BERARE18.4590  HBEEN AR K
224,498,000t E AR AT RERILE
BEAXZ EHET BEH2023F7810
BB EORT ©

R2022E5825H AR EERZ
BI17.23781l > &3 49214,544,000
Bt FHERE AR 181,920,000
7T ERREBEEARG LEARARTR
BHLET BR2022F7H8H B &K
o

B E2023F12H31HEFEZZ K
BENRERESREERARE4Y
(2022F : EREBERARME18.45
D) FRASRIREERZER AR
Do BRANNTREBLENEBHENR

RBEFRG EH#tE-

BAREBRFAARLE
k&

=a

ERERBFEENREEARNS
OEERTFEAEBELFBARH
504,021,0007t (2022%F | AR
478,735,00070) RERD EHTE
BRRAMEFHE1,170,013,65508%
(20224F : 1,207,994,2518%) =t & >
EEE BB LR R20234F B[O Y J&
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Y
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*

ERBERASENEESATE
BERIFTEAELEE2023F12831
HIEEEABAE stERMANE
ERMETFEHEAFTFABHTEE
RHE (BRstEEREERRER) I
REAEXATIEEHWZRGIR M E
MNEENFERSEBEETZEREAR
EOTFEREEEEZ TN T ERME
FHHEE o
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FTHEREAZRGRMDEMLESE
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 12. BARZRARFEAEES
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE RREF (&)
PARENT (continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are SRERRBERFNTETLER
based on:

2023 2022
2023% 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT

Earnings gl
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the ~ R st E &R E A K& ##
parent, used in the basic and diluted earnings BANEAREBRE
per share calculation: BAREGEFE 504,021 478,735
Number of shares
KR ER
2022
20224
Shares 1
Weighted average number of ordinary shares BRIEEREARFZ
in issue during the year used in the basic FANBETSEBME
earnings per share calculation T 1,170,013,655  1,207,994,251
Effect of dilution — weighted average number of BEEE-RAZREIRG
ordinary shares arising from RSUs BRUELENEERME
EHE 2,387,909 -
Total st 1,172,401,564 1,207,994,251
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13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
Buildings Improvements

By HEMEKE

RMB'000
ARBFT

RMB'000
AEBT T

Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R MY 5E

13. ME -BEKR=E

Plant and
machinery
WERRE

RMB’000
AEBTT

Furniture
and fixtures
HRMEE
RMB’000
AEBTT

Motor
vehicles
Ka=
RMB’000
AEBTT

Construction
in progress Total
EEIR st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE¥FT  ARBTR

31 December 2023

At 1 January 2023:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 January 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Transfers

Disposal

Exchange realignment

Assets included in the disposal
group held for sale (note33)

Depreciation provided during
the year (note 6)

At 31 December 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 December 2023:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

2023512310

1202361818 :
mAE
RitAE

REFE

120231818
NiREHTE

HE

a

HE

ERHE

FIABEHEN T E
EREE (M333)

RERFRITE
(izte)

R2023F12A318
MRRHTE

1R2023F 127318
HA&
RitAE

REFE

58,848 7,453 74,168 20,751 15,500 52,501 229,221
(19,308) (1,130) (21,856) (10,127) (7,780) = (60,201)
39,540 6,323 52,312 10,624 7,720 52,501 169,020
39,540 6,323 52,312 10,624 7,720 52,501 169,020
> 2,141 8,085 3,348 1,312 66,495 81,381
15,825 5 165 o o (15,990) o
- - (49) (487) (66) - (602)

o 5 5 3 o = 3

(347) 5 5 (74) o (6,589) (7,010)
(4,409) (2,152) (8,037) (4,440) (2,880) = (21,918)
50,609 6,312 52,476 8,974 6,086 96,417 220,874
74,265 9,504 82,217 22,030 15,479 96,417 300,902
(23,656) (3,282) (29,741) (13,956) (9,393) - (80,028)
50,609 6,312 52,476 8,974 6,086 96,417 220,874
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ME -BERRME (&
(continued)
Leasehold Plant and Furniture Motor  Construction
Buildings  Improvements machinery and fixtures vehicles in progress Total
BF WHEWEEE BARRE  GRARE RIS TRIRE Bt

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARBETR ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR  ARETR

31 December 2022 2022612R31H
At 1 January 2022: 20221818

Cost mA 58,785 - 43177 13,015 12,479 7,770 135,226

Accumulated depreciation RetinE (15,253) - (17,874) (6,963) (7,551) - (47,641)
Net carrying amount REZE 43,532 - 25,303 6,052 4,928 7,770 87,585
At 1 January 2022, net of #2022FE181H

accumulated depreciation MNRETE 43,532 - 25,308 6,052 4,928 7,770 87,585
Additions RE 63 6,426 24,180 6,113 5,024 53,277 95,083
Acquisition of a subsidiary WM AR - 635 84 204 - = 1,013
Transfers & - - 7,352 1,194 - (8,546) -
Disposal HE - - (47) - (119) = (166)
Exchange realignment ERHE = - - 19 - - 19
Depreciation provided during RERFRNE

the year (note 6) (GED) (4,085) (738) (4,560) (3,048) (2,113) - (14,514)

At 31 December 2022, net of #2022 128318 »

accumulated depreciation MNRRIE 39,540 6,323 52,312 10,624 7,720 52,501 169,020
At 31 December 2022: R20225 128318 :

Cost BEN 58,848 7,453 74,168 20,751 15,500 52,501 229,221

Accumulated depreciation LEE (19,308) (1,130) (21,856) (10,127) (7,780) = (60,201)
Net carrying amount REFE 39,540 6,323 52,312 10,624 7,720 52,501 169,020
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Notes to Financial Statements

LEASES
The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of office
premises used in its operations. Lump sum payments were made
upfront to acquire the leased land from the government with
lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments will be made
under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office premises
generally have lease terms between 24 and 100 months.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing
the leased assets outside the Group.

14.

FAF5 R R MY 5E

HE
TEBESEBEA

FEBRREEERERANEERA
GRREBHEAHEGN X —F—
RER MU BT ESEE R
AHOOFENHE L W B A FIRE
ZETMBENEREESZARIER
MG EERRB24E100M8
BNBEEHR -—RMs > ~&EBFRF
MAEENIIERNEBHABEEE-

(a) Right-of-use assets (a) EFESE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets FRNAEBEGFHEESENE
and the movements during the year are as follows: HEME&EE LM :
Leasehold Office
land premises Total
HELH WA ER “ast
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT AREBTT
As at 1 January 2022 ®2022181H 16,240 3,556 19,796
Additions RE 37,890 47,070 84,960
Acquisition of a subsidiary W —RE M B AR - 1,707 1,707
Depreciation charge (note 6) ITERI (Mfs¥6) (782) (6,114) (6,896)
Exchange realignment PE 52 S - 4 4
As at 31 December 2022 2022F12831H K
and 1 January 2023 2023%F181H 53,348 46,223 99,571
Additions wRE 854 4,186 5,040
Depreciation charge (note 6) ITERI (Mfzt6) (1,155) (9,622) (10,777)
Assets included in the FIAFEHENLE
disposal group held for AR EE (M5E33)
sale (note 33) (28,469) (172) (28,641)
Lease modification HEEBXK - (295) (295)
Exchange realignment P& 5B - 6 6
As at 31 December 2023 20234128318 24,578 40,326 64,004

BREETERARASR 2023FERE
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14. LEASES (continued) 14. A8 #&)
The Group as a lessee (continued) FEBELSERBAN &
(b)  Lease liabilities (b) FHEEE
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the RERNEEEENEREM
movements during the year are as follows: SEIERMT

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBTT

Carrying amount at 1 January P1B1EMNEREE 49,019 4,046
New leases WHE 4,186 47,070
Additions as a result of acquisition of a [ Uk B — 81 B J88 2 B T

subsidiary AE - 2,100
Lease modification AEEHR (599) -
Liabilities included in the disposal group held %Il A3F1EHEMNHE 45

for sale (note 33) && (M4E33) (277) -
Accretion of interest recognised during the ~ FERERNF] LS

year (note 7) GEYS 2,257 1,612
Exchange realignment FE oA 7 9
Payments IR (10,603) (5,818)
Carrying amount at 31 December P12831 AMEREE 43,990 49,019
Analysed into: Pakiiw

Current portion BRHAEE 6,107 6,696

Non-current portion JEBPHERER 37,883 42,323
Non-current portion of lease liabilities is further analysed THESENIERNEIE N #E —
as follows: TOMWMTE

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®Fx AR®F T

Repayable within: RUTRBARERE !

1 to 2 years | ESRE 8,887 6,217
2 to 5 years 2FHE 28,996 36,106
Total “ast 37,883 42,323
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note HEaENIBHNEM
36 to the financial statements. IR BIMI SEG6R I BE o
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LEASES (continued) 14. A8 (&

The Group as a lessee (continued) SEBELSEEB AN Z

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) WHEEEEZTREIZNELRE
leases are as follows: mr

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARBTIT

Interest on lease liabilities HESENFE 2,257 1,612
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets  FREBEEMNITEMY 10,777 6,896
Expense relating to short-term leases BT EARNEX
(included in administrative expenses and (FFATTE R 2 A R 84
selling and distribution expenses) (note 6) ERD#HAL) (W:E6) 737 421
Total amount recognised in profit or loss RiEm SR VAR 28 13,771 8,929
(d) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 29(c) (d HERSREHBENRHBHER
to the financial statements. KM EE29(c) I EE ©
GOODWILL 15 HE
RMB’000
ARBFT

Cost and net carrying amount as at 1 January 2022 72202251318 I 5 & K& R @ FE -

Acquisition of a subsidiary WEE— M B AT 167,209
Cost and net carrying amount as at 1 January 2023, 722023F181H ~2022F12831H &

31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 2023F 12831 H M A K& AR M H & 167,209
Impairment testing of goodwill and IPR&D BERETHHOHENREENS
Goodwill and IPR&D acquired through the business combination FHRTEESHINENBEE RETH
is allocated to Weijing Medical cash-generating unit (“Weijing MR ESRE THEBEREIRSESL
Medical unit”) for impairment testing, which is primarily B (THEREEMN  HFERSE
engaged in the research and development and production of the N FE 85 F T 28 M IE 6 & R B AT 32 K,
endoscopic surgical instruments control system. EE) LUETHEAIE

BREETERARASR 2023FERE
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15.

GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill and IPR&D (continued)

The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit has been
determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on a financial budget/forecast covering a
9-year period approved by senior management. Management
considers that using a 9-year forecast period for a financial
budget/forecast in the goodwill impairment test is appropriate
because the useful life of Weijing Medical’s relevant intellectual
property is longer than ten years, and it generally takes longer for
a medical device company to reach a perpetual growth mode,
compared to companies in other industries, especially when
its product is still under clinical trial and the commercialisation
of such product has not been commenced while the market
of such products has substantial growth potential. Hence, a
financial budget/forecast covering a 9-year period was used as
management believes that a forecasted period longer than five
years is feasible and reflects a more accurate entity value.

Key assumptions used in the calculation are as follows:

15

BE (&)

7B R 1T TR BB 3 B9 R (B R
(&)

REEELEMUMNAIWOSERZER
BESEHEAEE &8 EER
RiIESREEEHENIFHMHER
H/BASHMRESREREA -E1E
BRA  AEERENAPUYFHE
H/FRACHIFRABBEES R
AR RRNEEANHERYE
REfBE+5 BRAMITENR
B BEBMARBREREER
FE D EZF KEIEREN > LHZE
T H E s B I R R ol B B R AR
ERERNTHEEERAZERES
MEHERERIEEHRER- A
It EEERABBRAFNRARE
BJ 47 M0 °] BB AERE M [ BR BB R B ME -
WERAREIOFHRENMBEE,
RAle

RetEPRANEIERROT

2022
20224

Revenue (% compound growth rate)

Gross margin rate EFH|=
Terminal growth rate FEQi prp S
Pre-tax discount rate RATRGIR=

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report
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64.8% 64.8%
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GOODWILL (continued)

Impairment testing of goodwill and IPR&D (continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
cash-generating unit as at 31 December 2023. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill and IPR&D:

Revenue — The basis used to determine the budgeted revenue
is based on management’s expectation of when to launch
Weijing Medical’s product and also expectation of the future
market. Weijing Medical’s product candidate is at clinical trial
stage and expected to commence commercialisation in 2025.
The compound growth rate of revenue was estimated based on
information available at the time of assessment, disregarding
information that became available after the assessment. Such
information includes current industry overview and estimated
market development of related products.

Gross margin — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margin is the average gross margin
expected to achieve in the year when to launch Weijing Medical’s
Product, increased for expected efficiency improvements and
expected market development.

Terminal growth rate — The forecasted terminal growth rate is
based on management expectations and does not exceed the
long-term average growth rate for the industry relevant to the
cash-generating unit.

Pre-tax discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and
reflects specific risks relating to the relevant unit.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market
development of related products and the pre-tax discount rate are
consistent with external information sources.

With regards to the assessment of the value in use of the
Weijing Medical unit, the directors of the Company believe that
reasonable possible changes in above key assumptions would not
lead to the carrying value, including goodwill and IPR&D, of the
Weijing Medical unit to exceed the recoverable amount as at 31
December 2023.

15

FAF5 R R MY 5E

BE (#E)

F?ﬁgj&{% T o B B 3 B iR ME R

R2023F12B31HMIREEE BN
FHEBEAETFERTRR  FXHE
ﬂtéf@@%}fﬁﬁ@m;% Al ¥4 75
EBRETHHMEETRERNRFR
KENSEERK

WA — ﬁﬁﬁ??—giiﬁ%%kﬂ’]%‘ﬁﬁ
EREEBRAMFEHERER
B LR B R SR T 4 B T - D N R
BRI EmERERRE R T8
HAR 12025 F A £ 10 - LA B
EEREXDREFEFIESH
Bl MESR{Y  TEZEFERA
ERSNEHN -BRENEREERTE
BN RAEEERNGEStHIBER-

EME-RBAREENETREER
RNEENEESNEHERER
JE&JEEE%E,HH—ILIB,J:Fﬂ%%UK’
RN RES RBERTHER
g o

ARIFERE-FRAARIKIERETIE
ﬁCAEEE’J?E,HH HABBHEREE

SEUMEENTENRAFHOEER

o
#2057 A5 B2 5 — PR £R A3 B9 RE BR R 75 Bk
MATMAEIRE B RREBEMENA
B B4 TE LR ©

PEEHEFERNTHEERKRRA

MEXNTERRNVEEHEINGE
BHROR—2 0
TLE MERE B R E T_L@ﬂﬂaﬁﬁ’hﬁé

ﬁﬁE ’K/\jﬁgwuéjiﬂt%gﬁ1
MEEBEOEESBEIATERNHER
EENMEEEE (@%&.‘Fﬁ@&?_"ﬂp
BB 2%) #8381 2023512831 MBI
B
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16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 December 2023
Cost at
1 January 2023, net of

accumulated amortisation

Additions
Amortisation provided
during the year (note 6)

At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2023:
Cost

Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

31 December 2022

Cost at 1 January 2022,
net of accumulated
amortisation

Additions

Acquisition of a subsidiary

Amortisation provided
during the year (note 6)

At 31 December 2022

At 31 December 2022:
Cost

Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

2023%F12H31H
112023 F1 B1BBIRLA
MR R HH

NE
RER R A # Y
(L)

1120235 12831H

12023%F 128318 :
BN
R

REEE

2022%12H31H
20221 B1EBIRLA
MR R #H

RE

BE—ENEAR

RER SRS
GED)

20228128310

120225128318 :
BN
R

REEE

Software

]t

RMB’000
AT T

16. HthELEE
Patent IPR&D Total
=7 TR R 2 Mgt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

64 1,368 283,280 284,712
241 = = 241
(66) (193) - (259)
239 1,175 283,280 284,694

1,108 1,534 283,280 285,922
(869) (359) = (1,228)
239 1,175 283,280 284,694
119 - - 119

- 1,534 - 1,534

- - 283,280 283,280
(55) (166) - (221)

64 1,368 283,280 284,712
867 1,534 283,280 285,681

(803) (166) = (969)
64 1,368 283,280 284,712

The IPR&D which is not ready for use has not been amortised
yet, because the Group is still continuing the research and
development work. As at 31 December 2023, IPR&D was tested

for impairment (note 15).
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INVENTORIES 17. 8

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR®ET T

Raw materials EiE 56,641 63,320
Work in progress ERM 12,053 10,081
Finished goods @ 36,511 31,998
Total 4B 105,205 105,399
TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. B EIRFIA

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000

AREF T ABEFT

Trade receivables B2 EINRIE 229,614 166,245

Impairment A (4,080) (3,100)

Net carrying amount IREEE 225,534 163,145

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on credit. REFHAEEAFNEBEZERETES
The credit period is generally one month, extending up to two FEE-EEHH—WKA—EBR HET
months for certain customers. The Group seeks to maintain strict ZRAUIEERZMER - KEBEK
control over its outstanding receivables and overdue balances BREIERKENERRIE THS
are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the MEEEBTEHRBEZAELER BN
aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade receivables Rk AEBNE S EWRIEN
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no MRKEZTIENE L AL AEFE
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not =EERESEEFNE N  NEFI
hold any collateral or other credit enhancement over its trade EREESRENREBEERISEREN
receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing. KRN E MM EEERIEm- &

ZERWRERRE

BEEFERERAR 003FERs 243



Notes to Financial Statements

FAF5 R R b EE

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 18. BZRWHE (&
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of RIREHAFR > BZEUIHIE GO K
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss IERE) WS EHERE OWERE D
allowance, is as follows: mr

2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT AREF T

Within 3 months 3EAA 184,728 135,002
3 to 6 months 3E61EA 26,414 20,410
6 to 12 months 6E12{8AH 12,207 6,132
1 to 2 years 1224 2,144 1,652
Over 2 years 2EL 41 49
Total “ast 225,534 163,145
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade BoEKRFBREGREBENEH
receivables are as follows: =D N

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT

At beginning of year T4 3,100 4,154
Impairment losses, net (note 6) HERBEFRE (H6) 1,064 (1,054)
Impairment included in the disposal group held FIAFREHERNHEHRR]

for sale (note 33) BE (FI5E33) (84) =
At end of year FR 4,080 3,100
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date RABEBNRNEZRE B AR B RELE
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The M ETHED T UEtEFBEHEE
provision rates are based on ageing for groupings of various B -BEXRNBEAGEHEMUGEER
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation AN AREZEEL D4R EEE =
reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of HoxZ:tENMLEBRATEHGH B
money and reasonable and supportable information that is RO R FE R gk A 4 AR O B M K
available at the reporting date about past events, current MELER -SENFEBEERNRS
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. HERESNESE L ZIFER
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TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix based on
the invoice date:

As at 31 December 2023

18. BHEWRIE (&

FaEsEmEmEREREENE R
FEBEZBWREREZHHRE
DHEERBBAOER !

#2023%F12H31H

Gross Expected Expected

carrying credit credit

amount loss rate loss

IRE4%E FEHEEEEXE FEHE 8

RMB’000 % RMB’000

AERBTT % AR®BTT

Less than 1 year 1FER 225,195 0.82 1,845

1 to 2 years 15825 3,544 39.49 1,400

2 to 3 years 2F3F 522 92.24 482

Over 3 years 3EM E 353 100.00 353

Total ik 229,614 4,080
As at 31 December 2022 }0022&F 12831 H

Gross Expected Expected

carrying credit credit

amount loss rate loss

EREARE TRHGEEREBEX TEHEEREE

RMB’000 % RMB’000

ARBFT % AR®BTFT

Less than 1 year 1FER 163,056 0.93 1,512

1 to 2 years 1526 2,386 34.95 834

2 to 3 years 2F3F 408 87.99 359

Over 3 years 3EM E 395 100.00 395

Total st 166,245 3,100
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19. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS

Prepayments AT RIE
Other receivables Hh g IE
Prepaid expenses TAEZ
Total et

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

RMB’000

AREBTT
2,070 10,910
3,727 11,369
3,914 3,421
9,711 25,700

T EGRFFEENEME EH T
A 4R KRR 1B K Bl B R IE AC SR A B
W R IEA B o IR2023F K20224F12
B31H  BEEFHEWTESM N

20. LIAAMENEERLEHH

AEHETNEMEE

Current TRED
Unlisted investments, at fair value

5

The current unlisted investments represented certain financial
products issued by commercial banks. They were classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.
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FLEHRE BRAAEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREBTT AR T T
11,449 11,156
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 20. M BHZ &5t
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) A b E (&)
2022
20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR#FT AREF T
Non-current JEmED
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value FELEMRERE  BAR
BEE
Shenzhen Edge Medical Co., Ltd. EIHEREERR
RIPBRAT 139,369 133,937
Wuxi Qingsong Medical and Health Industry miEINEERE
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) EEXREABLE
(BR&%) 2,349 2,500
141,718 136,437

The above investments were classified as financial asset at fair
value through profit or loss as it was mandatorily designated as

LHEBRERDERUARALBENE
BHEHFAAEMEONEREE

e ThEHREWaEGIIEE °
& fmm

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. REMREFEY
2023 2022
20235 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
Cash and bank balances RERIBITEEER 893,171 887,621
Time deposits TR 1,783,417 1,930,739
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 2,676,588 2,818,360
Denominated in RMB MAE®HE 1,533,309 2,198,489
Denominated in US$ LUIZETEHE 1,135,716 606,656
Denominated in HK$ MBI E 6,677 13,117
Denominated in other currencies MEME®EE 886 98
Cash and cash equivalents RERIBEEEY 2,676,588 2,818,360

BREETERARASR 2023FERE
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21.

22.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies. However,
under Chinese Mainland’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Time deposits are made for varying periods
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective time deposit rates. The bank
balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

21.

22.

REKRBFEFEY (B

ARBAEEHRBRSHEMER R
> iR 35 o B A st (S EE B IR AR B ) K
(GFE-EERMNEEERE) &
CEEEEERBERERARIEEXS
HIRTHARBRBAHMEE -

ROTRTBRESHRTERMXRR
FEAERGFE - BFEAEBHRNER
EER EREFEROHAREFRAR
WIRE B EREFRA KRG B RTT
MBELDERNEERFELHMILE
BASCERAVIRTT -

Within 3 months 3MEB A

3 to 6 months RESEDE!

6 to 12 months 6E12M@ A
Over 12 months iBiE121E B
Total st

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled
on 30 to 45 day terms.
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RBEHR BESENREREEH
FABVERES AU -
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREFT
27,130 19,151
1,517 611
3,708 708
1,791 282
34,146 20,752
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. HthE(IRIERTERER
2023 2022
2023%F 20224
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Bzt AR#FT AREF T
Contract liabilities BHEE (a) 2,142 846
Payroll payables ERTE 23,683 23,593
Other payables Hfh e 7IB (b) 25,428 40,361
Taxes other than income tax Frig M UM FR 18 20,792 13,400
Accrued expenses et 10,039 4,742
Total 4Bst 82,084 82,942
Notes: B 5E -
(@) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: (@) EHBENFEROT
31 December 31 December 1 January
2023 2022 2022
20234 20224 20224
12H31H 12831H 1H1H
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR®BTF T ARBTT
Short-term advances B & 5 I 52 B
received from customers E2d Y
Sale of goods HmiHE 2,142 846 2,902
(b) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and repayable on (o) HEMRIEBEAE LiRERE

demand.

;2\%0
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24. DEFERRED INCOME 24. RIEYTA

2023 2022

2023%F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT AR®BTT

Government grants BUR B 636 1,272
The movements in government grants of the Group during the REBHRNEORERNNESHBE R

year are as follows: mr

2023 2022

20234F 20224

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBTT

At the beginning of the year g} 1,272 1,908

Recognised as income during the year RERER A WA (636) (636)

At the end of the year REXR 636 1,272

Current SIEE] 636 636

Non-current JERNHAR - 636

Total 4Est 636 1,272

The grant is related to the subsidy received from the government
for the purpose of rewarding the Group for its capital expenditure

incurred on certain projects.
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DEFERRED TAX 25. RIEIRIE

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the FIERIEBEENRIERIBEBEENSE
year are as follows: NEEBIMT -

Deferred tax liabilities RERIEEE

2023 2023%F

Depreciation Fair value

allowance adjustments

in excess arising from

of related  Withholding acquisition of Right-of
depreciation taxes  a subsidiary use assets

B

HWEBAE

BARMITE FrE£R
WK RRE BR QABERE  EREEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTE ARBTT ARBTRT ARETT ARETR

At 31 December 2022 1#2022%12831H 3,455 - 66,020 - 69,475
Effect of adoption of RmEA G

amendments to HKAS 12 B1RBIEEE - - - 11,429 11,429
At 1 January 2023 (restated) 12023F181H (BRE7)) 3,455 - 66,020 11,429 80,904
Deferred tax charged/ RERBRNEKR/ GIA)

(credited) to profit or loss RIEERIE (MT3E10)

during the year (note 10) (486) 22,276 - (1,006) 20,784

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 7202312831 H KB
31 December 2023 REEERE 2,969 22,276 66,020 10,423 101,688
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued)

25. JEIEFRIAE (&

Deferred tax liabilities (continued) IRIERIBAE (&)
2022 20224
Depreciation Fair value
allowance adjustments
in excess arising from
of related Withholding  acquisition of Right-of
depreciation taxes a subsidiary use assets Total
Bl
lh)FYNG
BRAEMNE PSR
MITERRE B ARBERE  FAREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRT AR®FTx ARETR ARETR ARETR
At 31 December 2021 20215128318 - 9,748 - - 9,748
Effect of adoption of RmER G R
amendments to HKAS 12 F12REITEZTE - - - 509 509
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 7220221510 (& E3)) - 9,748 - 509 10,257
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE—-ENEAT - - 66,020 - 66,020
Deferred tax charged/ RERBRNEG/ GTA)
(credited) to RIRIERRIE (i EE10)
profit or loss during the year (&5
(note 10) (restated) 3,455 (9,748) - 10,920 4,627
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 13202212831 H AR
31 December 2022 (restated)  JEEELE%E (IKE7) 3,455 - 66,020 11,429 80,904
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25. IREMIE (&

Deferred tax assets IREMRMBEEE

2023 20235

Fair Value
adjustments
arising from
financial
assets at fair
Share-based Impairment  Impairment value
payment Lease of trade of Accrued Deferred through
expense liabilities  receivables inventories expenses income  profit or loss
NRREE
FEAHEH
FABHHRE
NEMEE
NRpAER B HEWHRE FELM
HFER HEaE HiE #RAE fEsthI% BEWA AREERE b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AE¥TRT AEREBTR ARETm ARETz ARBTRT AREBTR ARETR

At 31 December 2022 120225128318 1,307 - 283 500 695 191 - 3,066
Effect of adoption of FNEBGHER
amendments to HKAS 12 $12%88514 2
ge - 11,478 - - - - - 11,478

At 1 January 2023 (restated)  182023&E181H

(& =3) 1,397 11,478 283 500 695 191 - 14,544
Deferred tax included in the ~ B AR fEHERHE
disposal group held for sale A REIERE - @) (21) - - = = (24)
Deferred tax credited/ RERBRIN/
(charged)to profit or loss (1NkR) BIEIERE
during the year (note 10) (Fi3E10) 340 (979) 238 390 (695) (96) 23 (779)

Gross deferred tax assets at 13202312 831H

31 December 2023 EEREEELR 1,737 10,496 500 890 - 95 23 13,741
2022 20224
Share-based Impairment
payment Lease of trade  Impairment of Accrued Deferred
expense liabilities receivables inventories expenses income Total
LURAD AR5 BSRUFIE
WS BEAR HE FEHE s RZ EEBA @it

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT  ARETR  AR%Tn  ARETz ARETT AREBTT  ARETR

At 31 December 2021 R2021£128318 571 - 47 260 1,107 287 2,696
Effect of adoption of amendments to A& B & 5 285512585 5]

HKAS 12 V47 = 591 = - - - 591
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 702241818 (7)) 571 591 an 260 1,107 287 387
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to ~ FERBHE3TA/ (1K) HIELE

profit or loss during the year 18 (H3E10) (RE5)

(note 10) (restated) 826 10,887 (188) 240 412) (96) 11,257
Gross deferred tax assets at #2022 12531 B MIEILIRE

31 December 2022 (restated) BERE (RE7) 1,397 11,478 283 500 695 191 14,544
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25.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax
balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

MERMS ETELEREEERE
BEAEGEHHBR R R PRI - U
TRAUMBREMS HAERIEL
MIBASERBY DA

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RixE BRI R PRER
consolidated statement of financial position FIREIRIBE E/FE 3,318 3,115
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the RixE BRI R P ER
consolidated statement of financial position FIRERIBE &SRB (91,265) (69,475)
Net deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEEE (87,947) (66,360)

The Group has tax losses arising in Chinese Mainland of
RMB189,392,000 (2022: RMB38,164,000) that will expire in one
to five years for offsetting against taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-
making for some time and it is not considered probable that
taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can
be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Chinese Mainland in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The applicable rate is
5% or 10% for the Group.

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB4,695,000 (2022: RMB438,416,000). In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future due to the Group’s
business development in Mainland China.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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SHARE CAPITAL
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26. g7

Authorised:
5,000,000,000 (2022: 5,000,000,000)
ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each

uss$

Issued and fully paid:
1,216,792,000 (2022: 1,219,313,000)
ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each

US$
RMB

A summary of movements in the Company'’s issued share capital,
share premium, share held for share award arrangement and

EE
5,000,000,0008%
(20224 : 5,000,000,00088)
& P20.00001E TH E @A
ETT 50,000

2022
20224

50,000

ERTRER :
1,216,792,0008%
(20224 : 1,219,313,00088)
£ /20.00001 35 7T 19 £ 38 AR
ETT 12,168
AR 85,511

12,193
85,688

ARABDEHTRAE ROBEE TR
DREBZHFEORND REFRD

treasury shares is as follows: sSEEm T -
Share held
Number Share for share
of shares Share premium award Treasury
in issue capital account  arrangement shares
BEfT AR SR B 2
RiA%E A& Ri7 R ER FENRA EERR
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
i3 AEETTT AEBTTT AEBTTT AEBTT
At 1 January 2022 1202051818 1,245,876,500 88 2,762,034 ) (4,288)
Shares purchased for share award RRORE2HEENRN
arrangement @ = = (110,158) (1) =
Shares repurchased BBERA ) - - - - (171,610)
Shares cancelled EEHRN ) (26,563,500) © (170,401) - 170,403
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 20225128310 %2023F181H 1,219,313,000 86 2,481,480 ) (5,495)
Shares repurchased EBERG (© - - - - (16,580)
Shares cancelled BEERN (© (2,521,000) - (19,202) - 19,202
At 31 December 2023 120235128310 1,216,792,000 86 2,462,078 B) (2.873)
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26.

27.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(a) Fortune Spring Kangji 1 Limited (“ESOP BVI”), which
is an incentive platform in British Virgin Islands (“BVI”)
and controlled by the Company, purchased 20,000,000
of the Company’s shares on the Stock Exchange at a
total cash consideration of HK$125,462,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB110,154,000) for the purpose of
incentivising the employees of the Group in the future.

(b) The Company purchased 26,604,000 of its shares
on the Stock Exchange at a total cash consideration
of HK$188,791,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB171,610,000), of which 25,863,500 shares were
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2022
(equivalent to approximately RMB166,115,000). The
remaining of 740,500 shares were cancelled on 10
February 2023.

(c) The Company purchased 2,261,000 of its shares on
the Stock Exchange at a total cash consideration
of HK$188,867,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB16,580,000), of which 1,780,500 shares with an
amount equivalent to approximately RMB13,708,000 were
cancelled during the year ended 31 December 2023.
The remaining of 480,500 shares were cancelled on 31
January 2024.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

On 6 May 2020, the Company approved and adopted the RSU
Plan and the Option Plan to attract and retain the best available
personnel for positions of substantial responsibility, to provide
additional incentives to selected directors, senior management
and employees and to promote the success of the Company’s
business by granting these individuals RSUs and share options.

The RSU Plan and Option Plan shall be subject to the
administration of the board of directors of the Company (the
“Administrator”) whose decision shall be final and binding on
all parties. The board may by resolution authorise a committee
comprising any three directors of the Company to exercise any or
all of its powers in the administration of the RSU Plan and Option
Plan.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

The participants of the RSU Plan and Option Plan (the
“Participants”) are the employees, directors of the Company
and/or any of its subsidiaries as selected by the Administrator at
its discretion.

The maximum number of underlying shares of the RSU Plan is
the number of ordinary shares held by the ESOP BVI. The overall
limit on the number of underlying shares to be granted under the
RSU Plan is expected to be 26,810,000 shares with a par value
of US$0.00001 each, which have been reserved by ESOP BVI.
On 25 May 2022, the shareholders of the Company approved the
increase of limit on the number of shares to be granted under the
RSU Plan from 26,810,000 shares to 46,810,000 Shares.

The maximum number of underlying shares that may be granted
and sold under the Option Plan is 4,120,000 with a par value
of US$0.00001 each. The number of shares that are subject to
options outstanding under the Option Plan at any time shall not
exceed the aggregate number of shares that then remain available
for issuance under the Option Plan.

The RSU Plan and Option Plan will expire on, and no RSU and
option may be granted pursuant to the RSU Plan and Option
Plan after, the sixth anniversary of the date that the RSU Plan and
Option Plan are adopted and approved by the shareholders of the
Company. In addition, the term of any RSU and option granted
under the RSU Plan and Option Plan shall not exceed six years.
All the granted but unvested RSUs and unexercised options shall
expire on the sixth anniversary of the grant date.

RSUs granted under the RSU Plan shall only be vested at such
time and upon such terms and conditions as determined by the
RSU Plan and/or subject to the approval of the Administrator.
Options granted under the Option Plan shall only be exercisable
at such time and upon such terms and conditions as may be
determined by the option agreement. Exercisable options within
the same grant may be exercised in whole or in part. However,
it shall not be exercisable with respect to fractional shares and
the Administrator may require that, by the terms of the option
agreement, a partial exercise must be with respect to a minimum
number of shares.

27.

FAF5 R R MY 5E

MUBRin A ERB DR (E

RRGIRMD B S RERESS
2HE (T28F) REEENEE
ENARB R,/ REATAEERE
BE -E=-

SREPRMEBEMUEMNEREKRG, Z
ES#®EAESOP BVIEEMNZE
R E - REZRGIRMEMS
BFREWERERKRMDEBBEARIREEE
st ASKREEO0.00001ETH
26,810,000f% > E& HESOP BVI
REB o R2022FE5825H » A A
PREHLER R IE SRS R M) B AL
FEBEFRENKROEBEBEREER
26,810,000/ & N1 E46,810,0004%
B& A5 o

AREERESSREAHEDN
HERNDzEsHBEASKREE
0.00001% 75 #Y4,120,0008% B& 13 © 12
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27.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

Pursuant to the terms of the RSU Plan, no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall exist with
respect to the RSUs, notwithstanding the vesting of the RSUs.
The shares underlying the Option Plan shall rank pari passu in all
respects with the other fully paid shares in issue.

On 6 May 2020, 4,120,000 options under the Option Plan and
a total of 21,190,000 underlying shares under the RSU Plan
were granted to an executive director and six management team
members, respectively. Pursuant to the RSU Plan, RSUs were
fully vested upon Listing. Pursuant to the share option agreement,
options granted will be vested according to the following vesting
schedule: 580,000 shares upon Listing; 1,180,000 shares on the
first anniversary of the vesting commencement date; 1,180,000
shares on the second anniversary of the vesting commencement
date; and 1,180,000 shares on the third anniversary of the vesting
commencement date.

On 26 March 2021, a total of 5,620,000 underlying shares under
the RSU Plan were granted to a management team member
and 56 employees. Pursuant to the RSU Plan, RSUs will be
vested according to the following vesting schedule: 1,124,000
shares on the first anniversary of the vesting commencement
date; 1,124,000 shares on the second anniversary of the vesting
commencement date; 1,124,000 shares on the third anniversary
of the vesting commencement date; 1,124,000 shares on
the fourth anniversary of the vesting commencement date;
and 1,124,000 shares on the fifth anniversary of the vesting
commencement date.
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Notes to Financial Statements

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27.

The following share options and RSUs were outstanding under
the Option Plan and RSU Plan during the year:

FAF5 R R MY 5E

MUBRin A ERB DR (E

UTFREANBRESS RZRE R
MEMNEBETHARTENRERE
R BRI BRAD BB AL

Options
fERe e

Weighted

average

Number exercise price
BEH METESTEE
RMB per share
BERARET

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 20225128318 &
2023FE181H 4,120,000 6.79
Forfeited during the year F R U (4,120,000) 6.79
At 31 December 2023 R2023%E12831H =
RSUs
5% PR 1l B 53 B8 {ir
Weighted
average
Number exercise price
$H MmMEFEHITHEE
RMB per share
SRARET
At 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2023 20225128318 &

2023%F12831H

The Group recognised corresponding share-based payment
expenses of RMB292,000 (2022: RMB1,313,000) and
RMB2,267,000 (2022: RMB3,590,000) during the year for the
options granted on 6 May 2020 and the RSUs granted on 26
March 2021, respectively.

On 24 January 2021, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of the RSUs granted on 6 May 2020
from 29 January 2021 to 29 January 2022. The incremental fair
value resulting from the extension at the modification date was
RMB1,413,000, which were recognised immediately to profit or
loss during the year ended 31 December 2021.

26,810,000 6.99

KEBREANDHMN2020F58
GHIRHMBERERN2021FE38
268 & H B SR & AR 17 B i ke 5%
HMEURMNAERNSTRESZA
E 292,000t (2022F : AR
1,313,00070) & AR #2,267,0007T
(20224 : AR #3,590,0007T) °

R2021FE1H824H EEBERTEHN
2020586 R HMNZ R &GI8
MR EERR BEAR2021 18298 &
EFE2022%F1829H - K& B &7
REFEMENNALABEAARKE
1,413,00070 » HRN & E2021FE128
STHILEEENRFRIER PR -
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27.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

On 12 January 2022, the Administrator determined to extend the
share purchase date of the RSUs granted on 6 May 2020 from
29 January 2022 to 29 January 2023 and the share purchase
date of all the RSUs granted on 26 March 2021 from “within
three months after each vesting date” to “within nine months after
each vesting date”. The incremental fair values resulting from
the extension at the modification date were RMB4,146,000 and
RMBB869,000, respectively, which were recognised immediately to
profit or loss during the year ended 31 December 2022.

On 26 December 2022, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of 1,124,000 shares of the RSUs
granted on 26 March 2021 from “within nine months after each
vesting date” to “within twenty-one months after each vesting
date”. The incremental fair value resulting from the extension at
the modification date was RMB1,048,000, which was recognised
immediately to profit or loss during the year ended 31 December
2022.

On 17 January 2023, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of the RSUs granted on 6 May 2020
from 29 January 2023 to 29 January 2024. The incremental fair
values resulting from the extension at the modification date were
RMB5,709,000, which was recognised immediately to profit or
loss during the year.

On 21 December 2023, the Administrator determined to extend
the share purchase date of 1,124,000 shares of the first tranche
of the RSUs granted on 26 March 2021 from “within twenty-one
months after each vesting date” to “within thirty-three months
after each vesting date”, and extend the share purchase date
of 1,124,000 shares of the second tranche of the RSUs from
“within nine months after each vesting date” to “within twenty-
one months after each vesting date”. The incremental fair
value resulting from the extension at the modification date was
RMB355,000, which was recognised immediately to profit or loss
during the year.
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SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued) 27. URMAERNMER (Z&
The fair values of the RSUs were estimated as at the date of SREBRMHDEMNNARBEIINE
modification using a binomial option-pricing model, based on fair NBREEBAETEKRNAALABE
value of the underlying ordinary shares. The following table lists R _EXAEEBEEMmMMGEE
the key inputs to the models used: He FTRAWEZBEHFFANETER A
B .
2022

20224
Expected volatility (%) AR 18 (%) 31.85-38.31 25.60-39.48
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1% [ B T 2 (%) 3.71-4.07 0.08-4.77
Early exercise multiple REBITEEH 2.2-2.8 2.2-2.8
The expected volatility reflects the assumption that the historical FEHR M IR I B FE 52K 1R T ok 2R B
volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not HNBR ENENTEASERER-
necessarily be the actual outcome. The fair value measurement NABEFECEEAEHEZE
has incorporated the effect of expected dividend by adjusting the RO AR EESTATBHERENTZE-
fair value of underlying ordinary shares.
RESERVES 28. f#f&

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity of the financial statements.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve of the Group represents the paid-up capital of
the subsidiaries comprising the Group prior to the incorporation of
the Company. Details of the movements in the capital reserve are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Share option and award reserve
The Group’s share option and award reserve represents the

share-based compensation reserve, details of the movements are
set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

FEEREERBEEENRES
BENHEBEHERENE RS
BB R AT o

B
AEBENEA#ERFHEIEA QB EMK
37 B 4B Bl A & B BY Y BB A B BY B 4
BEX -BEXREEFVFBEHNGS
BmEEhK-

MBRERERHEE

7 £ [ B9 BB B 1 e BB 1 e A DA AR
DRERNBERE HESHFHEH

MpaREEH .
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28.

29.

RESERVES (continued)
Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain
subsidiaries of the Group which are domestic enterprises are
required to allocate 10% of their profit after tax, as determined
in accordance with the relevant PRC accounting standards,
to their respective statutory surplus reserves until the reserves
reach 50% of their respective registered capital. Subject to
certain restrictions set out in the Company Law of the PRC, part
of the statutory surplus reserves may be converted to increase
share capital, provided that the remaining balance after the
capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered capital.

Exchange fluctuation reserve

The exchange fluctuation reserve is used to record exchange
differences arising from the translation of financial statements of
the entities of which the functional currency is not RMB.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of RMB4,186,000
(2022: RMB47,070,000) and RMB4,186,000 (2022:
RMB47,070,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for office premises.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

28.

29.

i (&
EERRHE

REBEPE(RAEER)  ~EBETHE
ANBMARELRE AR REEREPE
et EEENRFRREFN H10%
PEEEHEENEERGHE BE
HEEEHZEEZMEERNS0% E
RE(RBE)FFEE TRAINRR
T oA ERR R SRR
MR IR IR B ERCRIEGR T EER
AEOREMERA25%

ERREHE

EXRRESHEHERANCHRERR (H
EEE BRI IFARYE) MBHRRME
EHERERR-

mERERERMEE

(a) EFEIFRERH

FER > ANEFBERBASBAEE
ZHNEREEEKREES
BEEBMNIERESRED A
AR #4,186,0007T (20224 :
AR#47,070,00070) EAR
#%4,186,0007T (20224F : AR
#47,070,0007T) ©
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29. RERERERME (&

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(b) RMEEZBHEENGEES:

activities:
2023 2023%F
Lease liabilities
fHEasE
RMB’000
AR®TT
At 1 January 2023 72023F181H 49,019
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREEH (10,603)
New leases mHAE 4,186
Lease modification HEENR (599)
Liabilities included in the disposal group FAFEHENHEARRNEE (I5E33)
held for sale (note 33) (277)
Interest expense FERX 2,257
Exchange realignment BE 52 S 7
At 31 December 2023 2023128 31H 43,990
2022 20224
Lease liabilities
HEAaR
RMB’000
ARBFT
At 1 January 2022 R2022%F181H 4,046
Changes from financing cash flows MEREREE (5,818)
New leases WEE 47,070
Additions as a result of acquisition of AW E—ENE LB MAE
a subsidiary 2,100
Interest expense FERX 1,612
Exchange realignment BE 72 S 9
At 31 December 2022 2022512 831H 49,019
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29.

30.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 29. ZEBFERERMEE (&
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c)  Total cash outflow for leases (c) THERSRLLEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the e RERERMAENMEE
consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: B mHEzEN T
2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T ARBFT
Within operating activities N SS=PrET 737 421
Within financing activities AREEHA 10,603 5,818
Total 4Bt 11,340 6,239
COMMITMENTS 30. KiE

of the reporting period:

The Group had the following contractual commitments at the end

AEBRREARVGHIAENT

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ETT AR®ET T

Buildings
Plant and machinery

Total

1BF
1A R sk

"B Et

45,708 68,489
84 =
45,792 68,489
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 31. AR5

Details of the Group’s principal related party are as follows:

Name

%78

Relationship

Rl &

FEBTEMBMAFROT

Hangzhou Kangyin Investment Ltd. (“Kangyin Investment”)

MNEREEECEARAR ((RRKRE)

(@)

During the year, a subsidiary of the Group entered into (a)
an lease agreement to rent office premises from Kangyin

Investment for a period of three years commencing from 1

January 2023, with an annual rental fee of RMB1,200,000

for the first year, RMB1,320,000 for the second year and
RMB1,452,000 for the third year.

Compensation of key management personnel of the (b)
Group:

An entity controlled by a director

BERZHINER

FERAEBR—HBRBAB:]
UEERE B2023FE181H
AP -—FnEERERRB
WMAEYME - F—FHEAHA
R #1,200,0007% £ _ 47
&A ANR®1,320,00075° &
—FHEAHAR1,452,000

T ©

AEBTEEEASHFM :

2023 2022
2023%F 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥Tx AREF T

Short-term employee benefits BEEHER 12,962 9,235
Pension scheme contributions BIRESTEMHR 397 389
Share-based payment expense MRMDAERNNREX 5,996 7,300
Total compensation paid to key TNFEEEEAEN

management personnel FroNAEzE 19,355 16,924

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 8 to the financial
statements.

ERESFEAESTHRAEM
THFBEEHNYM B RERMNE
8o
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32.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 32.
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that have material non-
controlling interests are set out below:

BAEERIEERERAIED
BB AR

FEBEREAFEREDNNE
ABRIFEHEINMT

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBTIT

Weijing Medical M B8

Percentage of equity interest held by JEIZERERIFAEMNRER DL ¢
non-controlling interests:

Loss for the year allocated to PEFIIFEREZNFREE !
non-controlling interests:

Accumulated balances of RIREHBENIEERER Rt 456 ¢

non-controlling interests at the
reporting date:

The following tables illustrate the summarised financial information
of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed are before any
inter-company eliminations:

65% 65%
51,726 17,561
294,084 345,810

FRUB LK EA TS EEE
ME kB EANBENADE
HIMIEE

2023 2022
2023 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR T T

Current assets MENEE
Non-current assets EREBEE
Current liabilities MENBE
Non-current liabilities EREIBE

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

232,598 307,572
336,158 340,138

(14,789) (9,236)
(101,530) (106,459)
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PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARY WITH 32. BAEAFEREDNE S
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS EMEBAR (&)
(continued)

From the date of
acquisition to
31 December

2023 2022

IWEREE

PLpXi: M 0022F 12 531 H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%FT AREFT

Other income H A 3,325 7,988

Total expenses FZ4E%8 (82,902) (33,404)

Loss for the period AR E (79,577) (27,018)
Net cash flows used in W EHTBIREME P

operating activities (61,413) (84,737)
Net cash flows used in KREGTBMAREREFHE

investing activities (24,728) (14,705)
Net cash flows from MEEHFEREREFRE

financing activities 43,138 93,184

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and IR&ERIBLEEY CB/) 1ENFEE
cash equivalents (43,003) 43,742
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33.

A Disposal Group Classified as Held for Sale

On 28 December 2023, Hangzhou Kangji entered into the equity
transfer agreement to dispose of its entire equity interest in
Hangzhou Kangji Qipu Medical Instrument Co., Ltd. (“Qipu”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Hangzhou Kangji, to an independent
third party for an aggregate consideration of RMB366 million.
Qipu is principally engaged in distribution, research and
development of medical instruments. As at 31 December 2023,
Qipu was classified as a disposal group held for sale. The
disposal of Qipu is due to be completed in April 2024.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Qipu classified as
held for sale as at 31 December 2023 are as follows:

33.

DESFEHENHERR

R2023F12828H » tiNEET L
REEEGZ UABIE=FHE
FINEENZE W E QS Hangzhou
Kangji Qipu Medical Instrument Co.,
Ltd.* (TQipul) I Z BFREAE > R 1E
B ARIEI6EE T QIpuEERE
BiEssmm o E R % - 10202345
12A31B ' Qipu P EAKFLHE
B H & 4B R o HE QipudF it2024 4
B e

2023FE12H31H > Qiput D484
BFEHENEERBEBENETEER
mr

2023
20234

RMB’000
ARBTT

Assets BE

Property, plant and equipment MEBERFZE
Right-of-use assets FEREEE
Deferred tax assets FIERIEE E
Trade receivables B 5 WA

Prepayments, other receivables and other
assets

Cash and cash equivalents BERREEEY
Assets classified as held for sale DEARFEFHENEE
Liabilities* =} N

Other payables and accruals HhEMRIBERTEREE
Income taxes payable I FREI

Lease liabilities HEESRE

Liabilities directly associated with
the assets classified as held for sale

Net assets directly associated with
the disposal group

The amounts disclosed are after some inter-company
eliminations of RMB22,942,000.

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited 2023 Annual Report

7,010
28,641
24
10,771

FA IR At EWGRIE R B M E &

8,892
296,864

352,202

(2,510)
(1,853)
(277)

HOBARFHENEEERBARNEGR

(4,640)

HHEENERERNEETE

347,562

. i BB £ B ENRE T AR B
#4 AR 1522,942,0007T ©
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. HEHNESWEMIAE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial RIEHF FENSRTENKRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: (RN

2023 2023%F

Financial assets ETRMEE

Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost

AR BEEH B

BHEHHA BBHEM

EMREN 5l AR
EMAE EHMEE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR ARBTT

Cash and cash equivalents ReMEEEEY - 2,676,588 2,676,588
Trade receivables B EWIE - 225,534 225,534
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t A T3 7018 ~ B WEIE K

other receivables and other assets HthWEENERHEE - 3,727 3,727
Financial assets at fair value through UAnBEFEEHESEHA

profit or loss EHBEENEREE 153,167 - 153,167
Total st 153,167 2,905,849 3,059,016
Financial Liabilities B =R

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

RSB A

Fl| AR BY

SHERE

RMB’000

AR¥TT

Trade payables B S ENRIB 34,146
Financial liabilities included in other payables st A EfthfE(t B FERIBEE K

and accruals E = 35,467

Total 4Est 69,613
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. BREHNESNEMIE (&

(continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial REEHF FENSRTENKRE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: BUOTF
2022 20224
Financial assets ETREE
Financial Financial
assets at fair assets at
value through amortised
profit or loss cost Total
NUARBEE
BEZHtA R R A
EHEREN HAREY
SREE SREE 4t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
Cash and cash equivalents REeERREEEBY - 2,818,360 2,818,360
Trade receivables B EWHRIAE - 163,145 163,145
Financial assets included in prepayments, 5t ATBIFUIE  EEWFIER E
other receivables and other assets MEENERMEE - 11,369 11,369
Financial assets at fair value through UAnBEAEEHEEHTAE
profit or loss PEENEHEE 147,593 - 147,593
Total 4ast 147,593 2,992,874 3,140,467
Financial liabilities B =R
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
Bi7g: - 5= DN
HIERAY
=N
RMB’000
AR#F T
Trade payables B EMNRIB 20,752
Financial liabilities included in other payables st AEMMEMHRIBLIEIREBEEN
and accruals G S=NE 45,103
Total st 65,855
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets, trade payables
and financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale. The following methods and assumptions were
used to estimate the fair values:

The Group invests in unlisted wealth management products
issued by banks in Chinese Mainland. The Group has estimated
the fair value of these unlisted investments by using a discounted
cash flow valuation model based on the market interest rates of
instruments with similar terms and risks.

The fair values of non-current unlisted equity investments have
been estimated using a market-based valuation technique based
on assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation requires the senior management
to determine comparable public companies (peers) based
on industry, size, leverage and strategy, and to calculate an
appropriate price multiple, such as price to book value (“P/B”)
multiple, for each comparable company identified. The multiple
is calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the comparable
company by a book value measure.

35.
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THMIANQABERIAN
BERR

EERLTGERI R REKRkRE
FEY EH5RERIE FFARMLR
EHMEWRRERAEMEEN TR
EE -BHREOMER AEMEN
MERARBEENEMEEHN AR
BEEZHKREEARBE  £22
RzETENEIRRELE -

THEERBENAAEBEZERE
SHEENRS REBIFELER
SN AR T ARSI EEARK UL
THRERBRIBRGESAREE

AEBRERPREAANMBITETH
FLMEMER - ZAEBECRERR
BLFERRERN T AENTIHH X
REMTRBEAGEREGHZS
FETRENAAEE-

SERBIIE R E A A (B 1B
TERRR T ER NG AR (B
REBITBETHERRARLR
BB M8 - ERERA
EBERETE RE BEHRE
BEEDELS ETAS (A% i
RORANSIELRADHEE
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 35. 2R TEMAABHBEA R

]

OF FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS (continued) BEE®R &)
Below is a summary of significant unobservable input to the U TNAR2023F 12831 HH /M T
valuation of financial instrument together with a quantitative BEEENE AN EEEH AENE
sensitivity analysis as at 31 December 2023: EL{EZ%'TE BURKME DT -

Significant Sensitivity of fair value

unobservable input Rate  to the input

BEARAHRREAE #E BAEBNARABEHRRY
Unlisted equity investment Discount for lack of 14% 5% (2022: 5%) decrease/increase in DLOM

marketability (‘DLOM”) (2022:  would result in increase /decrease in fair value by
14%) RMB1,134,000 (2022: RMB1,044,000)

FLmRELE Az B R4 E (TDLOM 1) 14% DLOMTRPE/ EF+5% (20224 : 5%) #E5

(2022 ©  PAABEEM, FHARET,134,0007T
14%) (20224 : AR1,044,0007T)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY DRABERER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRELAEFSRTENAAE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: BstEE 4k .

Assets measured at fair value: BAREBEIENEE !

As at 31 December 2023 #2023F12H31H

Fair value measurement using
ARBEFREAUTAHNHE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

EXAER EXFAHR

BRI HRE BAE BWAE
(B5—4) (EZ%H) (E=®) A5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AERBTRT ARHBTR ARBTT ARBT R

Financial assets at fair value through WA A EEEEEEE A
profit or loss BHBRNEHEE - 11,449 141,718 153,167

As at 31 December 2022 #2022%12H831H

Fair value measurement using

AABERBUTHRAE

Quoted prices Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

BEATEE BARIHZ

EETMISRE BAE BAE
(E—#) (B (E=#) a5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETRT ARETT ARET ARET T

Financial assets at fair value through LA A EE EEHEE A
profit or loss EHERNEREE - 13,656 133,937 147,593
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Notes to Financial Statements

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIALINSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair Value Hierarchy

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during
the year are as follows:

35.

FAF5 R R MY 5E

EMIANAARBERAR
1%1.5@:-& /11,5)
[RBEER

REFE > AABEFEESE=ZHRE
REEHIT

Equity investments at fair value

through profit or loss BalREEE
At 1 January ®1818
Transfer from Level 2 BEZREE
Total gains recognised in profit or loss 8% hFE BRI 4B W =5
At 31 December ®12831H

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 for both financial
assets and financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

During the year, there were transfers into Level 3 for financial
assets (2022: Nil) and there were no transfers into or out of Level
3 for financial liabilities (2022: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash
and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The
Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these
risks and they are summarised below.

UrnBEEstEEHEH T AEH

36.

2023 2022
20234 20224
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TT ARBFT
133,937 111,233
2,500 =
5,281 22,704
141,718 133,937

R20234F &2022F 12831 H » & &
EwETAUAABEF 2N
afEe

RER cHBERSHEENER
B—REFE_HMAABEFTEZH
R (20224 1 @) o

RER TRHIEEEAF =4 (2022
FE) o MeMmBaBETES A E
HE =4k (20224 © &) o

TR EREEBRRER

FEENIESHTIRAGERER
REEBY ZFEMIANETER
NEAETEENEFRE - AEEHE
BEREEEZMEREENZHEM
TREEKRER FIUWE 5 EWRIE
KBS BARIE-

AEBEHITAEENETIERRS
SNEE R B N 5 B R b & /J\L@JVEHBD""
EFEERTRREESEERA
%ISR > BT o
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk of loss resulting from changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. Fluctuations in exchange rates
between RMB and other currencies in which the Group conducts
business may affect the Group’s financial condition and results
of operations. The Group seeks to limit its exposure to foreign
currency risk by minimising its net foreign currency position.

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the
Group purchased certain financial products (structured products
linked to exchange rates, in particular) issued by other financial
institutions with the aim of hedging against potential depreciation
of US$ against RMB.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in foreign
currency exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, of
the Group’s profit before tax and the Group’s equity.

36.

%nﬂﬂ S EERBERKREER

:5

51 = B

SRR IERNEEREFHME
PREBRBER ARBEEAERKEE
EGFANEMER ZBANEXRK
HoE X ELSEBOYHIKR R
MEFER - sEBIKBBRARE
3R D SRS B SR T R IR I P AR 2 B9
SIS ELRR ©

REE2022F K2023F 128318 1
FE -AEEBAHMESMBIERT
WETEMER (CHZREREN
NEBTER " UHPETRAR
EHEBEERE

TREANSRESHR AEEME
ERFIAE AEERAAEREE
gﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁ%@%éﬁT@E%@E@

Increase/
(decrease) Increase/
in rate of (decrease) Increase/
foreign in profit (decrease)
currency before tax in equity”
SMEEER R aEI# Rt
EFA(CFER) 380 GEd) i GRd)*
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% ARETT ARETT
Year ended 31 December 2023  # E2023F12831HLLFEE
If the RMB weakens against the S ARBRETEE
Us$ 5 35,223 5,312
If the RMB strengthens against the {5 A R R ETHE
US$ (5) (35,223) (5,312)
If the RMB weakens against the S ARERBTEE
HK$ 5 333 306
If the RMB strengthens against the i A R QT HE
HK$ (5) (333) (306)
Year ended 31 December 2022  #E20225F12831HILFE
If the RMB weakens against the  HARBRETEZE
US$ 5 30,142 477
If the RMB strengthens against the 8§ AR RETHAE
Us$ 5) (30,142) (477)
If the RMB weakens against the S ARERBTEE
HK$ B 655 116
If the RMB strengthens against the {5 AR R B THE
HK$ 5) (655) (116)

Excluding retained profits
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Notes to Financial Statements

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades on credit terms only with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all traders
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not
significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December.

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial
assets.

As at 31 December 2023

36.

FAF5 R R MY 5E

\(zg_@%}ﬂ[‘ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ

EERRE

FEBRELRERAIMREERINS
ZHREERRZ AEBEBUREE
FMERBEERRZNRZ B ARE
RERBHEF I AEBRER
BEREBURELHEFEBNER
BREBILAEK-

REEBERELZEER

TRETENAEREEREKENE
EERZkEReEERR (FE&a
ERSE BRIFEMITFSERNEEN
HEERAXE ) > UKR12831
HREAEREDE.

FrE2delrnsmEENRMEE

#2023%F12H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{88
BRHEEEE REGRBEHEESE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
B—MRE B B EA % st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETr ARBTR AR¥ETn ARETR ARETR
Trade receivables* B 5 ERIE - - - 229,614 229,614
Financial assets included HABMARIE EMERTIER
in prepayments, other AtEENGREE
receivables and other assets
- Normal** — k8 3,727 - - - 3,727
Cash and cash equivalents RehRESEY
— Not yet past due —HRAH 2,676,588 - - - 2,676,588
Total st 2,680,315 - - 229,614 2,909,929
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. THEAMREERRREE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) €=))
Credit risk (continued) =8/ (&
As at 31 December 2022 2022 12H31H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
HBHEERE BEGARRHEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F—MEE FTRE F=RE Ky @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AEETT AR®Tr ARETR ARETR ARET:R
Trade receivables® EV e ey - - - 166,245 166,245
Financial assets included FABMRE EMERZIER
in prepayments, other HtEENEHMEE
receivables and other assets
- Normal™ —E&E" 11,369 - - - 11,369
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY
— Not yet past due — KA 2,818,360 - - = 2,818,360
Total ot 2,829,729 - - 166,245 2,995,974
& For trade receivables to which the Group applies the * MEZERRE (BRAER
simplified approach for impairment, information based on T ﬁf@%ﬁﬁ ] 1;7_5_7?) U s
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the financial =1 %éj\% 75 [ Zﬁiﬁ YR
WERM 18P IREE -
statements
> The credit quality of the financial assets included in o 95 A B 208 ~ Bt FE U 2

prepayments, other receivables and other assets is
considered to be “normal” when they are not past due
and there is no information indicating that the financial
assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial
assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. There are no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 18
to the financial statements.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 36. THMEAMEEEERBE
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) (4%)

EN 1 B

FrEBRERAMFREEREESEE
MR AEBEEERIFIREZKFE
UnaBRHEEEhAVEERE
RERE -

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management of the Group
to finance the operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in
cash flows.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted
payments, is as follows:

rERZMERNESHREEN
RUERAMEINIMBERAOT :

31 December 2023

2023%12H31H
Less than 3to 12 1to5

On demand 3 months months years Total

BEX Y )z 3Z128H 1E5% @5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETR N S AR®TR NS AE®TR

Trade payables BoEAFE 7,016 27,130 - - 34,146

Lease liabilities HESE - 4,987 5,412 41,510 51,909

Financial liabilities SFAEMENRBER

included in other BRERNEHEE

payables and accruals 35,467 - - - 35,467

Total 1t 42,483 32,117 5,412 41,510 121,522

31 December 2022
20225128318
Less than 310 12 1t05

On demand 3 months months years Total

BEX 0y eiE)E 3Z12(8H 1555 a5t

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARBFT N ARBTFT ARBTFT

Trade payables BoENE 1,601 19,151 = = 20,752

Lease liabilities HESE = 4,288 5,630 47,941 57,859

Financial liabilities included 5t A EfE R B R

in other payables and BREEBNEHEE

accruals 45,103 = = = 45,103

Total st 46,704 23,439 5,630 47,941 123,714
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36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure, which includes equity
attributable to owners of the parent, and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new
shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies
or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 31 December 2022.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is debt
divided by total assets. Debt includes trade payables, other
payables and accruals and lease liabilities. The gearing ratios as
at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

36.

%nﬂﬂ S EERBERKREER

/115
BEXEE

FAEFEAEENTEZARBRE
FEBNFECERE D REFERE
WEARLER UZRHEEF LR RR
BESKE-

AEEREKERIESCREMHE

ENRAREEREE R AL AR *%
(BIESARBEE ANELER) oA
M AEREARE KEETHAE
BRERENKRE - BREEEER
WEBTHR AEBEBBEREMI
M E RER o & E2023F12
H31H &2022F12831HLEEE >

EATENBE BERIRE T EE
@jo

FEEERELAGRILEEX (BERKRMU
EEMBE BZXES -BREEES
EARE - AtENRAERRARER

Trade payables B 5 EMAHIE

Other payables and accruals HfERIBERTERIEE
Lease liabilities HE&R

Debt &%

Total assets BEHE

Gearing ratio BEREELEE
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UERHESBE - RREBPFRNELE
BLEEEMT
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
1220235 R20224F
12831H 12831H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%F ARBFT
34,146 20,752
82,084 82,942
43,990 49,019
160,220 152,713
4,263,818 3,984,911
3.8% 3.8%




37.

38.

Notes to Financial Statements

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 20 March 2024, the shareholders of Weijing Medical have
approved certain amendments to the articles of association
and the change in board composition of Weijing Medical. Upon
the amendments becoming effective, the Group loses control
of Weijing Medical and thus Weijing Medical ceased to be a
subsidiary of the Company. As a result, the Company’s retained
interests in Weijing Medical is accounted for as an investment
in an associate in the consolidated financial statements of the

Company since then.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

37.

38.

FAF5 R R MY 5E

HEHREE

R2024FE3820H  EIEEBEMNIKRE
EHERBERASEREMBNE
TEIREZSHEMEAMMNESD 1P
BeTEME  RERKLEHHEBER
BIESI#E R EEERE LB AR
REBPHB AT AL AB R MR
BEENREEZBILERARATAEGS
FHEHRRPARIEN—BEBER
EIMNKRE -

ERBEMBRRRER

ERBRBERRNOUMBRRERE
BT

NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERTEE
Investments in subsidiaries RERKBAT
Total non-current assets ERENEEMRE
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE

Due from subsidiaries I EPNGIE =
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIBESEEBY
Total current assets MENEEEE
CURRENT LIABILITIES mENAE

Due to a subsidiary
Other payables and accruals

& 1 — P81 BfY B 2 B R IR
Hi Rk ERER

Total current liabilities BB EERE

NET CURRENT ASSETS TEEESE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEEBAERREBEE
LIABILITIES

Net assets BEFE

EQUITY e

Share capital &N

Reserves (note)

Total equity

i ()

2022
20224F

RMB’000

ARETF T

7,889,709 7,831,378
7,889,709 7,831,378
383,027 108,981
1,614,324 1,674,679
1,997,351 1,783,660
1,136 1,136

= 222

1,136 1,358
1,996,215 1,782,302
9,885,924 9,613,680
9,885,924 9,613,680
86 86
9,885,838 9,613,594
9,885,924 9,613,680
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 38. RABHMBRRAR &)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: B 5E -

A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: KRBHBEREDT :

Share option Exchange
Treasury Share Capital  and award fluctuation BEETE
shares premium reserves reserves reserve profits Total

BRER

EERR  REE  AARE  RBREGE EXEEEE  REWE it
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AEETT AREBTT ARETR ARETR ARBTR ARETR ARETR

At 1 January 2022 #20006£1518 (4288) 2762034 6,787,000 26285 (240,491) (2,961) 9,327,580
Profit for the year ERFE - - - - - 546,394 546,394
Other comprehensive income FREMZ AN

for the year:
Exchange differences EREE - - - - 82,182 - 82,182
Total comprehensive income FR2ENEEE

for the year - - - - 82,182 546,394 628,576
Shares repurchased EBERH (171,610) - - - - - (171,610
Shares cancelled BERG 170,403 (170,401) - - = = 2
Dividend declared EERRE = = = - - (181920  (181,020)
Share-based payments R ABERNAR - - - 10,966 - - 10,966
At 31 December 2022 420226128310 (5,495) 2,591,633 6,787,000 37,252 (158,309) 361,513 9,613,594
At 1 January 2023 20231818 (5,495) 2,591,633 6,787,000 37,252 (158,309) 361,513 9,613,594
Profit for the year ERFE - - - - - 504,699 504,699
Other comprehensive income FREMPENE

for the year:
Exchange differences EREH - - - - - - -
Total comprehensive income FR2ANEEE

for the year - - - - - 504,699 504,699
Shares repurchased EBERH (16,580) - - - - - (16,580)
Shares cancelled BaERM 19,202 (19,202) - - - - -
Dividend declared EERRE = = = - - (224498  (224,498)
Transfer of share option reserve upon the 1 B RT3 UK B 0%

forfeiture of share option B EG - - - (9,175) - 9,175 -
Share-based payments R AERNER - - - 8,623 - = 8,623
At 31 December 2023 42023128310 (2,873) 2,572,431 6,787,000 36,700 (158,309) 650,889 9,885,838

39. APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED 39. HLEFSMFBERER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and EETEN2024FE38 20 it KR IF
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 20 March 2024. T B iEEMBERE
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“AGM”
MRERBERE]

“Audit Committee”
BZEEg)

“Board of Directors” or “Board”
==

“CG Code”
(BRI

“China”, “PRC”, “mainland China”

TR 3R T A B P

“Company”

/NS

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

MERARER

“COVID”

FCovIDJ

“Director(s)”
M&%)

“ESG”
FESG

“ESOP BVI”
'ESOP BVI

“Global Offering”
MEIREE)

Definition

B

the annual general meeting of the Company

KABRRBFREG

the audit committee of the Board
EExgEREEE

the board of directors of the Company
KAREEG

Corporate Governance Code applicable during the Reporting Period
REBANERAN(EEE AT

People’s Republic of China, excluding, for the purposes of this annual report and
for geographical reference only and except where the context requires otherwise,
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

REARENE BXESBEMEN RAFRAENMASEMS > FEES
B ORPIRAE

Kangji Medical Holdings Limited (BEE&ETZEKRABRAE), a company
incorporated under the laws of the Cayman Islands with limited liability on
February 12, 2020, and, except where the context otherwise requires, all of its
subsidiaries

BEEETERBRAT R2020F 28 12HIREHSHEAEAMMIULNBRA
8 &k GBXEBEFREN H2EHB AR

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules and unless the context
requires otherwise, refers to Mr. Zhong, Ms. Shentu, Fortune Spring ZM B Limited
and Fortune Spring YG B Limited

BEE(ETRINDBEFZANEER BERXES BRI EEXE - REZ T
Fortune Spring ZM B Limited &zFortune Spring YG B Limited

an infectious disease caused by a newly discovered coronavirus (severe acute
respiratory syndrome coronavirus) and was first reported in Wuhan, China
—EMERANTRAST (BESETRGEBERFS) M5 BNERT REE
FREEER S

the directors of the Company, including all executive, non-executive and
independent non-executive directors

ARBEE BEMARTER FRTEFRBUFNTES

environmental, social and governance
RE-HEKRER

Fortune Spring KangdJi 1 Limited
Fortune Spring KangdJi 1 Limited

the Hong Kong public offering and the international offering of the Company
KRBEBLAREERBEREE

BREETERARASR 2023FERE

281



Definition

2

“Group” the Company and all of its subsidiaries or, where the context so requires, in
respect of the period before the Company became the holding company of
its present subsidiaries, the businesses operated by such subsidiaries or their
predecessors (as the case may be)

TRERE) 15 KRBIREFBENBAR HMXEME RARFRASERENBRARNER
REIZATNEAR > BIEZEWB AR HEA S AE (RIBERME) KEMZER

" Hangzhou Kangji Medical Instrument Ltd. (FINEEEBBERMBRAE), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on August 24, 2004

“Hangzhou Kangji’

FAUN BR 5 MINEEBEBIMARAE ) —RNR2004FE88 24 EFEAMINERSEAT

“HKD” or “HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

ez S| 5 BEBELAEEBAT

“HKFRS” Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

(BB BREER ) 15 (BEEMBREED)

“Hong Kong” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

r&#) 15 FREEERFHTHE

“IPO” initial public offering

TBERAREE) 5 BRAMEE

“Kangji Hong Kong” Kangji Medical (Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
established under the laws of Hong Kong

TEEEHE 5 REBR (BB ARAR RBEEBEENR I AXRANLERB AT

“Listing” the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on June 29,
2020

re 5 B&1HH220205F6 B29 B I Bt A2 PR AR £ Th

“Listing Date” June 29, 2020, being the date on which dealings in Shares first commenced on
the Main Board

rEmHE 5 20206829 BIRMERN ERMAKLEENH A

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

M{Em#xRAIN 5 (BERBERZMBMRAFRS LHHA) EFEEBIIHFER)

“Main Board” the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock

Exchange which is independent from and operated in parallel with the Growth
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange. For the avoidance of doubt, the Main
Board excludes the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange

== 15 R XPMEENE SRS (FNEERETS) BN BRGEM I B H I 1T
EfFe AR AR ERAEIEHIFAGEM

“MISIA” minimally invasive surgical instruments and accessories

TMISIA J 5 RSN T T 88 1 R B
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“Model Code”

F(rREEST R D)

“OBGYN”
M R

“ODM”
TODM |

“Option(s)”
RS R

“Pre-IPO Share Option Plan”
MTERAREERIEREST S

“Prospectus”
MER=ER

“R&D”
[HfF 25 |

“Reporting Period”
¥R &5 RA)

“Renminbi” or “RMB”
TAR)

“RSU(s)’
52 PR &I R BB 1Ly

“RSU Plan”
52 PR %I A% 15 B8 (i 51 &1

“SFO”
MEEHFRBAERA)

“Share(s)”
TAZ1% ]

“Shareholder(s)”
MR

“Stock Exchange”

THS S P

“Substantial Shareholder(s)”

IEE2RER)

Definition

B

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
(EmRA)MIBRCIMBL (LM BT AERTETES X BNRETE)

obstetrics and gynecology
ER RimH

original design manufacture
[RE& 5t S

the option(s) to purchase Shares under the Pre-IPO Share Option Plan
RIBERAHEERBRETSEERMERE

the employees’ share incentive plan of the Company as adopted on May 6, 2020.

12202065 86 A MBI A A B R E R 7 BB 5t 8]

the Company’s prospectus dated June 16, 2020
KABHEAA2020E6H 16 H B ETE

research and development
T 9 R B 82

the year from January 1, 2023 to December 31, 2023
H2023F1B1HEE2023F12831HILFE

the lawful currency of the PRC

FEREEE

restricted share units
=R &IAR 0 BB AL

the restricted share unit plan of the Company as adopted on May 6, 2020
AN B R20205F5 8 6 H HR4N B 52 BRI A 15 B8 (i1 5t &I

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EEEPFENEGEFRAGRA)  EREHES] MR UA MG BN

ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company of US$0.00001 each
KRN A RS EE0.00001E TR E @A

holder(s) of the Share(s)
BHFEEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Hong
Kong Exchange and Clearing Limited
EBMERZAMBRAT AEBRZREEMBERATINE2ENE QT

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

EA(ETRA) BT ZFRE
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Definition

2

“U.S.” or “United States”
M=E.

MUSDU Or “US$”
=l

“VBP(s)”
MEY

“Weijing Medical”

'oE 5 88 5

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas subject
to its jurisdiction
FNRERE HE L B AZHEZEENMAEME

US dollars, the lawful currency of the U.S.
EEEEEBET

volume-based procurement

EREERE

Hangzhou Weijing Medical Robot Co., Ltd. (Mi/NKEIEEE#KEEABRAE), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on December 28, 2021
MMNEEEEKBABRAR —KR2021F12828HEFEKIINAERER

> 3
o=
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